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We are Biffa

we’ve been at the forefront of the UK sustainable waste management industry for over

100 years.

Qur strategy for growth means that our waste reduction,
recycling, energy recovery and collection services all have a
positive impact across the UK, wWe have a strong frack record of
growing our profits whilst reinvesting to grow our business.

Today, Biffa is an established enabler of the UK circular
economy and our tearm of just under 11,000 colleagues carry out
essential services every day in line with our purpose ‘to change
the way people think about waste’. Sustainability has been ot
the heart of our business strategy for many years. Our areas of
investment reflect the waste hierarchy - to Reduce, Recycle and
Recover, all supported by the need to Collect.

we have already taken huge strides in our sustainability journey
by investing in surplus redistribution, plostic recycling, energy
recovery infrastructure and low carbon coliections, leading fo a
70% reduction in our carbon emissions since 2002, Our
sustainability strategy, ‘Resourceful, Responsible’, will see us
unlock £1.25bn of investment in vital green economy
infrastructure by 2030, of which c.£1bn has already been
committed to, while further reducing our carbon emissions by
50% by 2030. Our gim is to reach net zero emissions by no later
than 2050.

Our people care about doing the right thing and, in turn, we
strive to do right by them by prioritising their heaith, safety and
welibeing. We are proud to have been awcrded a 5-star rating
by the British Safety Council. We have also made strong
progress in making sure Biffa is an inclusive place to work where
diversity is championed and our employees feel valued and
understand the positive contripution they make to enabling the
UK circular economy.

Our longstanding Biffa Award programme supports sustainable
projects across the UK which deliver environmental benefits,
while making a valuable contribution to local communities.

Through our proud partnership with WasteAid, we are helping to
share practical and low-cost waste management knowledge
with communities in devefoping countries.

As we look forward, whilst being mindful of the near-term
challenges the UK economy is facing, we are increasingly well
positioned fo play @ key role in the transition that our sector is
embarking on, supported by an ambitious policy agenda,
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Strategic Report

Combining purpose

with profit

Why we exist beyond profit who we are and what drives us How we defiver for our stokehoiders What we're striving to achieve

Qur Sustainable
Business Model

<@ our vision

To lead the way in UK « Collect
sustainable waste management . Reduce @
+ Recycle
. - Recover
Our Purpose Our Sustainability
Goals
Te change the + Buikiing & tircuiar economy
way peanle think « Tockhing climate change
about woste Our Balanced - Caring for aur pecple,
Business Plan supporting our communitias
* Sofer Together
* Vohse Peopie

+ Customer First
+ Protect our Planet
~ Grow Sustainably

Why we do what we do

CGur business medel| combines purpose with profit, helping fo enable the circular economy, generate profit for our shareholders and deliver
our core purpose - to change the way people think about waste.

wWho we are and what drives us

Cur values demongstrate how we dact every day and how we make
decisions. They set us apart from the competition and show that
how we do things is just as important os what we do. They are the
guiding principles for how we do business.

We do
the right
thing
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Strategic Report

What we do

Our business model focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect.
Concentrating on these four areas enables us to deliver efficient and sustainable waste
management in line with the waste hierarchy and enables us to deliver the most value from

our eperaticnatl capabilities.

Our business model is resilient by design, demonstrated by how we have navigated economic
uncertainty and market challenges during the year. Our services are generally essential, non-
discretionary and predictable in demand. Commercial terms either offer good levels of pricing
flexibility or contractual structures designed 1o protect against commedity and inflationary

eXposures.

Reduce

To pioneer and operate
the UK'’s leading waste
reduction and

redistribution services.

Sources of revenue:

- Sale of surplus
produce to Company
Shop Group's
members.

Where we focus: our objectives

Recycle

To develop and operate
the UK’s leading recycling
solutions.

Sources of revenue:

. Gare fees for processing

and treating waste.
. Sale of commodity
products.

Recover

To invest in energy

recovery infrasfructure as a
lower carbon alternative to

landfili for our customers’
waste that cannot be
recycled.

Sources of revenue:

. Gate fees for prbcess'mg

and treating waste.
. Sale of remewable energy.

Collect

To build the UK’s largest,
most efficient, fow
carbon waste and
recycling collections
operation.

Sources of revenue:

. Service fees for
collection and disposal
of commercial waste,

. Fees for outsourced
provision of household
collection services.

Our Balanced Business Plan (BBP’) is aligned to five key pillars - Safer Together, Value Peopie, Customer First, Grow Sustainably and
Protect our Plonet. The actions and targets within our annual BBP help to guide activity around our business model.

Underpinning all of this is our powerful sustainability story,

based around three key pillars:

Building a circular economy

Tackling climate change

Caring for our people,

supporting our communities
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Strategic Report

The Directors present their strategic report for Biffa Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiary companies (together ‘the Group’ or
'Biffa") for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Accounting reference date

This straregic report and the accompanying financial statements are prepared for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023. The comparotives
are prepared for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2022. The strategic report for the subsequent period will be prepared for the 52 weeks
ending 29 March 2024.

Principal Activity

Biffa is a leading infegrated sustainable waste management company in the UK, The Group collects and precesses a significant
proportion of the waste generated in the UK with @ foriis on develnping a circular cconuny. Operuilons Include waste collection,
recycling, organic waste treatment, landfill, surplus stock redistribution and investments in fwo Energy from Waste (Efw’) joint ventures.

Ownership Structure

On 26 January 2023 the entire issued and to be issued share capital of Biffa pic was acquired by Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears
Bidco Limited). Biffa's listing on the London Stock Exchange was cancelled at 8am on 27 January 2023 and Biffa plc was subsequently
re-registered as a private company and renamed Biffa Limited.

Biffa Limited remained a wholly-owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited at 31 March 2023. Biffa Bidco Limited is an entity wholly owned
by the funds manoged by the Energy Capital Partners group of companies (‘ECP7).

Founded in 2005, ECP is u leading investor across energy transition, electrification and decarbonization infrastructure assets, including
power generation, renewables ond storoge solutions, environmental infrastructure and sustainability, efficiency & relicbility assets
facilitating the energy transition. The ECP team, comprised of 73 people with 600+ years of collective industry experience, deep expertise
and extensive relationships, has consummated more than 100 transactions over the last 18 years. For more information, visit
WWw.eCpgR.COM.

Going concern

The Directors have cencluded that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and the financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis accordingly. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements for more information.

Forward-looking statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results, operations and business of the
Group. By their nature, these statements and forecasts involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could cause actual resuits or developments to
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements and forecasts.

Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs™)
The Directors utilise @ number of KPIs when measuring the performance of the business. These KPIs have been detailed in the below table

and discussed further on the following pages. Definitions for the metrics are provided in the Appendix to the financial statements.

FY23 FY22 Movement

Financial KPIs:

Organic net revenue growth (%) 12.0% 20.0% (8.0)%
Acguisition net revenue growth (%) 6.0% 18.0% (12.0)%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 6.7% 6.7% -
Adjusted Return on Operating Assets (%) 18.2% 18.2% -
Adjusted Return on Capital Employed (%) 8.5% 7.0% 1.5%
Group Leverage Ratio (Net Debt: EBITDA) (x) 3.0x 3.1x (0.1)x
Non-financial KPIs:

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions (k1) 524kt 538kt (14kt)
Plastics recycling capacity (kt) 167kt 151kt 16kt
Employee engagement (%) 63% 59% 4%
Lost time injury (LTI} rate 0.32 0.39 (C.7)
RIDDOR rate 0.19 0.17 0.02
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Strategic Report

Financial Review

Financial highlights
The other financial performance highlights in addition to the KPIs above are detailed in the foliowing fable. Alternative performance
rmeasures are also defined and reconciled in the Appendix to the financial stotements.

FY23 FY22 Movement
mu'forv Revenue 1,680.4 ,1,4“43.3_%__—_25.2_4
Adjusted EBITDA 2355 950 | 305 |
Operating Profit/(Lass) s7| (83 | 150 |
" Adjusted Operating Profit 1128 G646 16.2
Loss After Tax i (16.7) (17.6) 09
Net Debt: EBITDA \ 3.0x 31x | Qx|

Group performance

The Group has built upon FY22's strong trajectory with Statutory Revenue increasing by 16.4% in the year to the record level of £1,680.4m.
This has been achieved across the Group with Collections, Resources & Energy and Specialist Services divisions growing by 15.1%, 11.2%
and 34.8% respectively. The majerity of the growth has been organic, being roughly twice that attributed to acquisitions.

Operating Profit has risen from o loss of £8.3m in FY22 to a profit of £6.7m. This was driven by the 16.8% improvement in Adjusted
Operating Profit from £96.6m in FY22 to £112.8m.

The Group continues to experience significant inflationary headwinds. Despite this, the Adjusted Operating Profit Margin has remained
flot at 6.7%, demonstrating the Group’s resilience and pricing flexibility.

The Group uses Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs") to enable & better understanding of Group performance. APM’s exclude
certain items from statutory results and are used to enhance the comparabllity of information between reporting periods and the
Group’s divisions.

Adjusting items are fully explained in the Appendix to the financial statements. The net impact of adjusting items on Loss Before Tax was
a charge of £105.1m (FY22; £104.2m charge). The main adjusting items were acquisition related costs (£24.8m), strategy related and
restructuring costs (£18.0m), increase 1o provision related to HMRC Landfill Tax enguiry (£50.7m), dsset impairments (£9.1m),
amortisation of acquisition intangibles (£25.2m) and impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions (£24.8m credit).

Net debt and borrowings

Group net debt is £667.0m (FY22: £595.8m) representing 3.0x Adjusted EBITDA (FY22: 3.1x). This demonstrates strong continued cash
performance across the Group.

On 1 February 2023 the Group's existing borrowings drown down under the RCF were repaid by Biffa Bidco Limited, with & corresponding
loan established between Biffa Bidco Limited and a subsidiary of Biffa Limited. The RCF was simultaneously replaced by o new £225m
RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limitad.

The private placements held at 25 March 2022 were still held at 31 March 2023, but were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt
restructure.

Finance income and charges

Net finance charges rose from £19.2m in FY22 1o £22.8m. The primary driver behind this was the £5.9m increase in finance costs on loans
and private placements mostly caused by interest rate rises during the year, partly offset by net interest income on the net defined
benefit surpius increasing by £2.5m.

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for certain employees which is closed te new entrants and which closed to future
accrual for the majority of its members as at 1 November 2013. At 31 March 2023 the Group’s total IAS 19 net retirement benefit surplus
was £95.1m, @ significant fall from the surplus of £166.1m at 25 March 2022,

The reason for this fall is the overall shrinking of the largest scheme, with both plan assets and liabilities decreasing due to the rise in
borrowing rates.

Return on Capital
Group Adjusted Return on Capital Employed improved from 7.0% in FY22 fo 8.5% due to the rise in Adjusted Operating Profit.
HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

This enquiry is in progress and therefore the outcome remains unclear. Following the receipt of further information from HMRC, we have
increased our provision from £20m to £64m. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements for more information.
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Financial Review continued
Post-balance sheet events

The following materai events nccurred ofter the reporting pertod:

. The Group gcquired the entire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share capital of Esterform Packaging
Lirmited in April 2023

- A restructure of the Group's debt became effective in May 2023 with term loans increasing by £135m, rolling credit facility increasing
by £150m and private placements decreasing by £85m

. It was anncunced in June 2023 that the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland will no longer commence in FY24 as previnusly expected.
A replacement schame will commence in Oulober 2025 at the earliest.

. In May and June 2023 £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 29. A further £10.0m is expected to be paid in FY25.

Refer to the Directors’ Report and Note 34 for more information,

Operating Review
The Group 15 crganised into thrae operating divisions:

. Collections
. Resources & Energy
. Specialist Services

Collections

This division provides sustainable waste and recycling collections and reloted services. It is split into two businesses: Municipal and
Industrial and Commercial ('I&C". The Municipat business provides household waste and recycling collections, street cleaning and other
services for households, on behalf of local authorities. The 1&C business provides waste and recycling collections for a wide range of
industrial and commercial customers.

Fy23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m Y

Statutory Revenue 1,006.1 8739 132.2 15.1%
I&C 792.7 6909 101.8 14.7%
Municipal 2134 183.0 304 16.6%
Net Revenue 1,006.1 8739 132.2 15.1%
Operating profit 75.9 654 10.3 15.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 7.5% 7.5% n/a n/c
Adjusted EBITDA 146.1 130.7 154 11.8%
Adjusted Operating profit 825 750 75 10.0%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 8.2% 8.6% n/a n/a

The Collections division had a strong year in FY23, with Statutory Revenue rising by 15.1%. This high growth rate was seen consistently
across the division with I&C and Municipal achieving growth rates of 14.7% and 16.6% respectively,

1&C

The growth in I&C has been achieved through the combination of acquisitions (including o full 12 months’ contribution from the Viridor
acguisition in FY22), volume growth and price increases. The 1&C business has continued fo be affected by substantial inflatienary cost
pressures impacting the UK economy. While these pressures have had o significant impact on our operating costs, pricing flexibility built
INto our contracts has enabled the business to pass on most of these cost increases 1o customers, thereby protecting our profitobility
with Collections Adjusted Operating Profit Margin only falling from 8.6% in FY22 to 8.2% in FY23.

while the business was '/mpacted by national HGV driver shortages in £Y22, these shertages eased in the lafter part of FY22 and this
easing continued into FY23. Supply chain disruption has continued to provide challenges in FY23, e.g. the procurement of new vehicles.
These challenges require careful monagement going forward.

Qur strategy remains fo drive forward our plan fo consolidate the fragmented L&C collections market. Acquisifions are highly synergistic
due to the removal of duplicare routes and ncations, and result in o more efficient, flexible service proposition for our customers with
lower carbon intensity. The acquisition pipeline looks promising and Biffa’s new owners intend to support our historically aeguisitive
approach

Operating Review continued
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Strategic Report

Collections continued
Municigal

The sigraicanT growth experierced i FYE3 has been dinver by the revenue indexunion built ota our Mumcipal contracs epabhng e
prces chargeo to
environment «ith

customers 13 rise n line with the relevanr inflation indices. This results in revenue nises kaggnig cost dcreaseas 4y an
reswing intlation, but thes a catch-ap as intlanon slows. 4 margin mprovement s therarore expected wm Py 24

The challengas faced by the Muntcipal business are sumilar to those fuced by the Tal Dusiness and fhe MINGATNg tunons we fhereto =
£roadly similar

The nusiness is well placed 1o continue to Jdeliver its growth strategy by capiralising ou its scafe and expertise we will seck 1O cupitualise
on e opportfunities that are presentea by the upproaching regulatery changes in the industry

Resources and Energy (‘R&E’)

The R&E diviston tacusas on the sustainable rreatment, recycling, energy recovery ond ultimate disposal of waste It cuinprses e
Recychng, Orgamics, Inerts and Landfill Gas businesses gs well as our equity iInvestments m iwo Energy from waste Cerw’y racilines tho
were und® constructon at the year end date

T T T T T T evas ] FYzz | Change | Change
. em  fml  fm %
Starutory Revenue 43%.6 3952 44 4 11 2% J
Recycling 1651 140.8 24 / 175%,
Forgones T T *171'54]"”7' 7o B4 oo
Inerr: 547 | 58/ (to)
| Net Revenwe ] ﬁz.?a_q% T mse |7 Taso |
Operafing profit 353 Iﬁ’ 175 s oL7%
Operating profit margin (%) 8.0% [r 4.4% /g 0/G

——— ——rf
Adjusted EBITDA 78.3 /35

"Adjusted Operating profit 423 | 41l

D-«djusted Operating profit margin (%) 9.6% \ 10.4%

The R&E division saw sirong performannce in FY23 with Net Revenue of £363.9m, up 1o.2% on the prnor year This was driven by growinn
the Recycling und Organics businesses, which i Turn was partly caused by a full 12 monihs’ contribulion From rhe Vircton Qoouisinen

The sigmfreant cost increases expernenced 1N the year were largely mitigatea ihrough the Group’s 11sk management measures angd pricig
Hesxablity, but Adiusted Operating Profit Margin did fall from 10.4% 1o 9.6%.

Recycling
Qur Recycling busmess cantprises our leadimng Polymers plastics busmess and our Materials Recycling Facilités UMRFSY

FY22 was a runsihonl vear for the Polymers business due 1o customer acceptance af Seaham raking longer than expecied but o
number of multi-milhon pound agreements were signed lare in FY22 and FY23, driving the 17.5% revenue growih m Y23,

we expect demand for plastics recycling to continue o strengthen following the infroauction of e UK Government's Plashic Packaging
T and greater scrahny on corporate behoviours

Construction of the third rHDPE Line at Redear s now complete,

Organics

The Grgamics business includes Bifta’s anaerobic digeshion (ADD, ComposTing ona residual waste Tregtiment assars, Assers are generally
suppotted by long e local authorry contracts, The business nad o sTong vear with revanue growith or 30 0%,

Inarts

Cur Inerts business includes the rectment and hisposal of conwiex construcnon waste and provides tandnll alsposal ror unrceqratie
residues Tnerts Met Revenue fell by 3.4% due 1o a decline in landfill volumes coused by macroecaononic unceriaaty,

Landfilt Gas

The Landril G

5 husingss provides energy genaranon rrony londfll gas extraction
Revene Qlew by L34 0 F 28 21Th 1he nositive miovement 1 eNergy prices oifa2ffing e reduct on i gas y-es

Operating Review wonbnucd
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Resources and Energy ('R&E’) continued
Energy Recovery

The treatment of general waste for energy recovery is an important part of our investment strategy for waste which cannot be avoided,
reduced or recycled. Biffa has invested in two Energy from Waste joint ventures in partnership with Encyclis (previously Covanta).

Construction of the Newhurst Energy Recovery Facility is complete and the site became fully operational in May 2023, so FY24 Adjusted
Operating Profit will benefit fram roughly 10 months of contribution. Construction of the Protos Energy Recovery Facility is still in
progress and is 1-2 years behind Newhurst,

Specialist Services

The Sperinlist Services division helps custane s (ullil lheir sustaimabiity ambitions by providing bespoke solutions including surplus
redistribution, integrated resource management and hazardous waste services. The division contains the Industrial Services and
Company Shop Group (‘CSG') businesses.

The Industrial Services business provides bespoke solutions to customers who have more complex woste requirements such as
manufacturing and distribution businesses. Solutions include on site services and equipment rental (‘Integrated Rescurce Management’
or ‘IRM'}, hazardoys waste collection and treatment and packaging producer respensibility compliance services ('Biffpack”.

CSG adds waste reduction and redistribution capabilities to Biffa's range of sustainable waste management solutions. It also enables us
1o suppert customers in moving surpius products further up the waste hierarchy and 1o deliver on their sustainabllity ambitions.
Alongside its core network, CSG operates Community Shop, a not-for-profit corununity inferest company that supports some of the
most deprived areas of the UK through a network of hubs which sell produce provided by donations from supplier partners ot deeply
discounted prices, alongside the provision of o number of community services.

In July 2022 Biffa announced that Circularity Scotland Ltd (‘CSL), the scheme administrator for Scotlund’s Deposit Return Scheme,
appointed Biffa to provide collection, counting and sorting services for the billions of drinks containers which are placed on the Scottish
market each year. The attributable financial performance was to be included within the Specialist Services division due to the unigue
nature of the scheme. The scheme will no longer commence in August 2023 as originally planned, as it was announced on 7 June 2023
that a replacement scheme would not go ahead until at lecst October 2025. Refer to Note 34 for further details on the DRS and position
as of the balance sheet dote.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m Y

Statutory Revenue 2347 1741 60.6 34.8%
Industrial Services 145.1 103.4 417 40.3%
Company Shop Group 89.6 70.7 18.9 267%
Net Revenue 234.7 1741 60.6 34.8%
Operating profit / (loss) 12.7 (19.9) 32.6 n/c
Operating profit margin (%) 5.4% (11L.43% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 21.%6 11.6 10.0 86.2%
Adjusted Operating profit 138 5.4 8.4 155.6%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 5.9% 3.1% n/a n/c

The Specialist Services division had a very strong year, with revenue increasing by 34.8%. The majority of this growth was seen in
Industrial Services which grew by 40.3%, followed by Company Shop Group which saw its revenues increase by 20.7%.

Industrial Services

Industrial Services continued its strong performance into FY23, with gll three business units (IRM, Hazardous Waste and Compliance)
performing seeing high levels of growth. The acquisition of Total Recycling Services In March 2023 will help drive further growth in FY24.

Biffa is uniquely placed to benefit from the growing Industrial Services market as the fully integrated waste management platform
means we can take advantage of cross-seliing services from our I&C customer base,

The business experienced similar challenges to those faced by the Collections division in FY23, but these were sufficiently mitigated to
ensure performance was not significantly impacted.
Cotnpany Shop Group

The business saw g significant furnaround in FY23, moving from being loss-making to profit-making. The encouraging progress seen in
the final quarter of FY22, achieved through strategic changes, centinued into FY23 as membership, footfali ond gross margins
maintained their positive trajectory. Performance is expected to improve further in FY24 due to a full year of higher sales and margins.

Stakeholder engagement and sustainability
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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Wwe have continued to focus on our purpose “to change the woy people think about waste”, Sustainability is at the heart of our business.
we're committed to doing the right things to protect our plonet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the maost
environmental, social and financial value from the resources we collect. We are also proud to give something back to the communities we
serve and in doing so create value for all our stakeholders.

We care about our custormers and their needs. Every day we provide essenticl services 1o o wide range of customers across the UK from
large corporates to thousands of local businesses and local authorities. We focus on delivering excelient services consistently, os
promised, every time. Our sustainable approach, responsiveness to customer needs ond delivery makes us the first choice for customers.

Our suppliers play an important role in helping our business deliver for our customers. We form strong, sustainable and frusted
partnerships and look to secure excellent value for money, whilst minirmising risk in our supply chain.

The health, safety and wellbeing of our colleagues and our communities continues o be of paramount importance. During the year, we
have continued to actively support the communities in which we operate through various community projects, inciuding our proud
parinership with the charity, WasteAid, wasteAld is an independent UK charity, set up by waste management professionals fo share
practical and low-cost waste management knowledge with communities in developing countries. We support them through our
sponsorship, employee fundraising and with their projects in the Gambia, Kenya and Cameroon.

Employee engagement
Our employee engagemeant score has increased 4% during the year, and we are now 7% above the UK average.

we want our people 10 be engaged in their work and with their workplace, Research shows that organisations with high levels of
employee engagement are more efficient and effective and that highly engaged employees care about the future of their organisation
and are motivated to help it achieve its objectives. We have doubled engagement over the past 10 years and our ambifion is to be in the
top 25% of all companies in the UK, which we are now only 4 percentoge points away from gchieving.

We have a team of just under 11,000 talented and diverse colleagues who support Biffa’s purpose of changing the way people think
about waste. We pride ourselves on having an open and honest relationship with our workforce, empowering them to have their say,
whilst ensuring they remain supported. We engage with eoch other respectfully, encouroge each other and heip make Biffa o fair,
inclusive and fun place to work.

Wwe also continue to maintain two-wday engagement with our workforce, ensuring that they are kept up to date with the latest business
developments and answering their guestions. Our channels include regular all-employee video calls with our Group Executive Team, CEQ
vlogs, conferences and news updates via our intranet and employee app, Biffa Beat. Biffo Beat helps us to communicate and engage
with our frontline workforce, enabling them to openly ask questions and voice their opinians at the touch of @ button. This is further
supported by the Biffa Involvement Group, a forum of over 100 employees that meet regularly 1o share ideas and feedback with both
each other and the Group Executive Team.

Health and safety

Over the year, through gedicated focus on risk reduction, we reduced our LTI rate from 0.39 injuries per 100,000 hours worked to 0.32. We
also reduced the overall proportion of all injures that resuited in any lost time from 12.35% to 9.95%. Disappointingly, our RIDDOR rate
rose slightly over the 12m period due largely to our I&C business. We are maintaining our approach to increasing the effectiveness of our
risk management processes with a specific focus on reducing road risk by improving our systems, technology and driver capabilities. we
are alsa investing in EcaOnline, a best class H&S management platform to help us improve our incident management procedures, and in
the TopSet investigation methodology to improve our ability to learn from incidents.

Qrher matters contained within the $trategic Report

The Section 172 statement, Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD), Principal risks and uncertainties and Non-
Financial Information Statement below farm part of the Strategic Report.

On behaif of the Board.

Michael Topham

Director

Biffa Limited

Registered in England and wales No. 10336040
11 September 2023
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Section 172 statement

The Directors had regard to their duty under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 ('5172’) to promote the long-term success of Biffa
Limited (the ‘Company’) for the benefit of its members during the year. In doing so, the Directors have considered the matiers outlined
below.

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term / The need to act fairly between members of the Company

Our business mode| focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect. See pages 3 and 4 for more retnils =172
fartars were considered in the Doard’s discussions oh sTrategy, including how they underpin the Company’s long-term success and the
need to act fairly between members.

The interests of the Company’s employees

The Directors engage directly with our employees, both through their day-to-day activities and via site visits, conferences, dinners and
other events. The Directors and Group Executive Team host regular all-employee calls, giving employees the opportunity to provide
feedback and ask questions. All Directors also have access to our employee app, Biffa Beat, giving them the ability to view employee
feedback on anncuncements and other communications. In addition, the annual employee engagement survey provides valuable insight
to the Directors across @ range of key employee matters, including safety, wellbeing, reward & recognition and diversity & inclusion. See
page 10 for more details

The need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, custormers and others

To be able to fulfil their 172 duty when making decisions, it is essential that the Directors understand what matters to the Company’s
stakeholders. Much of the stakeholder engagement at Biffa is carried out at a business level. The Board has received updates on
stakeholder engagement during the year, See page 10 for more details.

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

Sustainability is at the heart of our business. were committed to changing the way people think about waste and doing the right things
to protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most envirecnmental, social and financial value
from the resources we collect. We are clso proud to give something back to the communities we serve and in doing so create vaiue for all
our stakeholders. See puges 12 to 20 for more detalls.

The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct

we are committed to maintaining our reputation for high standards across all areas of our business, More detail is provided as follows:

. Stakeholder engagement - page 10

. Employee engagement - page 10

. Health and safety - page 10

. Enviranment and sustainability - pages 12 to 20

+  Non-Financial Information Statement - pages 28 fo 29

Example of principal decision of the Board

During the year, the Board considered and approved the acquisition of the whole of the ordinary share capital of the Company by funds
managed and/or advised by Energy Capital Partners LLC (ECP”), implemented by way of scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Transaction”).

In considering the Transaction, the Board sought the views of certain of the Company’s largest shareholders and consistently considered
the potential impact of the Transaction on the Company's wider (non-sharehoider) stakeholders. This included looking for reassurance to
ECP on a number of matters as follows:

«  ECP having a strong track record of employee stewardship with the evaluation of the Transaction not being predicated on headcount
reductions or cost cutting initiatives and thet all existing employee rights would be safeguarded,

«  ECP supporting the Company's sustainability strategy, with Biffa’s leadership in this area being a major reason for their interest in the
Transaction; and

. ECP's support for continued focus by the Company on its customers and communities.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

In 2022 we made a mandatory disclosure in line with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. This year, due to
being delisted, this is no longer a mandated requirement however we have chosen to make a voluntary disclosure
consistent, albeit not fully compliant, with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations, Using this framework enables
us to explain our process for responding to climate-reloted opportunities and risks to our key stakeholder groups
in a purposeful and comparable context.

Governance

Board

For the majority of the year the Biffa Limited Board were responsible for the delivery of sustainable velue to our key stakeholder groups
and provided oversight of our strategic commitments, which are aligned with our sustainability sfrategy. Following the acguisition by
ECP, the Biffa Topco Limited (formerly Bears Topeo Limited) Board are responsible for the whole business, which includes sustainability.
This ensures climate-related risks and opportunities are considered in ali aspects of the business including capital expenditure,
acquisitions, and performance objectives.

Executive Sustainability Committee

During the reporting year the Executive Sustainability Committee managed the Company’s sustainability strategy while senior
management are responsible for the day-to-day implernentation, monitoring ond manogement of our sustainability performonce
including climate-related risks and opportunities. During the year the Executive Sustainability Committes met twice. At the end of the
financial year the Executive Sustainability Committee was disbanded and sustainability has become a standing item on the Group
Executive meeting agenda at least 3 times per year. This ensures climate-related risks and opportunities are integrated in decision
making across our business.

During the year the Executive Sustainability Committee received updates on UK legisiation including the Environment Act and Resources
and Waste Strateqy, the Group’s Alternative Fuels Strategy, the Group’s sustainability ratings and accreditations, the Group’s social value
strategy and progress against the Group's sustainability strategy. The Executive Sustainability Committee also approved the Group's
Scope 3 emissians target which has now been submitted for validation by the Science-based Target Initiative (SBTi). Similar updates will
be provided af least 3 times a year at the Executive meetings during the next financial year.

Environment and Sustainability Team

During the reporting year the Group's Environment and Sustainability team reported to the Corporate Affairs Director however the team
now report to the General Counsel and Company Secretary following changes to the Group Executive Team in FY24. The team provide
regular updates including to the Group Executive Team and work closely with management teams and employees across the business to:

- Identify ond report any emerging climerte-related risks and opportunities to the Group Executive Team.
- Drive awareness of our sustainability targets across the business and ensure that where relevant, sustainability targets are
incorporated into our divisional baianced business plans.

. Evolve and refine the sustainability strategy and associated targets, ensuring it keeps pace with Biffa’s overall ambitions, market
developments and the latest Science-based Targets.

. Ensure performance monitoring and reporting is completed and rigorously audited through both internal audit and external
verification to ensure accurate information is communicated to stakeholders.

. Escalate any issues that may impact the delivery of the sustainability strategy to the Group Executive Team.

- Participate in industry working groups, along with other experts, and monitor best practice.

. Ensure the Company position is reflected in developing Government policy through fransparent and pro-active interaction with our
regulators and policy makers,

Audit Committee

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by monitoring and reviewing the integrity of the
Group's financial reporting and the effectivenass of the Internal and External Audit functions and risk management framework and
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system of internal control.

During the year the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s principal risks and emerging risks which includes climate change. The
review of the principal risks considers the likelihood of the risks materialising and the potential impact, in terms of hoth the inherent risks,
before any mitigating actions, and the residuct risks, after considering mitigating actions and controls. The emerging risks reviewed by
management and the Committee include risks relating to physical and transitional climate change.

Following the acquisition by ECP, the Audit Committee for Biffa Limited was disbanded and responsibilities were transferred to the Audit
Committee of Biffo Topco Limited.

Strategy

As a lecder in UK sustainable waste management, we play a critical rele in climate gction; enailing the UK circular economy and
allowing customers and society 1o reduce their emissions by moving waste further up the waste hierarchy. Our business strategy ‘Reduce,
Recycle, Recover and Collect’ guides the services we offer, our operations, our supply chain management and our investment in research
and development,

These four areas of our sustainable business model reflect the outcomes and value creation delivered by our operational capabilities and
our capital allocation:

. Reduce: To picneer and aperate the UK's leading waste reduction and redistribution services.

«  Recycle; To dovelop and upetate the UK's leading recycling solutions.

. Recover; To invest in Energy Recovery Facilities infrastructure os a lower carbon alternative to landfill for our customers’ waste that
can’t be recycled.

«  Collect: To build the UK’s largest, most efficient, low carbon waste and recycling collections operation.

To further align our funding strategy with our sustainability strategy and the climate-related risks and opportunities identified, we have
established a Sustainability-Linked Finance Framework which was published in December 2020.

Our sustainability strategy, Resourceful, Responsible, was published in March 2020 and identifies 20 clearly defined fargets which
mitigate against climate-refated risks and capitalise on climate-related opportunities. These targets include Scope 1 and 2 emissions
reduction, alternative fuelled vehicles, increased collection route efficiencies and the purchasing of renewable energy.

Progress against the strategy is reviewed annually and will take on board any changes in regulations, societal demand, technology
availability and the development of climate science. Where required the strategy will be adapted to reflect these changes.

Scenario analysis

we use scenario analysis to ensure our business model and sustainability strategy remain resilient to a range of potential future climate
scenarios to 2030 and beyond. This year we have evaluated cgainst three scenarios. Expanding our scenario selection enables us to
explore the key transitional and physical risks and opportunities that Biffa may be exposed fo:

«  The 'susiginable’ scenario - enables us to assess the cpportunities and risks arising from ¢ successful decarbonisation, aligned with
the Paris Agreement and its goal is to limit global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared to pre-industrial ievels.

«  The ‘middle of the road’ scenario - engbles us 1o assess the opportunities and risks arising from what could currently be regarded as
the most likely climate trajectory with a global temperature increase of between 2 and 3°C.

« The ‘hot house’ scenario - enables us to assess the risks where the Paris Agreement is not met and for global average temperaturas
rising to above 4°C by the end of the century. Under this scenario we face the acute risk of severe weather events and chronic
impacts of temperature and precipitation changes.

The scenarios used were informed by the Infernational Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pathways' and UK
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (UK SSPs)l. Data from the UK Met Office, that aligned with the global average temperature rising to
above 4°C by the end of the century was used in the ‘hot house” scenario so we could consider the UK- specific physical impacts of
climate change, as this is most applicable to our UK operations.

In 2022 we carried out a materiality assessment, asking our key stakeholders whether they saw the material topics as risks or
opportunities for Biffa to ensure we had a balanced view. The Executive Sustainability Committee consider that the material risks and
opportunities outlined in the 2022 matericlity assessment are still reflective of the current business. See page 4 of our Sustainability
Report 2022 for more information on outcomes of the assessment: www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability.

Footnotes

L The Infergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Representative Concentration Pathways were used in our scenarios as they allow physical ckmate impacts 1o be considered
such as temperature, flocding and extreme weather, across differing average temperature rises resulting from varying radiative forces.

2 Socioeconemic Pathways (SSPs) dascribe a set of alternative plausible trajectonies of societal development, which are based on hyporheses obout which societal elements are
the most important deferminants of chalkenges 1o climare change mitiganon and adaptation. Spanal explict Projections of EnvironmEntal Drivers (SPEED) have worked with
partners fo develop UK versions of the $5Ps +hrough a parficipatory process invoving stakehoider workshops, interviews and questionnaires 1o spatially, termporally and
sectorally extend glebal and Eurcpean versions of the 55Ps.
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Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scendrio 1 (‘sustainable’)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and avoided we have an ambitious carbon reduction
efficiency rechnology operating costs for target and in order to meet this we have a
facilities and collections strong focus on energy efficiency ocross
fleet. M H L our operafions and fleet and we believe
technology advancement would enable us
to accelerate this under the sustainable
world.
Products/ Increased Increased revenue due We are committed to optimising our
services / demand for to the continued processes and using our expert knowledge
markefs low carbon development Qr.ld " H H tQ denve‘r fow carbon services/products.
reduced operating costs. Wwe continue t@ monitor customer demands
services and and markats changes so we remain
materials competitiva,
Additional Increased revenue from We understand the importance of green
technalogy confinued development technology and our ambition is to unlock
of additional services. H H H £1.25bn of investment in green econamy
infrastructure by 2030, which includes but
isn't limited to investments in piastics
. recycing.
Resilience Collaborative Increased market value We engage collaboratively with our key
relationships and revenue due to L M L srokeholder groups to help find solutions o
reputational benefirs. the most difficult climate challenges.
Mergers and Reduced operating costs M&A enables us 1o continue 1o gain
acquisitions due 1o efficiency gains H M H operating efficiencies and new capabilities,
and increased revenue. helping us to achieve our ambitious
sustainability targets.
Patential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10 yrs 10+ yrs Strategic response and resilience
Policy and Emissions Increased operating We confinue to review our progress against
legai legisiation Costs in order to our emissions targets and ensure our
maintain emissions L M M targets aligned to the latest climate
compliance and comply science.
with low emission zones.
Renewable Impact on revenue due The cessation of the renewable obligation
energy to chaniges in initiatives schemes for landfill gas which we currently
legisiation ovailable. receive for our landfill gas operations has
L H L been built inte our five-year business pians.
Other sources of renewable energy such as
solar would allow us to utilise the grid
connections across our landfill portfolio.
wasie Impact on revenue and we engage productively and transparently
legislation operating costs due to with regulatars and policy makers to ensure
change in service that we have foresight of upcoming
demand L L L legistation, allowing us to make the
and materials. necessary adaptafions. A higher demand
for recycled materials presents a great
oppertunity for Biffa.
Low emission Costs o transition to low Collaborating with our supplier on
rechnology carbon technoiogy M M L technology advances enables efficiency

gains in the use of resources and
operational processes.
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Summary of our most matetial climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 2 (‘middle of the road’)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10 yrs 10+ yrs  Sirategic response and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and avoided we have a strong focus on energy
efficiency technology operating costs for efficiency across our operations and fleet.
facilities and L L L Improving cur energy efficiency across our
collections fleet. operations and fleet is essential for us to
meet our ambitious carbon reduction
commifments.
Products/ Increased Increased revenue Our sustainability ambitions will be
services / demand for due to the continued delivered by optimising our processes and
markets low carbon development aljd H H H combining these wi‘rh our actions to help
. reduced operating customers move their waste further up the
serwcgs and costs. waste hierarchy, helping to reduce the
materials carbon footprint of the services we offer
Additional Increased revenue Our ambition is fo unlock £1.25bn of
technology from continued H H H investment in green eranomy infrastructure
developine) of by 2030, which includes but isn't limited to
additicnal services. investments in plastics recycling.
Resilience Collubortstive Increased market we engage collaboratively with our key
relationships value and revenue stakehoider groups to help find solutions to
due fo reputational L M M the most difficult climate challenges and
benefits. help our customers meet their own
sustainability targets.
Mergers and Reduced operating We continue to develop our capabilities
acquisitions costs due to efficiency through M&A, which will enable us To
gains and increased M M M continue 1o gain operating efficiencies and
revenue. new capabilities, helping us to achieve our
ambiticus sustainability targets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Policy and Emissions Increased operating we are making significant progress
legal legislation costs in order to towards our commitment of a 50%
maintain emissions reduction in our ermissions by 2030. we
compliance and L L L have also set a target for Net Zero by no
comply with low later than 2050. Achieving our targers will
emission zones. reduce our expose to emission related
costs.
Renewable Impact on revenue The cessation of the renewable obligaticn
energy due to changes in schemes for landfill gas which we currently
legislation initictives available. receive for our landfill gas operations has
L H L been built into our five-year business plans.
We are exploring other sources of
renewabie energy that will gllow us to utilise
our large land holding and grid
infrastructure.
waste Impact on revenue we engage productively and transparently
legislation and operating costs with regulators and policy makers to ensire
due to change in that we have feresight of upcoming
service demand L L L legislation, allowing us to make the
and materials. necessary adaptations. A higher demand
for recycled materials presents o great
opperfunity for Biffa.
Low emission Costs to transition 1o Colleborating with our supglier on
technology low carbon M M M technology advances enables efficiency

rechnolegy

gains in the use of resources and
operational processes.
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Summary of our most material climate-related risks - Scenario 3 (‘hot house’)

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10 yrs 10+ yrs Strategic response and resilience
Acute physical Damage to Increased costs due Understanding the exposure of our ,
impacts property/site to physical domage, operations to the risk from exfreme
{increase in infrastructure i weather events, including flooding, allows
severity of from extreme ~ 1ncreased insurance us 10 identify business-critical locations
extreme weather premiums and M H H which can then be assessed for cimate ‘
weather) and events reduced insurance change aduption investment. New facilities
chronic C?VQ)!IC!bIHW for *high incorporate climate change and flooding
physical risk’ areas. measures into their planning phases and
impacts (long- development.
term climate -
@ shifrsy Increased Increased capital Whilst rhg frequency and extent oflexrreme
= health and costs os o result of weather is hard to predict, we continue 1o
[ safery risk fire damage to monitor changing weather patferns on a

buildings/vehicles. . .
95/ short-term basis and take action to

Indirect costs due mitigate ony negative effecrs,
to impacts on

health and

wellbeing. L L L

Increase in
operational costs
for heating, cooling
and change in
operafing practices
due o shifting
temperatures,

The Risks and Opportunities Identified '

Biffo views potential climate-related risks and cpportunities under two main categories:

. Transition risk: changes as a result of legislation, customer expectations and new technologies.
. Physical climate: physical climate impacts and how this impacts our facilities and operations.

Under both decarbonisation scenarios used in our analysis, the risks we face are intrinsically linkad to changes in policy and legislation,
technological advancements and innovatian that support a low carbon, energy efficient economy. Risks that relate to transport and
ermissions, impact mest sectors, while other risks are waste sector specific. Mitigation measures include support of our subject-matter
experts and the monitoring of future changes and aur current business model shows our consideration of a deeply decarbenised
pathway.

To achieve decarbonisation the circular economy is needed to decouple economic growth from the use of natural resources. This
presents significant opportunities for Biffa including changes in resource efficiency along with increased demand for recycling services
and low carbon materials, These opportunities are enhanced by England’s Resources and Waste Strategy, which supports the circular
economy and green consumerism. Our business strategy posifions us in key role to support our customers during this transformation.

If globol climate mitigotion is unsuccessful and rhe “hot house’ scenario becomes a reglity, we understand thot the world will face
changes in market conditions, but the size and nature of these changes are highly uncertain. Therefore, the focus of this scenario is the
physical climate impact on our business and warkforce. The physical impacts are primarity related to severe weather events. These could
pose a risk to our workforce and facilities in the long term and require us to introduce additional safety measures and training. We
believe the best mitigation against the risks from this scenario is to support the goals of the Paris Agreement and make o positive
contribution 1o climate action ourselves and through our value chain.

Under the decarbonisation pathways, due to the amount of carbon already in the atmosphere and unknown carbon feedback loops,
some increcse in exfreme weather events and long-term changes in ternperature and rainfall patterns is expected, These will impact our
business, but to a lesser magnitude than if a decarbonisation pathway isn't achieved. Qur business continuity planning is informed by
both post and simulated events and ensures that we remain resilient 1o any disruption caused by extreme weather events. Business
critical operations that are at a higher risk will be assessed for adaptation if required.
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-
Risk Management
we use our well-established risk management framework to review our climate-related risks and opportunities.

Risk governance

The Biffa Topce Limited Board ensures the Group’s internal control systerns and risk management framework are effective with the Audit
Committee having specific delegated authority to review the effectiveness of the risk menagement and internal control processes during
the year.

The Group Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-day risk management and control. This ensures that management provides
leadership and direction to employees so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk appefite.

Biffa operates the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ medel to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship
between the various management and oversight functions, ond to demanstrate how responsibilities are allocated. The Internal Audit
function assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively.

Risk appetite
The Biffa Topco Limited Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures risk is manoged appropriately across the
Group. Health & Safety, legal, regulatory and environmental risks (including climate-related risks) are our major focus, Biffa dedicates

significant resources to managing and monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside. In eoch case,
controls and mitigating actions aligned fo the risk appetite are put in place.

Risk assessment

A risk assessment matrix is used to ensure that risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its potential impact. wWe ossess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identify any additional activities that could be undertaken to further mitigate the
risk.

For more information on our Risk Management Process please see the ‘Principle risks and uncertainties’ section.
Emerging risks
In addition te known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as part of our existing risk management

processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team and the Audit Committee, and include risks relating to climate
change such as alternative fuels, flooding, and infectious diseases.

Risk Management Processes

The Group’s risk management process is centrally coordinated. It utilises o risk management tool and considers the existing business
model and future strategy. Within this tool, climate-related risks have o separate section, but these risks are also included within the
operaticnal risk profile for each area of the business where relevant, An established network of ‘Risk Champions’ is in place 1o facilitate
updates during the year. The Risk Champions are members of the senior management team and take o iead role in engaging local
management to identify and regularly update risk information.

The Group Executive Team are updated regularly on the principal and emerging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned fo
individual members of the Team.

The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal and emerging risks, as identified and assessed by management
through the above process. The Audit Committee also reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which
operates a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible; however, we cannot eliminate all
risks to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not abselute assurance cgainst material
misstatement or loss.
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Metrics and Targets

we assess our effectiveness of integrating climate-related risks and opportunities into our business through the use of a series of business
relevant climate change indicators.

Our targets are:

. Reduce our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 50% by 2030 from a 2019 baseline (746,925 tCO2e) and achieve Net Zero® by no later
than 2050. During FY?24 we hope to receive validation from the SBTi for our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions fargets.

. Introduce 10% non-fossil-fuelled collection vehicles by 2025.

. Increase collection route efficiency by 10% by 2025.

- Purchase 100% renewable energy by 2025,

*Net zero refers to achieving a balance between the amount of greenhouse gas emissions produced and the amount removed from the atmosphere.

}
Meric [ w= | mm| oom
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Location-based) (1ICO2)" | 524367 537,950 533,187
% reducticn in Scope 1 and 2 emissions since 2019 29.80 B 27.98 28.62

Scope 3 (1CO-)" | 666065 | 622,170 n/a
% of alfernative fuelled collection vehicles 333 150 <1
0.50 Q.49 042

L1

Collection route efficiency (lifts per km)

% increase in coliection route efficiency from 2019 417 208 -1230

% renewable energy purchased™

* Limited assurance provided by Buregu Ventas. The independent assurance statement can be viewed at hifps:/ fwww.biffa co.uk/sustainabiity/reports-and-performonce
** FY22 amounts have been recalculated 1o include the impact of the Vindor acguisition during the priot period.
** Amounts have been restated to reflect the percentage of renewable energy purchased for sites where Biffa controls the energy supply agreement

Comments on the daty

1, During FY23 we ndopted a new methodology for calculated emissions associated with Stope 3 Category 1 (purchased goods and services) and Category 5 (woste generatedn
operations) This new methodology means we are using quantity data for third-party woste freaiment/disposal where possible rarher than the spend-based methadology.

2. During FY21 we moved our main portfollo where we are respansible for the energy supplier onto d renewable toriff.

3 Collection route efficiency wos significantly impocted by Covid-13 FY22 has been another chalienging year with Covid- 17 impacting the start of fhe year and daver shorfages,

however posinve progress has been made rowards our 2025/30 target

To lead in UK sustainable waste management it is critical thot we reduce our own carbon emissions and continue to develop our ability to
offer low carbon services to our customers. Qur emissions reduction target is built into the Group Balanced Business Pian (BBP). This
influences our divisional 8BPs which in turn determines senior leaders’ remuneragtion policy. Where relevant, other fargets outlined in our
sustainability strategy are incorporated into our divisional BBPs.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

We have seen a reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions of cimost 30% compared o our 2019 baselfine!. When taking into account
our purchasing of renewable energy?, this reduction is 31%.

This has been achieved through the continued improvement of our landfill gas capture and efficiency gains within our operations, including
the removal of 56 diesel RCVs to date as a result of our acquisitions since the lounch of our sustainability strategy, equating to a saving of
1,600 tCO2¢e per year.

In FYZ2G we transitioned our portfolio 1o u new energy management system fo aid more granular data analysis. Following
recommendations from our annual SECR audits, carried out by an independent auditor, we have completed a series of actions, including a
Non-Haif Hourly {NHH) meter replacement exercise and creation of an independent site list, to allow us to hove greater understanding of
our electricity usage and quickly identify problems. During FY23 we have begun work on business area infensity metrics, helping us fo
normalise electricity usage as the business continues to grow.

During the year we have implemented a Computer Aided Facilities Management System which has allowed for the development of
regional networks, reducing the mileage travelled for reactive maintenance. We also operate a rolling upgrade programme of energy
efficiency improvements across our sites. In FY23 we have fitted 7 sites with external lighting timeclocks and installed LEDs across 18 sites.
A Building Management System has been installed at cur Head Office to control the Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC)
system effectively. It is estimated that these improvements will save ¢.75tCO2e per year.

Building on the successful roll out of energy and utility audits in our Municipal business in £Y22, during FY23 our Resources and Energy
division have undertaken energy and ufility audits to identify potential areas for energy efficiency improvements to be made. By
identifying our sites individual energy usage, we can take more effective measures to reduce the energy consumption. The pian for FY24 is
to roll out a similar audit across our I&C estate.

As a result of our positive progress o date, we are well on course to achieve our sustainability strategy targets to reduce carbon emissions
by 50% by 2030.

UK Greenhouse gas (‘GHG’) Emissions and Energy Use Data

Emissions from: (in tonnes CO2e*) 2023 2022 2021
Scope 1+ 496959 507,630 506,228
Scope 2 {Market-based)** 15,641 16,079 20,355
Scope 2 (Location-based): Electricity, heat, steam and cocling** 27,408 20,320 26,959
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions {Market-basedy** 512,600 523,709 526,583
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Location-based)y™ 524,367 537,950 533,187
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) intensity ratio - tCOge per £m revenue 304 %3 - 505
Scope 1 and 2 (Location-based) intensity ratio - tCO- per £m revenue 311 373 512
Scope 1 and 2 {(Maorket-based) intensity ratio - t1COze per employee 47.40 53.75 63.92
Scope 1 and 2 (Location-based) intensity ratio - 1COze per employee 48.55 55.21 6472
Toral Scope 3= 666,065 622,170 n/a

* Carbon dioxide equivalent (CC:e) is a standard unit in carpbon accounting o quanhify greenhouse gas emissions, emissions reductions and corbon credits.
= Lirited assurance provided by Bureau Veritas. The independent assurance statement can be viewed at hitps:/ /www biffa co uk/sustainability/reports-and-performance
=== FY22 amounts have been recalculated fo include the wmpact of the Viridor acquisinion during the prior period

Comments on the data

1 Biffa collects and reports environmental data in accordance with the guidelines of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. The CO2e emissions were calculated using the BEIS 2022
emission factors We have followed the GHG Protocol Scope 2 Guidance requining dual reporting using twn erission factors for each site - Market-based and Location-based,
Prir 1o FY21 the Locanion-based method hos been used os a proxy for the Market-based methed.

2 Scope 1 encomposses direct GHG emissions from energy generated from fossil fuels used within our operations such as diesel, gas and oil. It aiso ncludes our landfill gas
emissions, Scope 2 encompasses ndirect GHG emissions from the on-sire generation and purchase of electricity using market-based ermissions data Scope 3 encompasses
indirect GHG emissions in Biffa’s value chain (upstream and downstream).

3 The data reported 15 bosed on our operational control. Reported emissions are within the UK only. No direct operations are carried cut offshore Our investments in joint
ventures and associates are included within Category 15 of our Scope 3 emissions as *hey fall outside our operational control. Details of these nvestments can be found in Note
28 to the consoiidoted financial statements.

4 Scope 3 emissions includes purchosed goods and services, capital goods, fuel and energy rerated activities, downstream transportation of sold products, waste generated in
operations, business fravel, employee commuting, end-of-ife freatment for products sold by CSG, leased assets and investments. During the year we have developed an
updated methodology and FY22 is our baseine for Scope 3 emissions as 1T s not possible to calculate the prior years using the updated methodotogy.

5. we have extended the boundary of our Scope 1, 2 ard 3 errussions to include acquired companies, “he emissions associated with the acquired companigs have not exceeded
our emissions recalcuiation threshold.
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Energy Consumption within the UK

Climate Change/GHG emissions table (kwh) 2023 2022 2021
Methane emissions (utilised) 330,479 389925 422215
Diesel fuel used 554,071,615 457,705,737 3472 316,629
Red diesel used 5,674,083 77179734 71,590,025
Unleaded petrot used | 1236825 643,513 196,097 |
Kerasene used 2,501,887 87499 87542 |
LPG® 3,215,745 3,073,594 3,080,661
Natural gas 9,626,811 2,389,522 9,229,118—‘
HVO 4,593,127 1,670,603 -
Purchased efectricity 108,628,860 108,025,000 81,480,688
Self-supplied electricity 23,101,886 ‘_54,769,481 24,155,151 J
Total 720,841,318 692,934,607 542,558,126 ]

* LPG has been restated to include sites missing from disclosures i the prier penod. Al other disciosures m this able are unaffected.

Comments on the data

1. To calculate the above consumption figures, we used methodology based on the Streamlined Energy Carbon Reporting {' SECR') compiiance scheme.

2. The increase in kiwh aftnibuted to Diesel fuel used 1s due to an increase in fleet size following acquision combined with ‘red dieser usage baing reptaced by white diesel. The
growth of the business through acquisitions has tead 1o an overall Increase in Totar kwh used by the Group.

3 The data reported is energy used within the UK only. No energy is used cffshore. All Biffa’s operotions are UK-bosed,

a. SECR data is audited by Carbon Decoded.

5 E3GS phase 3 gucht due by December 2023

Energy Generation

2023 2022 2021
Generation (GWh) 349 383 336
Carbon benefit (k tonnes COe) 68 81 Q2

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2025 20



Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Biffa Topco Limited Board has ovetall responsibility tor risk management at Biffa, In support of this, risk management is firmly
embedded within our everyday business activities and our culture.

Governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's risk management and internal control systems ore
effective. The Audit Committee supports the Biffa Topco Limited Board in the management of risk and has been delegated with authority
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control processes during the year.

Day-to-day risk management and control is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer supported by the Group Executive Team who
ensure that management provides leadership and direction 1o our workfarce so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk
appetite.

Risk Management Framework
Biffa operates the Three Lines Model” to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship between the
various management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated.

The Internal Audit function assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively. On a guarterly basis, management self-certify
that the key controls within their area of responsibility have been operating effectively. The Internal Audit function independently validate
these results through sample testing.

Risk Appetite

The Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures that we manage risk approprictely across the Group. Health and
safety, investment, legal and regulatory risks are our top priority. Biffo dedicates significant resources and focus to managing and
monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside this.

Management assess the appetite for risk, which the Board has considerad and agreed. The Group categerises these risks into various
areas, including: interest rate risk; inflation risk; commedity risk; currency risk; disposal risk and energy risk. This assessment includes the
exposures and the associated mitigations. This enables Biffa to have informed decision making in line with its risk appetite, ensures
confidence in the response to risks, enables transparency over the principal risks faced and how these are managed.

Risk Management Processes

The Group’s risk management processes are centrally coordinated via a second line risk management function working with an
established network of ‘Risk Partners’ in piace to focilitate updates to risks during the year. The Risk Partners are members of the senior
management teamn and toke a lead role in engaging local management to identify, agree and update risk information on a regular basis.

Wwe use a risk assessment matrix fo ensure that all risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its potential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identify any additional activities, such as further actions, that could be undertaken to
further mitigate the risk.

The Group Executive Tearn engages with the risk management function to review and update principal risks on a cyclical end-to-end
process. Risks are updated individuaily by Group Executive Team members in conjunction with the risk management function on a regular
baosis prior to Group Executive Team meetings. The risks are then assessed and reviewed and then further updated as part of the cycle.
Ownership of each of these risks are assigned to individual members of the team. They are responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
the internal control systems and for implementing risk mitigation plans. The Audit Committee undertakes pericdic reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, and mitigations, as identified and evaluated by management through the above process. The Audit Committee aiso
reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which operates a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Cur risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible, however we cannot eliminate all risks
to the Group. The risk management pracesses can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we have o horizon scanning review process to consider emerging risks. This entails involving key stakeholders,
including members of the Group Executive Team and external third parties, in the identification of emerging risks along set timelines,
collating the information, reviewing and considering in-depth analysis and then creating a risk radar to illustrate the relative fime horizons
and assessments.

This enables us to engage in a systematic examination of information to identify potential threats, risks, emerging issues and
opportunities, These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team, the Biffa Topco Limited Board and the Audit Committee, and
include risks relating to future environmental, social and governance challenges, funding the fransition to a greener environment,
technolegical changes and the use of alternative fuels.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk movement

Risk level

o Increasing @ Stable

Changes in
Government policy
and legal and
regulatory
compliance

Risk movement and
level

0 High risk level

Risk impact
Reputational
Regulatory
Financial

Strategic/
competitive threat
to business model

Risk movement and
level

e

Risk impact
Reputatianal
Regulatory
Financial

Medium risk level

The Group operates in a highiy
regulated industry and any
changes ro Government policy,
requirements with, or failure by our
staff or third parties who we do
business with 1o comply with laws
or regulations ar 1o uphald our high
ethical standards could have an
adverse impact on the Group’s
operations and results.

The Group was awarded the
logistics contract for the Deposir
Return Scheme (DRS) in Scotland.
It had otiginally been planned to
commence in August 2023 but this
has been cancelled. Managemeant
remain optimistic that Biffa can
secure equivalent DRS contracrs ar
a larer date.

A key industry area of risk is
fandfill tax compliance, in
particular the misclassification of
waste causing the incorrect rate of
tandfill tax to be paid. Histaricaily,
the Group has made a number of
material payments to HMRC due
to what HMRC perceive to be hon-
compliance with landfill tax
guidance.

The current landfill tax enquiry to
arise poses a significant financial
risk to the business, given the scale
of the protective assessments
issued by HMRC.

There remains a high level of
uncertainty around the final
outcome of this enguiry.

o Decreasing Low

Medium High

Experienced and gualified teams,
supported by external odvisers
where necessary, that monitor
changes and plan appropriate
mitigations and set policies and
procedures

Representation on the
Environmental Services
Assaciation and other external
badies; liaison with policy-makers
and Regulators at notional and
local levels; responses to
Government /regulatory
consultations and sustainability
reporting.

Environmental compliance strategy
in place including annually
reviewed targets and actions ot
iocal, divisional and Group levels.

Established compliance policy and
procedures are in place to manage
other regulatory compliance risks,
such as landfill tax, bribery, data
protection, madern sigvery,
competition and vehicle operating
licences.

Industry leader in raising
awareness of modern slavery risk
and founding member of the
Slovery Free Alliance.

Training for staff on o range of
complionce topics including londfill
rax procedures, modern slavery,
anti-bribery, data protection and
competition.

The Group has mitigations in place
to recover some of the committed
expenditure incurred on DRS. An
insurance policy is also in place to
reimburse the Group for some of
the costs not recovered through
the mitigating octions above.

We are working closely with stakeholders
to maintain our presence in the DRS
scherne structure and have retoined legal
advisors to support.

We continue fo fully co-operate with HMRC
in relation 1o the ongeing loadfill tax
enguiry and are receiving advice from
Ernst & Young.

Marke? disruption from the
applicatien of new rechnology and
the advent of new business models
could change the waste supply
chain and adversely impact Biffa’s
established operating asset base
of a traditional cellection network
and processing facilities.

Interncl busifess Innovation
Special Interest Group focuses an
market developments and acls as
an incubator for ideas and new
business models.

Confinual competitor analysis o
cansider threats and changes 1o
the landscape.

Annual strategy review 10 ensure
that Biffa business mode| remains
current and competitive.

Ongoing investment in and
improvement of the customer
experience through digitisation,
improved processes and
management information.

The business strategy was updated and
approved by the board aligned with the
5YP,

The Inncvation Special Interest Group
continued with good representation from
the business and covering a large number
of disruptive fopics.

Adoption of the My Biffa digital customer
platform has continued alongside the
establishment of a dedicated digital team.

A number of external events were affended
and projects with key partners
impiemented to extend gur innovation
network.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategic
initiatives

Risk movement and
level

S

Risk impact
Financial
Operational

High risk level

Failure 1o deliver strategic
initictives, such as energy recovery
facilities ond business
transformation, acquisition
integrations, commercial projects
and system implementations.
Business transformation is focused
on our products and services, how
they are sold and delivered, the
technology used nned the wnline
services offered to customers.

The key M&A risks are not being
able to find and secure suitable
targets and risks and issues that
arise post completion, that impact
on the investment cose.

As with any such projects, there
are risks that the project fails to
deliver the anticipated
improverments and/or benefits far
the budgeted investment,
adversely impacting reputation
and operating results.

Board and Group Executive Team
sponsorship and leadership.

Selected software is a proven ‘off the
shelf” product.

Dedicated programme team and
change network in place, with
experienced resources

Post-investment reviews of oll
projects.

Proven ERF technology, with
substantial UK and worldwide
reference plants.

Limited recourse project structure.

Due difigence undertaken for all M&A
transactions, including use of
external advisers depending on
target value and complexity. A
stundardised approach using an
established valuation model is in
place with all transaction

reviewed /approved by the
Investment Committee and (where
appropriate) the Board.

Dedicoted corporate finance
expertise in place, who together with
experienced Biffa subject matter
experts act as senior stakeholders
for the acquisition process and help
drive oppaortunities through the
pipeline.

The HR and payroll solution has been built
and completed functional testing and will
be ready to implement in The coming

financial year following extensive festing.

The Finance and Precurement Andlysis and
Design phase was compileted and signed
off enabling the build of the solution to
commence ond the timeline and budget for
the seiution to be refined.

The Sales and Service workstream was
mobilised and has now entered an initial
discovery phase.

At the year end date Newhurst remained on
target to reach fuli cperations in line with
plan. The site became fully operationatl in
May 2023 and is performing in lIne with
expectations.

Protos construction has been impacted by
the availobility of steel following the
Russian invasion of Ukraine - mitigation
and contingency measures employed.

JV Steerco meetings held monthly to review
progress ond agree actions.

Completed 3 acquisitions in the year; Forge
(I&C, share purchase), DJB (I&C, trade and
assets) and Total Recycling Services
(Industrial Services, share purchase)

Long-term
contracts and
tendering

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial
Reputational
Operationat

Medium risk level

The Group is expased to risks
inherent in long-term fixed-price
contracts, in particular inits
Municipal business and Rescources
& Energy division and related
operations.

Risks include inaccurate long-term
cost estimates due to changes in
the external operafing environment
and market dynamics that lead to
material devigticns from initial
underlying assumptions

Group Delegated Authorities Policy
for the review /approval of bids by
senior management, Iavestment
Committee and the Board.

Marerial bids are compiled by
dedicoted development reams with
significant expertise and experience.

Protection from change of law or
force majeure for unforeseen
circumstances is agreed in contracts,
where possible.

A confract risk framework is in place
to identify key commercial/legal
risks and confirm through the
governance pracess that these have
been considered and mitigated.

we are moving gradually the risk profile
with customers {particularly around labour)
as and when contracts come up for re-bid
or extension. A more tfransparent pass-
through concept is starting to emerge
although this will obviously take time to
become fully embedded.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Health & safety

Risk movement and
level

©M

Risk impact
Reputational
Regulatory

edium risk level

Biffa’s operations present inherent
H&S risks To our employees, our
customers and the wider public.

Violations of H&S laws /requlations
could have o material odverse
effect on Biffa’s business and
reputation

Group H&S Director reports to the
CEO.

Active and regular engagement by
senior management including weekly
reporting and calls with the Graup
Executive Team.

inclusion of H&S targets and
objectives within Group Balanced
Business Plans with one of the five
pillars being “Safer Together’.

Embedded policies, standards and
procedures in place across Biffa for
the systematic confrol of significant
HE&S risks.

Primary authority relationship with
Hampshire & Isle of Wight Fire and
Rescue Service enables access 1o

advice and counsef on fire risk issues.

Maintdined management system
certification of ISO 45001:2018.

Investment in EcoOnline for incident
management, audit & inspection, and sk
management.

Company-wide adoption of TOPSET
methodology for incident investigations
generating increasingly useful root cause
analysis.

Full review of all fire risk assessments for
every property in the Biffa portfalio.

Restructured H&S leadership team with
enhanced assurance and project
management focus.

Intraduction of Deep Dive assurance
reviews loaking at key risk {Fire, Machinery
and Pedestrian safety in FY23).

Development of suite of ‘learming from
incidents’ materials including new Group
standard and video ‘lessons’ sharing
learning from key incidents.

New processes for collection point risk
assessments for [&C to minimisa risks to
drivers and customers.

Extensive development programrme for H&S
team including 1IRSM Risk Managerment
and NEBOSH Process Safety.

Business
continuity, cyber
security and IT
resilience

Risk movement and
fevel

(<

Risk impact
Financial
Reputational
Cperational

High risk level

A significant disrupticn to Bitfa's
infrastructure, including IT
systems, could petentially have an
impact on the activity of the
Group’s customers, such as
increased billing times,
interrupticns to collection
operations and processing
logistics, and acdditional costs.

Additienally, the Thefr, loss,
destruction, misappropriation, or
release of sensitive and/or
confidential information could
result in business disruption, dara
protection breach, negative
publicity or brand damage.

Crisis management and emergency
response plans in place for key sites
and operations.

Server infrastructure supporting key
IT services hosted in Microsoft Azure
Cloud providing resiience, failover
and backup services.

180 27001 and Cyber Essentials Fius
certification in place.

Intrusion detection in place and o
cleud-based 'always on' security
service provided by Microsoft
protecting against key cyber threats.

Established data protection policy
and procedures to ensure
compliance.

Regular 1T security update provided fo the
board.

1T security dashboard developed and in
place.

A number of IT security fraining and
interventions delivered.

Some additional security measures and
features implemented for board and
executive members.

Microsoft Secure score improved by 27%

Transition to mare comprehensive Mylti
Factor Authentication.

Attraction and
retention of talent

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial
Operational

Medium risk fevei

The inability To source and retain
appropriately priced and skilled
lakxour 1o maintain competitive
advantoge, could hove o mareriol
adverse effect on Biffa’s business
resulis, operations, financial
condition and prospects.

ongoing review of the recruitment
and retention of key workers such as
drivers.

Benefits appropriate and
compardble o market.

Talent and management
development programmes deployed
at senior levels and progressively 1o
ather levels going forward.

Foundation Living Wage now minimum pay
fevel in Biffa (excluding CSG).

Driver aftriton hos reduced to pre-
pandemic levels, recruitment process
improved utilising internal recruitment feam
for drivers.

Job families implemented for staff rofes
and pay adjustments made to ensure
comparable to market.

Family friendly benefits improved.

Graduate programme introduced.

Advanced Leadership Programme (ALP)
conmnnues.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Commodities
market and
pricing volatility

Risk movement and
level

@ Madium rizk lovel

Risk impact
Fimancial
Operational

Biffa produces significant volumes
of recycled commadities for resale.
Commodities produced include
various paper grades, card,
plastics, and ferrous and non-
ferrous metols.

In addition, Biffa generates power
fram renewable sources and
changes 1o electricity export prices
impact revenues and profits
achieved.

Markets for these recyclate
products have individual supply
ond demand dynamics impacting
both price and availability of off-
take.

Ongoing monitoring and
improvements to product guality
within recycling processes.

Off-taker strategy 1o limit
dependency, where able, on non-
QECD markets.

Commadity price risk sharing within
long term commercial contracts.

Power price hedging policy in place,
which is regularly reviewed.

Route to market Power Purchase
Agreement with rop tier off-raker
gives offtake certainty and credit
worthiness.

OCC sales in particular moved to QECD
markets with Turkey now a major off-taker,

we have continued our progress with 75%
of LA contracts now on commodity risk
share.

Power hedging is reviewed monthly by the
Energy Working Group.

PPAs in place for power supply up to end of
FY26

Finance
availability/
investment

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial

Low risk level

If the Group were to not maintain
adeguate cash balances, the
Group would be unable to pay
suppliers, payroll and other
creditors in o timealy manner or on
agreed terms, This could resulf in
delays or ceasing of operations,
both of which could lead to
reputational domage and a
deterioration in financial
performance.

If the Group were to fail to comply
with any of the financial or non-
financial covenants in its credit
facilities (due, for example, to
increasing inferest rates and a
deterioration in fingncial
performance), it could result ina
default and the acceleration of The
Group's obligations to repay those
borrowings, increased borrowing
costs or cancellation of certain
credit facilities.

Underperformance, ¢ large one-off
cash outflow or unfavourcble
interest rate movements would all
increase the risk of o covenant
breach.

Significant and flexible bank funding
facility with substantiol headroom to
enabie the Group o progress
strategic priorities and
accommodate any downside
performance risk. As at the end of
the year, the Group held a cash
balance of £40.8m,

£225m revolving credit facility ('RCF")
expiring in March 2026 held by the
Company's immediate parent. As ot
the end of the year, £102m of the
facility was undrown. Drawdowns can
be requested and processed at short
notice if the need arises.

In addition to the bank funding
facility, the Group has over £50m of
undrawn asset financing facilities,
although these are uncommitted.

Ongoing monitoring of financial and
non-financial covenants with regular
updates to the Board.

Incorporate cash performance and
funding requirement considerations
into budgeting anc forecasting
DrOCesses.

Consider the impact on covenants
when making key strategic decisions
on acquisitions, disposals and capital
expenditure.

Ongoing monitoring of the starus of
the HMRC landfill tax enquiry with
regular updates 1o the Biffa Topco
Limited Board.

The Group has significant headroom
on the lending covenants and intends
to maintain high levels of headroom
going forward. This, combined with
the flexibility in the business model,
enables the Group fo mitigate any
financial risks that marerialise.

The Company's debt was partially
restructured when ECP’s takeover was
completed. With regards to flexible
focilities, the existing £350m RCF held by
the Compuany was replaced with a £225m
RCF held by its immediate parent. On 23
May 2023 the facility was increased again
to €325m. Refer to Note 23 and Note 34 for
more information on the wider debt
restrucTure.

Increosed debt levels and rising interest
ratres have reduced the headroom on the
Group’s lending covenants, particularly
interest caver.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Economic
environment

Risk movement and
level

@ High risk level

Risk impact
Financial

Economic conditions in the UK
may have an adverse impact on
the Group's operarional and
financial performance.

The Group exposure includes:

» Poiitical, social and
macroecenomic risks rekafing to
the UK's exit from the EU.

< Any economic weakness that
lecds to reduced voiumes of waste
and recyclate.

« A deterioratian in
macroeconomic conditions
resulting in incregsed pricing
pressure and customer turnover
- Rising interest rates resulting in
increased cost of borrowing,
reducing the headroom an the
Group’s lending covenants,
particularly interest cover

* Supply chain disruption, longer
lead fimes and price inflation.

The Group hads revenues and costs
that are impacted by the value of
Sterling relative fo key currencies
such as the US Dollar or the Eura.
This provides some degree of offset
and natural hedge.

To improve short-term earnings
visibility and reduce the susceptibility
of financial performance to price
fluctuations, the Group entars inta
forward contracts for

- The sale of electricity
= Short-term currency exposures
+ The purchase of fuel

Biffa provides services 1o customers
in the public and private sectors right
across the UK econamy. The breadth
of customers offers a degree of
protection against economic
pressures that may affect specific
markets ond industries,

The Group has access 1o g Revolving
Credit Facility with a number of
relationship banks which provides
additional sources of funding. Cosh
and liguidity levels are regularly
monitared to ensure the Group can
meet its obligations and strategic
objectives.

The Group continues to manitor this risk,
specifically the impact of increasing
interast rotes, inflotionary pressures ond
supply chain constraints, and remains
confident that existing mitigations enable
the impact of any weakening conditions to
be minimised.
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Non-Financial Information Statement

The Non-Financial Reporting Requirements set out in the Act are addressed in the statement below.

How we monitor the effectiveness of the policies

Muain policies and standards which govern our approach

Environmental information
Environment, sustainability and carbon policy

Protection of the environment and the climate is o cornerstone of
Biffa's business. It is underpinned by our Vision and Purpose to be
the leader in UK susiuiuble waste management and to change the
way people think about waste. It is delivered by our sustainability
and operctional environmental compliance strategies, Biffa is
committed to its complionce obligations as well as promoting high
standards of environmental, sustainability, carbon and energy
management at all our workplaces, and in all our activities.

+« Colleagues
»  Whistleblowing policy

The Group has a long-established whistiehiowing policy by which all
employees may, in confidence, report any concerns that the interests
of the Company or others are at risk.

+  Diversity and inclusion policy

Our Diversity Policy is designed to provide equal opportunities in
employment and to avoid unlawful discrimination.

8iffa will not discriminate directly or indirectly in our recruitment,
empioyment and post-emplayment practices because of age,
disability, sex, gender reossignment, pregnancy, maternity, race
(which includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins),
sexual orientation, religion or belief, or because someoene is married
or in a civil partnership.

Health, safety and wellbeing policy

. Health, safety and wellbeing is the highest priority within the
business and Biffa is committed to monitoring and reviewing
performance on o regular and ongoing basis. Our goal is to
keep our people, our customers and the public safe through
effective leadership and risk management, promoting high
standards of heclth, safety & wellbeing in the workplace and in
all our activities.

+  Social matters

+ Sustainable procurement policy

. Biffa is o significant purchaser of goods and services. This
requires us to ensure our procurement practices are not only
responsible, but also environmentally, economically, and
ethically sound.

Responsibility for environmental compliance sits with the Board.
Qur Environmental, Sustainakility and H&S teams werk tegether
across the business ensuring we meet our compliance obligations
by monitoring, evaluating, auditing, coaching and training.

We report on our progress against our sustainability strategy
targets annually in our Sustainability Report.

All whistleblowing reports are entered in the Group Whistleblowing
Register and are thoroughly investigated.

The output of an investigaticn is typically reviewed by the Group
HR Director, General Counsel and Company Secretary and other
senior leaders as appropriate, dependent on the nature of the
complaint.

The Audit Committee monitors the Group’s whistleblowing policy
and arrangements.

Every employee is required to assist us to meet our commitment to
provide equal opportunities in employment and avoid unlawful
discrimination.

we have manager guidelines for diversity, helping them to consider
diversity/equal opportunity obligations. Managers are also advised
to make reascnabie adjustments to our standard working practices
to cvercome barriers caused by disability and we hove a Flexible
working Policy in place to support requests for variations to
standard working practices.

Employees are expected 10 report and discuss heclth, safety and
wellbeing matters with their managers, and Group Health & Safety
business partners who will offer or obtain further expert advice,
where necessary,

Employees are encouraged to contribute good ideas and
improvements and report any shortfalls so management can make
informed decisions and improve standards across the business.
we monitor performance through our LTI rate and have < target in
place to reduce lost time injuries by 50% by 2030 from our 2019
baseline.

8iffa works with key stakeholders both within the business and
externally in order fo share best practice, identify new
opportunities and deliver programmes that premote our aims for
sustaincble procurement,

Performance is monitored and recorded, and key performance
measures such as carbon emissions reductions are regularly
reported,
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Non-Financial Information Statement

Social matters continued

Suppliers - social responsibility and ethical standards
Our suppliers of goods and services must comply with all relevant

legisiation and international stendards inciuding trading policy, child
and forced labeur, health and safety of workers, non-discrimination,

employment law, human rights, bribery and carruptior. We procure
under the Code of Ethics of the Chartered Institute of Purchasing
and Supply.

. Corporote responsibility policy

Our corporate responsibility framework encompasses our people,
health, safety & wellbeing, communities, the environment,
marketplace, relationships with stakeholders and commitment to
business ethics and conduct.

Employee volunteering policy and procedure

Biffa recognises that facilitating the voluntary invelverment of our
employees in community-based projects con result in o range of
pasitive outcomes.

Biffa will grant one day’s paid leave per annum, in line with an

employee’s contracted hours, to eligible employees to get involved in

team veluntearing opportunities within our local communities and
environmental-based projects.

. Human rights

. Modern slavery and human trafficking policy

The policy sets out the measures, systems and procedures which
Biffa employs to minimise the opportunity for modern slavery and
human trafficking taking place within the Group and within our
supply chain.

. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

«  Anti-bribery and gifts ond hospitality policies

Our policies set out the standards that are expected of anyone
working at Biffa, and third parties working with Biffa. They include
the requirements an giving ond receiving business gifts and
hospitality.

We have a social responsibility 1o our suppliers. When proslems
arise with a supplier’s performance, we work with the company
concerned to help them to meet reguirements,

we wiil be fair and lawful in our dealings but avoid any conduct
which could be counteractive to our corporate social responsibility
and ethical standards. we reserve the right to discontinue business
with suppliers who do not comply with our reguirements in this
area.

Our standard trading terms with suppliers are 60 days. This has
been the policy since May 2008 and is applicable to all existing and
new suppliers alike.

We are committed fo complying with our permits as well as
promating high standards on all of our sites, premises, and in alf of
our activities.

Qur Group Executive Team is responsible for the delivery of the
policy at a business level, with oversight and direction from the
Biffa Topco Limited Board. Its success is measured through our
sustainability KPIs, which frack our performance across three key
areas (building a circular economy, tackling climate change ond
caring for our people, supporting cur communities), enabling us to
deliver against cur responsible business objectives,

Managers are respensible for assessing loca! operational needs
and proposed volunteering activity, taking into account the
benefits To both the employee and to Biffa.

Managers will also consider personal development and where
appropriate, volunteering may be offered as one of the methods of
meeting development needs.

Biffa conducts risk assessments across its activities and supply
chain in order to identify any areg of its operations that might
represent higher potential risks for slavery or human trafficking to
occur.

Biffa works with specific recruitment agencies and labour
resourcing partners who are equally committed to ensuring the
work enviranment is free of slavery and human trafficking.

All Biffa colleagues and managed service providers have regular
mestings with onsite account managers where we discuss their
actions regarding the prevention of modern siavery. Itis a standing
item on monthly business meeting agendas and guarterly businass
reviews. Labour providers also give biweekly updartes on any
activity of concern.

we produce an annual modern slavery statement, which the Biffa
Topto Limited Board reviews and approves.

Biffa enforces a strict prohibition against the giving, receiving,
offer, acceptance, payment or authorisation of any bribes, and alsa
against any other form of corruption.

We glso demand transparency and integrity in all cur business
dedalings, to avoid any improper advantage, or the appearance of
questionabie conduct by our employees or third parties with whom
we do business.

Any instances of potential or actual non-compliance with these
policies are fully investigated and reported to the Audit Committee.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the consolidated financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023.
This Directors' Report sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company in compliance with the Companies Act 2006 {‘the
Act?).

Directors

The Directors whe served during the period and up to the date of signing were:

M Topham

S Prrsone (appointed on 31 March 2023)

R Pike (resigned on 31 March 2023)

C Chesney (resigned on 26 January 2023)

K Lever (resigned on 26 January 2023)

D Martin (resigned on 26 January 2023)

C Miles (resigned on 26 January 2023)

L Morant (resigned on 26 January 2023}

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Directors and officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnified subject o
the provisions of the Act. In addition, the Group maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Neither the Company’s
indemnity nor insurance covers claims arising frorm dishonesty or fraud.

Branches
The Company does not have any branches ocutside the UK.
Company Registration

Biffa Limited is @ private company limited by shares and is incorporated in England and Wales with company number 10336040 and
registered address Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ.

Engagement with employees
The Compeany puts employee engagement at the heart of its people strategy and plans, as detailed in the Strategic Report.
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes and abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made 10 ensure that their employment with the Company
continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development and promotion
of discbled persons shouid, as far as possible, be identical with that of other employees.

Dividend
The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 6.89p).
External Auditor

So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant information of which the external auditor (Deloitte LLP) is unaware. Each Director has
taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that Deloitte LLP are aware of that information.

The quditors, Delnitte LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Act.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group reports its UK Greenhouse gas (‘GHG’) Emissions and Energy Use Data, Energy Consumption in the UK and Energy Generation
data within Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting section on pages 19 to 20.

Financial Risk Management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk}, credit risk and liguidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.
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Post Balance Sheet Events

In April 2023 the Group acquired the entire issued share copital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share capiftal of Esterform
Packaging Limited. These businesses will form part of the Polymers business in the Resources & Energy division,

A restructure of the Group’s debt became effective on 23 May 2023, with the following changes:

- Term loans increased from £100m on 31 March 2023 to £235m
- Ralling credit facility increased from £225m on 31 March 2023 to £325m
- Private placements decreased from £345m on 31 March 2023 to £260m

On 7 June 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain commined to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it
would be delayed until October 2025 at the earliest. An announcement had been made previously on 18 April 2023 that the start date of
the scheme would be delayed from August 2023 to March 2024. Circularity Scotland Limited (‘'CSL), the scheme administrator, entered
administration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and was therefore unable fo meet its contractual obligations 1o 8iffa and
other parties. The Joint Administratars’ Proposais were released on 28 July 2023, indicating that at best Biffa would receive an
immaterial portion of the total amount due from CSL.

In May and June 2023, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 29. Ar 31 March 2023, the total liability was £17.8m. The remaining £10.0m is expected fo be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025.

Refer to Note 34 fo the financial statements for more information.
Looking to the future

We have o well defined and ambitious investment plan that will see us confinue 1o grow the business over the coming years. The
foundations are in place to enable us to do so, whilst retaining the balance between changing the way people think about waste,
sustainability and delivering strong financial performance. The UK Government’s ambifion 1o move to a circular economy is also expected
to provide further opportunities to support our growth,

On behalf of the Board.
Michael Topham
Director

Biffa Limited

Registered in Engiand and Wgales No. 10336040
11 September 2023
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law reguires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors are required to
prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial stotements alse comply with the IFRSs as
issued by the IASB and gs adopted by the UK.

The Directors have alsg chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the Financicl Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, Under company law, the Directors must net approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of their profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

*  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

»  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

s  Stote whether the Financial Reporting Stondard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject 1o any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

»  Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

. In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Direcrors:

. Properly select and apply accounting policies.

«  Present informatian, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information.

»  Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS Standards are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance.

«  Make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enabie them fo
ensure that their financial statements comply with the Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of froud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporcte ond financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

. the financial statements of Biffa Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state
of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31/03/2023 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

. the group financial statements have been properly prepored in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international occounting
standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB);

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

. the financiol statements have been prepored in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

- We have qudited the financial statements which comprise:

. the consolidated income statement;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

. the consolidated and parent company statement of financial position;
- the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
. the consolidated statement of cash flows; and

. the related notes 1 to 34.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law, United
Kingdom adopted internctional Gecounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The financial reporting framework that has bieen
applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disciosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

we are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate fo provide a basis for our opinion,

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financia!l statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group's and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

. held discussions with management to understand the Group's process in respect of its going concern assessment;

. reviewed the reasonableness of assumptions applied by management in preparing its FY24 budget and 5-year plan;

. perfarmed an analysis on the Group’s results against budget to assess historical accuracy;

. assessed the level of headroom available to the Group from its loan facilities and evaluated the risk of breaching covenants;

. challenged management’s reasonable worst-case analysis and whether it is appropriately plausible but severe, and performed
sensitivify anclysis on key variables;

e assessed the appropriateness of considerations and assumptions regarding the impact of the HMRC landfill tax enguiry and the
Group's ability to settle o potential liability in the going concern period;

. evaiuated the odditional external funding facilities accessible to the Group;
. obtained and performed analysis on post year end results and benchmarked this against management’s forecasts;

. assessed the disclosure in Note 1 to the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to adopt the
going coancern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements; and

. assessed the going concern impact of the debt restructure disclosed in the post balance sheet events Note 34.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any matenial uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ablility fo continue as a going concemn for o period of at
least twelve rmonths from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report

Other information

The ather information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon, The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the ather information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the oudit, or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated. If we
identify such matenal Inconsistencies or dpparent material misstatements, we are reqguired to determine whether this gives rise ro a
material misstaternent in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is n
material misstatement nf this other inforrmation, we wie required 1o report thar facr

We have nothing fo report in this regaord.

Respansibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give o true and fair view, and for such internai controt as the directors determine 1s necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability ro continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, maotters related to gaing concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess the
directors erther intend to liguidate the group or the parent company cr to cease operations, or have no realistic alrernative but to do so

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectivas are to obrain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from moterial
misstatement, whether due to froud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Regsonable gssurance s a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee thot on audit conducted in occordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a matericl
misstatement when it exists. Misstaternents can arise from fraud or errer and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financicl statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the oudit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website ot
www. fre org uk /auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report,

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irreqularities, including fraud

[rreguiarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. wWe design procedures in line with our
responsigilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detaiied below.

Wwe considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regutations, We also enguired of management, internal audit, those
charged with Governcnce ond the directors ahout their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those thar
are specific to the groug’s business sector,

we obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and
regulations that

. had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, These included UK
Companies Act, pensions legislation and tax leqislation in all relevant jurisdictions where the Group operates; and

- do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental 1o the group's ability to
operate or to avoid a material penalty These included the landfill tox regulcrtions and the Envircnment Act 2021

We discussed among the audit engagement tegm ncluding relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions, IT and valuotion specialists
regarding the opportunities ond incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud ond how and where froud might occur in the
financial statements.,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

As o result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures parforved o
address them are descned below:

. Impairment of Company Shop Group Goodwill wWe considered the reasonableness of the model (drawing on input from speciabists i
FY22 as the model was unchanged), involved vaiuation specialists in determining reosonable ranges for discount rate and long ferm
growth rate, evaluared reveriue growth and gross margin, as well as assessing the relevant disclosures in Notes 1 & 9

B Completeness of Municipal Onerous contracts: we obtained an understanding of relevant controls in place to identify contracts winch
may pe onerous and determine whether the patential liability is approprinrely accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements
we also assessed the contract Terms for contracts with lower margins, assessed forecast assumptions around inflation & wagas, and
analysed forecast future performance against historical contract results, and where approprigie, bridged any expected improveiment
i performance to specific one-off events In the year and considered whether they would reoccur. Finally, we assessed the disclosures
i Note 18 to evaluate whether it is in accordance with the requirements of IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabililies, and Contingent
Assets”;

- Landfill Accaunting: We pinpomnted the fraud risk to certain gross cost estmates on higher risk sites, therefore our response focused
on assessing and challenging the underlying data and key judgements used in determining the provision. Specific considerarions were
pod to long-term energy prices, included as part of our assessment of gross cost estimates for higher risk sites. Furthermore, we
performed on assessment of the reasonableness of the gross cost estimates used by maonagement, by performing o refrospecrive
review of the costs incurred in comparison 10 those originally estimared

E HMRC landfilt tax inquiry: We obtained an understanding of the assurnotions and the estimation process for tax provisioning. We
engaged internal forensic speciatists to evaluate the scope and findings of the Graup’s internat analysis whicn was tselt supported by
legal and forensic odvisers. We also involved internal tax specialists in understanding the requirements of LFT1, the application by the
Group, analogous legal precedent and potential exposure. we assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the legul urict
forensic advisers used in the Group’s investigation;

For completeness, we reviewed correspondence between the Group, HMRC and the Group's external legal advisers and obtained direcr
correspondence from and made direct inquiries of the Group’s external legal adviser with regard to the status of claims fo date and therr
views. When making direct inguiries of HMRC, we sought to understand the status of their investigation and to corroborate areas of inquiry
as the investigation progresses. Additionally, we brought additional resource onto the team, including at partner and director level, who
supperted in challenging the findings arising from the Group's investigation, in particular in relation 1o the complefeness and gccuracy of
provisions and contingent liabilities arising from the Group’s internad andlysis, We evalucted the completeness ot the provisions and
contingent liabilities through review of board minutes and board correspondence, infernal audit reports and other supporting and
confradictory evidence. Lastly, we also challenged the appropriateness of the disclosures included in the financial statements relaning o
The mvestigation and chalienged management and the directors on the impact on the completeness of their going concern assessment
and disclosure reloting to this matter,

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond 1o the risk of management
override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management averride of confrols, we fested the appropriateness of journct entries ano
other adjustments; ossessed wherher the judgements made in moking aoccounting estimates are indicotive of o potenticl bias; and
evaluared the business rationale of any significant rransactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business

In addition to the above, sur procedures ta respond 10 the risks identified included the following:
- reviewing finuncial statement disclosures by festing to supporting documentation o assess compliance with provisions ot relevant

laws and regulations described as having a direct etfect on the financial statements;

. performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due 1o froud;

- anguiring of management, internal gudit and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential fitigation and clams, and
nstances of non-compliance with laws and regulations, and

> reading mmnutes of meetings of thase charged with governance, reviewing internat audit reparts and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the oudit:

«  the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

»  the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our epinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

we have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act 2006, Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required fro state to them inan
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the cormpany and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this repert, or for the opinions we have formed.

DacuSigned by:

JPAFAOSE393B4 /A

Peter Gallimore, FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Birmingham, United Kingdom

11 September 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

! Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
[ 31 March 2023 25 March 2022
| £m £fm
Continuing operations |
Revenue 2 1,804 144352
e
Cost of sales ! (1,574.6) 11,351.5)
“Gross profit T 0 o I wss | 9is
Operafing costs - 4 (90.0)
Impairments 11 {9.1)
Operating profit / (loss) 6.7
[ Finance ncome ) o - 3 6.7
Finance costs 3 (29.5)
Share of results in join'r_\_/emures and associares 28 1.0
| Loss bafore taxation ’ - (151 |
Taxarion ) AN 7 1.6)
Loss for the period (16.7)
R (16.7)
Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company ___

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

T Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m

Loss for the period ’#——(13_7)—_1__—(“1%7
|>0ther comprehensive incornte —_l
Eié:ﬁ that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: N ]

Actuariai floss) / gain on defined benefit pension scheme 25_l (82.5) B 48.7

Tox relating fo irems that will not be reclussified subsequently to profit or loss 7 20.6 15 0)

1.9 5357
| Items that may be reclassified subsequently 1o profit or loss: I o

Gain on fair value of cash flow hedges:

Fair value (loss) / gain ansing on hedging instruments 16 ‘ 10 150 |
[ Tax refating fo items fhat may be reclassified su—bsequenrly to profit or lass T 7 r 2.4 (2.2)
| et gaun on cash flow hedges in joint ventures and associares (net of tax) I 28 19.8 T

113 T3]
OTher comprenensive (Ioss) 7 income for The period. net of income Tax Toe | sou
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the pericd (67.3) 32.4
(07.3) 524 ]
Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill G 2918 264.3
Investments in joint ventures and associotes 7R £1.7 249.4
Uther infangible assetfs 10 206.6 2229
Property, plant and equipment 11 654.6 6172
Leng-term receivableg 13 25 23
Loans to jeint ventures 16 20.2 143
Derivative financial instruments 16 0.9 7.7
Retirement benefit surplus 25 95.1 166.1
1,3356 1,524.2
Current assets
Inventaries 12 435 35.2
Contract assets 14 62.5 71.8
Trade and other receivables 13 2179 207.6
Financial assets 16 14.4 16.3
Derivative financial instruments 16 - 4.0
Cash and cash equivalents 15 41.3 40.8
379.6 3577
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 24 {55.1) (53283
Borrowings 16 {351.3) -
Trade and other payobles 17 {349.2) (340.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration 16 (3.1) (4.2)
Contfract liabilities 14 279 (271
Derivative financial instruments 16 {04 0.2y
Provisions 18 (20.0) (20.3)
(807.0) (446.3)
Net current liabilities (427.4) (70.6)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 {81.5) (368.3)
Lease liabilities 24 (228.4) {222.5)
Trade and other payabies 17 {5.6) (6.6)
Deferred consideration 16 (2.8) 3.0
Provisions 18 (164.5) (137.4)
Deferred tax liability 19 (12.4) (325)
{495.2) (770.3)
Net assets 411.0 483.3
21
Equity
Called up share capital 31 31
Share premium 252.2 247.6
Hedging reserve 21.2 9.9
Merger reserve 170.3 170.3
Retained earnings 22 (35.8) 52.4
Total equity attributagble to shareholders 411.0 4833

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed on its

behalf by:
Michael Topham
Directar

PR I |
ooty an
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

As at 26 March 2021
Loss for the period

Called up
share
capital
{Note 21)

Shore Hedging Merger Retained Total
premium reserve reserve earnings equity
(Niote 21) {Note 21) {(Note 21) (Note 22) £&m

£m £m £m
| 170.3

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Exercise of share opticns

N
Shares purchased by employee benefits frust -
Value of employee service in respect of share option

schemes (excluding NICs) -
Dividends paid (Note 33) -
As at 25 March 2022 3.1

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive income / (loss)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period
Exercise of share options
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust

Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs)

Dividends paid (Note 333
As at 31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 (8.3)
Share-based payments 20 4.7 37
Amortisation of intangibles 10 293 30.7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 108.0 94,9
Impairment of assets 9, 11 9.1 25.0
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 4 (2.3) (6.2)
EVP related items - 20.8
Pension deficit payments (8.6) 4.2
Incredse in inventories (8.3) (12.2)
Decrease / (increase) in receivables RB (72.7)
{Lecrease) / increase in payables {4.7) 52.8
Decrease / {increase) in fingncial assets 0.9 (3.4)
(Decrease) / increase in provisions 23.1 13.7
Net cash from operating activities 166.7 144.6
Inceme tax received / (paid) 0.4 (0.3)
Net cash flows from operating activities 167.1 144.3
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (79.3) (67.2)
Purchases of intangible assets [$)] (2.1)
Funds on long-term deposit (0.2) -
Business combinations 8 (37.5) (135.8)
Cash acquired from business combinations 8 4.3 14.2
Deferred consideration (3.6} (.2
Investment in joint ventures ond associates (117} (17.5)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plont and equipment 5.2 6.9
Loan to joint venture (4.6) (7.5)
Interest received 0.5 -
Net cash flows from investing activities (128.6) €210.2}
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (24.1) (19.3)
Employee share scheme purchase (1.5) (3.6)
Exercise of share options 4.6 0.6
New loans raised 23 725 3450 |
Repayment of borrowings 23 (13.4) (191.1)
Cash flow on settlement of derivatives - 4.1
Lease ligbilities principcl payments 23 (61.8) (53.1)
Dividends paid ) 23 (14.35) (6.7
Net cash flows from financing activities (38.0) 75.9
Q.5 10.0
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents gt the beginning of the peried 40.8 30.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period is 41.3 40.8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting poticies

General Information

Biffa Limited (the ‘Company” is a private compary limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and is the parent company of the

Biffa Group (the ‘Group”). The address of the Company's registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 i
3TZ. The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste manogement services in the United Kingdom.

Basis of accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Act and International Fingncial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial starements aiso comply with the IFRSs as issued
by the IASB and as adopted by the UK. The comparative financial information has also been prepared on this basis.

The consalidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the recording of pension assets and ligbilities,
share-based payments and the revaluation of certain derivative financicl instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cast is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods ond services. Fair value is the price that would be received re sell an asset or paid o transfer o liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. '

These financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling ('GBP") and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m. The financial statements for 2023 have
been prepared for the 53-week periad ended 31 March 2023, The prior year was a 52-week period, to 25 March 2022. The upcoming year will be a
52-week period, 1o 29 March 2024.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Croup’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant fo the consclidated financial statements are disclosed at the
end of this Note.

Going concern

In assessing whether it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis of accounting, management have considered the Group's ability 1o
continue for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements. In deing so, mancgement have challenged
future cash and debr levels and lending covenant headraom using o number of downside scenarios to assess the resilience of the Group's financial position.

Curing the year, the Group was delisted from the London Stock Exchange having been acquired by Energy Capital Partners (‘ECP’), o US-based private equity
firrm. It Is Mot expected that the ECP takeover will drastically change the Group's business model and management have maintained a focus on sustainable
growth, demonstrated by the completion of three acquisitions since the takeover. The Board recognise the medium and long-term sustainability risks arising
from climare change, including cessation of Reneweble Obligation Certificates held by the landfill gas business in 2027, Short term impacts in relation o
climate change are not considered 1o have a significant impact on the Group's business model within the geing concern period.

The Group has performed strongly again throughout FY23, growing Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA despite continued headwinds in the form of inflationary
pressures, supply chain disruption and a challenging ecanomic outlook, At the year end the Group had unutilised committed bank facilities available of
£102.0m and cash and cash equivalents of £40.8m. The closing leverage ratio (Net DebrAdjusted EBITDA) of 34x on a covenant basis compares against the
covenchtiimit of 4.5x corresponding to the new debrt facifities effective from 23 May 2023, The headrocom on the 4 0x inferest cover covenant iimit was
significantly greater than the headroom on the leverage covenant at this date due to the lower interest rates in the FY23 year.

Since the year end, the Group has restructured its debt by increasing its rolling credit facility by £150m, increasing its term loans by £135m and replacing its
existing £345m of private placements with £260m of new private placements. The net impact of these changes is an increase in total liquidity of £200m but
under the new facilities the Graup is required to comply with revised leverage and interest cover covenants. In modelling its forecast cash flows and
covenants, the Group has considered the impact of a possible settlement of the HMRC Landfill Tax Enguiry in line with the provision recognised in the financial
statements in the first holf of FY25. Cash flow forecosts indicate that the Group will maintain net available liquidity levels above £200m throughout the next 12
manths, sa the Group would have sufficient liguidity fo fund a large one-off cash payment.

Management have also opplied reverse stress fests to determine the extent to which key financial measures could worsen over the next 12 months before
covenart timits are breached. Interest caver headroam is expected to be noticeably lower than previous periods due to increased floating rate exposure and @
sharp rise in interest rates, so certain downside scenarios could cause a breach of interest cover. However sufficient headroom is expected over the next 12
months so that a breach of either covenant would still reguire a wersening in EBITDA and cash flow alongside @ rise in interest rates.

Interest cover headroom is expected to reduce further at September 2024, making a potential breach due 10 o worsening of performance or o rise in interest f
rate expectations more likely than at September 2023 or March 2024, It is managerment's expectation that an amendment to the Covenant will be requested

fram lenders but if required we consider we could meef our existing covenants by carrying out a number of cash improvement initiatives such as delaying

capital expenditure, concelling non-essential costs, utilising additional funding from owners and working capital management. It may also be possible to enter

into an interest rate swap ta reduce the exposure to any further adverse interest rate movements, On this basis we consider the likelihood of a future covenant

breach at September 2024 to be remaote.

Based on the above, management have concluded the Group is well placed 1o monage its fingncing and other business risks satisfactorily and hove o
reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to continue in operation for at least 12 months from the signing date of these
consclidated financial statements. It is therefore considered appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries) made up to 31 March 2023, Control is achieved when the Company:

=  Has power over the investee:
« Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than o majority of the veting rights of an investee, it considers
that it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally.

The Company considers all relevant facts and circimstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an nvestee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

¢ The size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote halders;

=  Potential voting righis hetd by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

»  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e Any cdditional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Income Statement
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-Group fransactions are elimingted as part of the consolidation process.
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

At the date of authorisation of these financia! statements, the below Standards and amendments are effective for reporting periods
beginning after 1 January 2022, but have not impacted on the Group's reporting:

«  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standard 2018-2020 Cycle: Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS ¢ Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agricuiture

«  Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations; References to the Conceptual Framework

e Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use

«  Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Centracts: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The adoption of the Standards listed above did not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

New standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of authorisation Of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised 1IFRS Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective and had not yet been adopted:

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

«  Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

. Amendments to TAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

«  Amendments to IAS 1: Noncurrent Liabilities with Covenants

«  Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates
«  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

¢ Amendments to IFRS 14! Lease Liakility in a Sale and Leaseback

+  Amendments to IFRS 17: Initial Appiication of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Information

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Srandards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in any future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stafements

1. Accounting policies continued

Business combinations

Acguisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration fransferred in a business combination is
measured af fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition dote fair volues of the assets tronsferred by the Group, liobllities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acqguiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised ar their fair value, except that:

. Deferred tox assets or liabilities, and assets or ligbilities related to employee benefit arrangements, are recognised and megsured in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

. Liabilities or equity measurements related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquired, and share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquired, are measured in accordance
with IFRS 2 Share-based Payments at the acquisition date;

. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard,

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the armount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) aver the net of the acquisition date
amounts of the idenfifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the lighilities ossumed exceeds tha sum of the consideration transferred, the excess amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

when the considergtion transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in o business combination,

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from the ccquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination ccours, the
Group reports provisionat amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additiondl assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that dote.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and medasured as set out in the ‘Business combinations’ section above.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or if there is an indication of impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying amount of goodwill refating to that cash-generating unit.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is affocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Cash-generating units to which gocdwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwilf cllocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the bosis of the carrying omount of each asset in the unit. An impaoirment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management’s calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance, expectation of future performance
including climate change related matters such as the potential cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificate (ROC”) schemes in 2027,
implications from possible carbon tax regulation and the Deposit Return Scheme coming into effect. The value in use is also determined
after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlying assets of each division,

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies continued

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is o joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint contro| is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. An associate is an entity over which cn investor has
significant influence, but not control or joint control.

An investment in an asseciate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee bocomaes
an assnrinte ar o jaint venture. On aoguisiliun ol 1lie investment In an associate or @ joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the Tnvestment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

Under the eguity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised initially in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position ot cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profif or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or o joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture twhich includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised anly to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture, When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) s tested for impairment in cccordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by compering its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is allocated to the investment
as a whole and not to the underlying assets of the investee that make up the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
Increases.

when o Group entity fransacts with a joint venture of the Group, prefits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint venture
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only fo the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related to
the Group.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The
Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Group Executive Team. The Group’s operating segments are split into four divisions:

. Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industrial & Commercial ((I&C")

. Resources & Energy ('R&E’) which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas

«  Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group ('CSG"). Hazardous Waste, Integrated Resource Management (IRM), and
Biffpack

e Group Business Function (‘GBF")

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of goods and services delivered to customers in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts
and VAT. The requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts with Customers are applied to determine when services are deemed 1o
have been delivered and when the Group has met its obligations under its service contracts. Payments received in advance of
performance are held as contract liabilities and recognised as revenue when the related service is delivered.

Collections division

Waste collection revenue

The Collections division collects waste from customer sites. Revenue is recognised af a point in fime when the waste is delivered to fransfer
stations or to a third party. The transaction price is based on contractually pre-agreed prices for collecting and processing the waste. Due
to the short time between start and completion of the performance obligations (usually on the same day), the revenue recognition and the
allocation of the fransaction price over performance obligations is usually straightforward and dependent on the daily collection and
processing of waste.

The Collections division also provides collections services to households on behalf of local autherities under Municipal contracts, for which
revenue is recognised ‘over time’. The nature of the confracts and performance obligotions includes management fees to operate local
authority recycling centres, waste collections and gote fees. The annual revenue for the service is agreed af the outset of the contract and
invoiced in equal amounts, monthly in arrears. The Group recognises the revenue based on the working days within the accounting period,
which is considered an appropriate approximation to when the pracess occurs. This is adjusted for any discounts given and penalties for
non-delivery of services. However, gate fee revenue is recognised as customer waste is deposited and based on tonnage received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued
Revenue recognition continued
Resources & Energy (‘R&E’) division

Landfill revenue

The Company generates revenue from landfill activities by accepting customer waste anto site for disposal into void space. This revenue
stream consists of gate fee revenue derived from the Company’s operational assets and is based on measured tonnages received from
customers, Perfermance obligations are satisfied as the customer waoste is deposited onto the landfill site and revenue s recognised ot ‘o
point in time’.

Revenue from sale of recyclate materials

The Group collects various waste materials, some of which are general waste and some of which are recyclable materials. The recyclable
materials are generally commingied and as such then have to be separated into individual recyciate streams ready for resale. Recyclate
revenues are measured at the agreed transaction price per tonne of recyciate under the contract with the customer, Revenue recognition
occurs when control over the recyclate assets has been transferred and therefare the performance obligation is satisfied. This is at the
point of collection by the customer.

Energy revenue

The Group receives revenue from the sale of electricity from genercting assets. These assets include anaerobic digestion and gas from
landfill sites. Revenue from the sale of electricity 1s measured based upon metered output delivered ot rates specified under agreed
contract terms with Biffa’s broker, EDF, under Power Purchase Agreements (‘PPAT) or prevoiling market rotes, Energy generofion revenues
are recognised at ‘a point in time’, being the point at which the power is supplied through the sale to the customer, via EDF, based on the
quantity of units supplied.

Specialist Services division

Revenue from redistribution of surplus food and household products

CSG is a redistributor of surplus food and household product in the UK. The business redistributes surpius stock that it purchases from
the Fast Moving Consumer Goods (‘FMCG') supply chain to members wha work in key sectors including FMCG businesses, emergency
services and social care. Sales are recognised when the risks and rewards attached 1o the products (including product obsolescence)
have been transferred to the customer. This occurs when the customers take passession of the stack that has been purchased.

Trade discounts

Trade discounts are agreed os part of the terms of certain customer contracts. The discounts are usually in the form of o price reduction
based on volume collected on a monthly basis. The calculations and terms of the discounts are set out in the agreed customer contracts.
They are calculated in accordance with the contract, accrued automatically by the accounting system on a monthly basis, and reported as
a reduction in revenue. At the end of the calendar month, the amount of the discount for that period is disclosed to and agreed with the
relevant customers. This discount is then recognised either by raising a credit note or by the customer raising a separate invoice. These
mechanisms are agreed at the outset of the contract. As the monetary trade discount per unit is known and the volume is known, there is
no element of estimation within the calculation.

The Material Recycling Facilities (‘MRFs') have contracts with local authorities which contain a ‘risk-sharing mechanism’. Local authorities
are charged a gate fee per tonne of waste delivered, at the point the waste enters the site. In addition, once the commingled waste
recyclate streams have been sorted and sold, the loca! authorities are then entitled to a rebate based upon a pre-ogreed percentage of the
recyclate value achieved. The caiculations and terms of the rebates are sef out in the respective contracts with local authorities. The
rebates are accrued by netting this amaount off revenue every reporting period. The calculation is shared with the customer and a credit
note raised (or the custemer raises an invoice). There is no element of estimation within the calculation.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, unless the Group decides to exercise the
exemptions available under IFRS 16: Leases for short-term leases (defined as leases with o lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low-value assets (defined by management to not exceed £5,000). The applicability of these exemptions is considered on o lease-by-lease
basis, If the Group exercises these exemptions on certain leases, the payments corresponding to these leases are recognised as an
operating expense on o stroight-line basis over the term of the lease unless ancther systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate connot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rote.

The Group’s incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the Group would hove to pay 10 borrow, over a similar term
and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar economic environment.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Leases continued
Lease payments included in the measurement of the liability comprise:

+  Fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives:

«  Voriable legse payments that depend on an index or ratfe, initially measured using the index or rote at the commencement dofte;
¢ The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

« The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to ferminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial posifion.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes o corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

«  The lease term has changed or there is @ change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase opticn, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease puyiiients using a revised discount rate;

s The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease poyments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payment change is due to a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

*  Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of medification.

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurerment of the corresponding lease liability, lease payment at ar before the commencement day
and any initial direct costs, They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset fo the condition reguired by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If ¢ lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects 1o exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the cormmencement date of the lease.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impeired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the
‘Property, plant and equipment’ policy.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial information of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions, At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing at that cate, Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-transiated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

«  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an adjustment to interest costs on those fareign currency
borrowings;

e Exchange differences on rransactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under financial instruments
hedge accounting}; end

e Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to oceur (therefare forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not refranslated.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the Group’s foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
are translated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reperting period, Income and expense items are
transloted at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the fransactions are used.
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1. Accounfing policies continued

Foreign currencies continued
Exchange differences arising on the difference between transiating net assets of closing rate and fronslating P&L itemns ot the average
rate, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

Barrowing costs

Barrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets gre substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reosonable ossurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on o systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acguire non-current assets ore recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financiol position and transferred to profit or loss on o systematic ond rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets,

Employee benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions,

For defined benefit retirernent plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the
return on plan assets (excluding interest), is refiected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will nof be reclassified to
profit or loss, Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period o the net defined benefit liability or asset. Definad benefit costs are categorised as follows:

. Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost as well as gains and losses on curtaiiments and settlerments)
. Net interest expense or income
. Remeasurament

The Group presents service costs in operating costs and near interest expense or income is included in finance income. Curtailment gains
and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirerment benefit obligation recognised in the cansolidated statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in
the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calcutation is imited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans,

The Group makes contributions under Admitted Body status to a number of Local Government Pension Schemes (‘'LGPS’) for the period to
the end of the relevant customer contracts. The Group will only porticipate in LGPS for a finite period to the end of the customer contracts.

The Group detaermines whether an LGPS scheme is accounted for under a defined benefit or defined cantribution scheme based on
whether the deficit/ surplus can be passed through 1o the next contractor or Local Authority at the end of the contract. If, at the end of
the contract, the Group is not liable to settle any liability or equally entitled to any benefit, the scheme is recognised as defined
contribution and cantributions are recognised as an expense. For contracts that do not allow for pass through of pension costs, the Group
recognises the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of scheme assets, and an adjustment to only recagnise the amount of defined
benefit for which it is responsible under the contract. Movements in this adjustment are recognised in the same way as moverments in plan
assets.

A ligbility for o termination benefit is recognised ot the eorlier of when the entity con no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 1o be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

The accounting policy for the Group is to recognise the net surplus/deficit for defined benefit pians upon acguisition through Other
Comprehensive Income, as opposed 1o an adjustment to goodwill, pursuant to IFRS 3 Business Combinations and TAS 19 Employee
Benefits.
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Share-based payment plans

The Group’s management awards employee share options, from time to time, on o discretionary bosis which are subject to vesting
conditions, The economic cost of awarding the share options 10 its employees 1s recognised as on employee benefit expense in the
income statement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing
model. The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Cash flow
Crsh and cash equivalents comprise cush in hand, cash held at bank with immediate access, other short-term investments and bank

deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of inception.

Taxation
Tox represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. This facilitates comparisen with prior periods 1o assess trends in
financial performance more readily.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated income statement because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated using rates that haove been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the repnrting peried,

Deferred tox is the fax expected to be payable or recoverabie on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used In the computation of the taxabie profit and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax ligbilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be availakle against which those
deductibie temporary differences can be utilised.

Such deferred tax assets and licbilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than ina
business combination) of assets and liobilities in a tfransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax licbilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying armount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient raxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset fo be
recovered,

The Group has considered impacts of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxabie profits (loss of revenue from
cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificates ('ROCS’) in 2027, potential legislation of Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS) in England and
operating costs due to increased carbon taxes in subsequent reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact
from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in the future forecasts, however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and
increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it to have a material impact on the recoverabllity of the deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax ligbilities and assets are measured ot the tax rates that are expected to apply in the peried in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tox rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, ot the end of the reporting period, 1o recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax gre recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are aiso recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial cecounting of a business combination, the tax effect is included in
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accurmnulated impairment iosses. The cost of landfill sites includes the
cost of acquiring, develnping and engineering sites. There are nu directly attributable borrowing costs. Property, plant and equipment is
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting peried, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following useful lives have been applied to property, plant and equipment during the period:

. Buildings - length of lease straight-line method
»  Planf, vehicles and equipment - 4 to 15 years straight-line method
. Landfill sites - on g void-consumed basis, ranging from 2 to 51 years

Land and Assets under Construction (AUC") are not depreciated. AUC is depreciated when the asset is deermmed to be complete, and in line
with the above classifications.
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Property, plant and equipment continued

where the obligotion to restore o landfill site is an integra) part of its future economic benefits, a non-current osset within property, plont
and equipment is recognised. Changes to the obligation are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. The asset
recognised is depreciated based on energy production and void used.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expectea useful lives on the some basis as owned assets. However, when there js no
reasonable cerfainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset, Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, piant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the soles proceeds and the carrying amount of the agsset and is recognised in profit or loss,

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amorfisation and accumulated
impairment Josses. Intangible assets acquired in business combinations and recognised seporotely from goodwill are recognised initiclly
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on o prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment (osses.

The following useful lives hove been opplied to the intangible assets during the periog:

. Brand - indefinite life

. Customer contracts ~ 3 to 20 years

. IT development - 3 1o 5 years

- Service concession arrangements ~ over the life of the contract

. Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas extraction based on the life of the site’s associated ROCs |

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

=  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale;

. The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

- The cbility to use or sell the intangible assert; !

. How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

. The avallability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 1o use or sell the intongible
asset; and

- The apility to measure reliably the expendifure aftributable to the infangible assef during ifs development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the criteria listed above. When no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumuloted impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

The Group has a number of contracts for Software as a Service ('ScaS”) arrangements. These cantracts permit the Group ta access
vendor-hosted software and platform services over the term of the arrangement. The Group does not confrol the underlying cssets in
these arrangements and costs are therefore expensed as incurred.

The Group clso incurs implementation costs in respect of these contfracts. Implementation costs are capitalised s intangible assets where
they meet the definition and recognition criteria of an intangible asset under IAS 38 Intangible Assets. Such costs typically relate to
software coding which can provide a benefit to the Group on a standalone basis.

Orher implementation costs, primarily relating fo the configuration and custemizotion of the SoaS solution, are assessed to determine
whether the implementation activity relating to these costs is distinct from the Saas solution, in which case costs are expensed as the
activity accurs. If the configuration and customisation costs relate to activity which is integral ta the Saa$s solution such that the activity is
received over the term of the solution, costs are recognised as a prepayment and expensed over that term.
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than gocdwill
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

Assefs that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units ({CGUS), the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flowws

In assessing value in use (‘'VIUM, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using & pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated o be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU)
is reduced fo its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unfess the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and to the extent that the impairment loss is
greater than the reloted revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been defermined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the
extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount
is freated as a revaluation increase.

The Group carries different classes of intangible assets including, gas reserves, brands and customer contracts, The Group also has closses
of tangible assets in property, landfill gas and plant, vehicles, and machinery. The carrying value of these is dependent on future cash flows
and if these cash flows do not meet the Group’s expectations there is risk that the assets will be impaired. The impairment reviews
performed by the Group contdin o number of significant estimates:

. Forecast energy prices including the impact of climate change to these prices

«  The ROCs recycle benefit rights (which is dependent on the ROC scheme being in place)
s+  Forecast gate fees, fonnage prices and gos yield projections;

s Long term growth rates; and

+  Discount rates.

The above have been considered in determining the VIU of other intangible assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated af the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories cre determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Full provision is made for obsolete or defective stock.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legai or constructive) as a result of o past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reperting period, toking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the fime value of money is material).
The effects of inflation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the financial statements as a finance
charge.

when some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if vii tually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Frovisions for the cost of restoring landfill sites and after-care costs are made as the obligation to restore the site arises. Costs are
charged to the profit or [oss over the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for each londfill site. The restoration
obiigation is typically fulfilled within two years of the landfill site being closed to waste,

Provisions for affer-care costs are made as the void usage increases, which results in the recognition of an asset representing the future
economic benefits expected to arise from furure gas generation from the landfill site. Costs are charged to the prafit or loss over the
operational life of each landfill site on the basis of usage of void space. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access to
future economic benefits, an asset in property, plant and equipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates
that relate to the asset are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset.
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Provisions continued

The asset is depreciated over the period of gas generation which commences during the active phase of landfill and extends beyond the
closure date, producing commercicl volumes of gas for up 1o 16 years, After-care costs are provided for based on the Directors’
expectation that the obligation will have been fulfilled 60 years post closure of the site.

QOnerous confracts

Present obligations arising under onerous confracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered fo exist
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Service concession arrangements

Service concession arrangements typically involve a private sector entity constructing infrastructure and using that infrastructure to
provide a public service on behalf of a government or local autharity for a limited period of time before handing ownership of the
infrastructure back to the government or local authority.

The Group applies the financial asset model when the concession grantor contractually guarantees the payment of amounts specified in
the contract or the shortfal), if any, between amounts received from users of the public service and amounts specified, This financial asset
accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received. This approach has been adopted on the Leicester City
Cauncil contract.

The Group applies the intangible asset model when it has a right or a licence to charge users or the local authority based on usage of the
public service. This approach has been adopted on the west Sussex Recycling confract that was acguired as part of the Viridor acguisition
in the year ended 25 March 2022,

Financial assets and intangible assetfs resulting from the application of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements are recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Finoncial Position. Refer 1o Note 30 for further information.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when g Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire. The financial
instruments recognised by the Group are set out below.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
expected credit losses.

Expected credit losses are updated ot ecch reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. Expected credit losses
are estimated based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, odjusted for factors that ore specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the farecast future conditions at the reporting date. For financicl
assets, the expected credit lass is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to recaive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group hos reasonable and suppertable information that demanstrates otherwise,

All customers are subject fo credit scoring on a quarterly basis. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the
external credit rating of the counterparty exceeds the Group’s minimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strong financial
position and payments are being made within the contractual terms.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
grrangements.

Borrowings are recognised initially ot fair value, net of transaction costs, Any difference between the amaunt initially recognised and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the pbalance sheet date.
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Financial instruments continued

Financial assets arising from service concession arrangements

As detailed above, the Group applies the financial asset model 1o service concession arrangements where there is a guaranteed right to
receive payments. The financial asset accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received. This approach has
been adopted on the Leicester City Council contract,

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are imihally recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the contractucl provisions of the instrument and
are subseqguently remeasured at their fair value ot each balonce sheet date. The methad of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities); or b)
cash fiow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast ransaction); or ¢}
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Group dacuments the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception.

At inception and nr each reporting date the Gioup ussesses whether the derivetives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 16. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity. At the reporting date the Group has ne fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,

along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions. At the inception of the hedge and on
an ongeing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of

the hedged item, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

. There s an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

*  The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually
hedges and the guantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases 10 meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
Group’s cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either the income statement or in the
hedging reserve.

when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or loss in eqguity at that time remains in equity and s recognised when
the forecast fransgction occurs, When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to oecur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
in equity will be transferred to the income statement.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating 1o the hedge ratio but the risk monagement
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that
it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair value ot any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and cccumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects that
some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Cash flow hedge continued

The Group discontinues hedge accounting anly when the hedging relationship (or o part thereof) ceases 1o meet the gquolifying criteric
(after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, ferminated or exercised. The
discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow
hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded ot por vaiue of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Aregs of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS compliant financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and also reguires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying Group accounting policies, The Group continuclly evaluates its
estimates, assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. As the use of estimates is inherent in financicl
reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Critical Judgements

The Group applies judgement in identifying the significant, exceptional and non-recurring items of income and expense. We have
summarised the policy in more detail in the Appendix.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

The Group operates a number of landfill sites in the UK. Operators of landfill sites are responsible for collecting landfill tax and paying it to
HMRC. Excise Notice LFTI: a gerieral gurde fo lond/fif fux (LETL') sets out guidance published by HMRC on the application of landfill tax
legislation to the activities of landfill site operators such as Biffa.

The Group is the subject of an HMRC enguiry (‘the Enguiry’) regarding landflll tax compliance as part of BMRC concerns regarding possible
misclassification of waste across the industry. To date approximately £377m (2022 - £168m) of protective assessments have been issued
by HMRC to Biffa. The growth in the level of protective assessments reflects both an extension of the time period covered by the
assessments and increase in the scope of matters being investigated by HMRC.

In February 2020, Biffa Waste Services Limited (BWSL) was notified by HMRC that it had concerns regarding certain aspects of landfill
tax compliance that may hove led to on underpayment of londfill tax and was conducting an enguiry primarily relating fo the
interpretation of the gualifying fines regime set out in LFT1. HMRC olso raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the
potential conduct of BWSE and specific customers which may have led o the incorrect rate of Landfiill Tax being paid.

Fines are particles produced by a waste treatment process that involves an element of mechanical freatment. For a landfll site operator to
rreat fines as qualifying fines (meaning that landfili tax on such material is payable at a lower rate), it must be satisfied that the conditions
set out in LFT1 have been met. These include pre-acceptance checks on customers, visual inspecticns of materials depoesited at the landfill
site and compliant loss on ignition (‘LOT") tests conducted at the specified frequency (which is dependent on whether a customer is
clossified as low or high risk). LOI tests are laboratory tests on samples of waste to establish the amount of organic content in the waste.

In response to the concerns raised by HMRC, Biffa appointed Ernst & Young ('EY’) to conduct an extensive review. In May 2020, an interim
report was submitted by EY and BWSL to HMRC addressing a number of the concerns raised by HMRC and outlining some immediate
changes to processes at landfill sites operated by Biffa, which were made on a without prejudice basis, fo mitigate the risk of any ongoing
potential liakility.

In March 2021, a disclosure report and supporting dota (the ‘Disclosure Report’), prepared by EY and BWSL, was submitted to HMRC, This
challenged HMRC's findings and assumptions used.

In February 2022, BWSL received o further letter from HMRC which responded 10 a number of specific findings in the Disclosure Report,
asserted specific amounts that they considered were due and indicated that HMRC would be carrying out further work on other aspects of
the Disclosure Report. Following receipt of this letter, further detailed work was carried out by Biffa and its advisors.

In the period singe the release of the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts, the Enguiry has continued with Biffa and its advisors carrying out
further detailed wark and communications with HMRC.

Management has applied judgement in conciuding on the different potential cutcomes and their respective probabilities in accordance
with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilifies and Contingent Assers. A provision of £64m has been recognised af March 2023 (March 2022;
£20.0m) as this represents management’s best estimate of the amount required o seftle the present obligotion at that date,
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Legal and tax cases
The Group has previsions for ongoing litigation, Management exercises judgement in determining the amount of provision required. This
provision is calculated using information provided by external professioncls where applicable or management’s best estimate.

The Group is engaged in o dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. The Group has received a protective assessment of £8,5m, which has been paid. As the Group is currently disputing this
assessment, and management believe it likely that they will win the dispute, the £8.5m payment is included in prepayments in the current
year (2022: £8.5m).

Going concern

This is considered an grea of critical judgement due to the Group's recent debt restructure and interest rate rises. Refer to the going
concern section earfier in this Note.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has the following key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustmeant to the
carrying amounts of assets and liahilities within the next finuncial period:

Environmental and The Group operates a number of landfill sites in the UK, A significant cost of owning and operating a landfill site in the
afrer-care UK arises afrer the land-filling operation ceases due to the constructive and legal obligation to restore sites and then o
commitments of care for them until it can be demonstrated that they present no ongoing risk te the environment.

£53.6m

A provision is made for the costs associated with restoring and maintaining its landfill sites and controlling leachate and
methane emissions from the sites. A number of factors create estimation uncertainty, including the impact of regulation,
transportation costs, inflation and changes in the real discount rate. Due to recent volarility, the impact in the change of
energy and chemical prices on after-care costs are a particularly source of estimation uncertainty. The provisions
incorporate our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of these
estimates could marerially impact the calculation of the provision. An increase of 5% in assumed energy and chemical
costs, which impact energy consumed and leachate treatment costs, would result in an increase in the environmental

provision of £1.2m.

{see Note 18)

The associatec outflows are estimared to arise over a period of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site
closure. In determining the provision, the estimartes for future expenditure required fo settle the obligation are inflated
using longer-term inflation rates of 3.1%, and discounted using the nominal risk free discount rate of 4.4%. The rates
reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years. Future energy prices are
estimated using reliable external sources.

An increase of 1% in the nominal discount rate (at current cost) would result in a decreasge of envirenmental provisions of
approximately £8.0m (2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in forecast cash cutflows would result in an increased
environmental provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term after-care provisions included in landfill restoration and
after-care provisions hove been inflated at a rate of 3.1% (2022: 5.3%). An incredse of 1% in the rate of inflation would
result in an increase of environmental provisions of appreximately £11.2m (2022: £23.1m).

Refirement Benefit The Group operates several defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted for under TAS 19 Employment
Accounting relating Benefits. Pension accounting is a speciclist area requiring the exercise of significant management judgement and the
to surplus of 95.1m use of technical expertise to determine the surplus or deficit of the scheme in accordance with generally accepted
(see Note 25) actuarial practices, The assumptions used in valuing the defined benefit pension liabilities including the discount rate,

mortality assumption and inflation level are complex and changes to the assumptions can have a material impact on the
value of pension liabilities. As at the end of the financial year the Group recognised d retirement benefit surplus of
£95.1m (2022; £166.1m).

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m). If the inflation
assumption incredses by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022: 100.0m). If the life expectancy
increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrense by £9.6m (2022: £14.9m).

All pension valuations are performed as at the year end reporting date.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Onerous Contract
Pravision of £20.3m
{see Note 18)

Goodwill
Impairment in
Company Shop
Group ('CSG) (see
Note ?)

Certain contracts held by the Group are considered onerous and long-term in nature, These contracts can be complex
and contain key performance indicator clauses where penclties may be incurred in the event of non-compliance. The
Group is therefore required to make operational and financial assurnptions to estimate future losses over periods that
can extend beyond seven years.

Variability of contract penalties, underlying delivery costs, inflotion rates, commodity prices applied and customer claims
or disputes can put additional pressure on margins and on future contract profitability, giving rise to onerous contract
provisions. The Group mitigates against the risk of price mavemants by entering info fuel hedging arrangerments.
Management confinue ta monitor potential cost impacts on services and seek to discuss those with customers as
cppropriate, on a case-by-case basis.

The prediction of future events aver extended periods contains inherent risk and the cutcome of customer and
subcontractor claims is uncertain and involves a high degree of management estimation. Management recognise the
risk of future anerous contract provisions being recognised due to significant cost increases as detailed obove.

The Group holds three onergus contrager provisions relating Yo contracts on Epping Forest, South Oxfordshire & Vole ond
Leicester. The future cash inflow from the remaining cnerous contracts are highly predictable as they are fixed, based on
the terms of the contract. However, the costs associated with defivering rhe contract can vary and assumptions on future
cash outflows is considerad a significant estimate when maodelling the future net cash outflows on onerous contract
provisions. On the Epping Forest and Scuth Oxfordshire & Vale provision, a 5% increase in future cash outflows would
increase the provision by £1.5m. On the Leicester provision o 5% increase in future cosh outflows would increase the
provision by £2.3m.

In arriving at the onerous confract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group
has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basls points the
provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the
Group has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.5%. If this rate increcsed by 500 basis points the
pravision charge would decrease by £1.5m.

The Group recognised gocdwill on completion of the acquisition of CSG in February 2021. The carrying value of the
goadwill is dependent on future cashflows and, if these cashflows do not meet the Group's expectations, thera is a risk
that the assets will be impaired. The impairment review performed by the Group confains a number of significant
estimates:

. Revenue in both the short and long term
- Gross margin in beth the shert and long term
. Discount rate

Changes in these assumptions can have ¢ significant impaoct on the estimated value in use. An impairment assessment
was performed by the Group in the pricr year, with the outcome being the recognition of a £25.0m impairment to
goodwill due to trading under performance, in accordance with TAS 36: Impairment of Assets. The annual impairment
assessment was performed again in the current year, with the value in use exceeding the goodwill carrying amount and
the outcome being no further impairment. This is due to improved frading in the year. The value in use excludes any
additicnal value which may be generated by future store roli-outs.

The key assumptions when caiculating the value in use are detailed above. Management's caleulation of value in use has
been developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance and
expectations of future performance which considers climate change, market information and a consistent growth rate.

The valuation of the goodwill allocated to CSG has headroom of £29.4m af the end of the financial year. The pre-tax
discount rate used in the value in use calculation was 10.75%. An increase in the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis peints
would reduce headroom fo nil. The average short term annuai growth rate used was 3.00%. A reduction of 167 basis
points in the average short ferm annual growth rate would reduce headroom to nil. The long term compounded annual
growth rate used was 3.25%. A reduction of 587 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would
reduce headroom 1o nil. The average gross prefit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis points in gross profit
margin would reduce headroom to nil.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

HMRC Landfill Tax Protective ossessments
Enguiry

HMRC has issued protective assessments totalling approximately £377m to BWSL in respect of the period from March
2016 to September 2021, Consistent with their usual practice when conducting an enguiry that may result in additional
liability To tax, the protective assessments hove been issued by HMRC before the conclusion of the Enquiry to ensure
that any claim for payment of lundfill tax that may be made by HMRC as a result of the findings of the Enquiry is not
fime-barred.

These protective assessments are not necessarily an indication of what liability may ultimately arise and may be
amended or withdrawn by HMRC at the conclusion of the Enguiry. BWSL is not currently required to make payment to
HMRC or reserve or ringfence funds for a possible payment as a result of these protective assessments, however it has
made poyments on account of £2.2m to date.

Potential outcomes and liabilities

In Biffa’'s view, based on advice received To dote, there are o range of possible cutcomes ta the Enquiry, including an
agreed settlement To date Biffa has received approximately £377m of protective assessments from HMRC, HMRC has
also shared further estimates of liability in the context of without prejudice settlement discussions. In addition, BwWSL will
incur further costs in conducting and responding to the Enquiry.

At the end of the Enguiry, HMRC will be required to confirm the omount of the protective assessments. If no settlement
is agreed and BWSL does not accept HMRC’s decision, BwSL will be entitied to request a formal statutory review by
HMRC. Assurming HMRC upholds its decision in respect of all or part of the assessments, BWSL will have 30 days from
the date of HMRC's review decision to submit an appeal to the First-tier Tax Tribunal ('FTT") to challenge HMRC and
formally protect BWSL's position. To bring the appeal, BWSL would be required to pay the assessed londfill tax to HMRC
at that stage, although BWSL could make a hardship application fo HMRC to secure their agreement to the deferrat of
the payrment of the assessed tox, failing which BwSL could apply to the FTT directly on grounds of hardship. If the
Enguiry resutted in BWSL being lioble to pay additional landfill tax, such amounts should be tax deductibie.

Provision (see Note 18)

A provision of £20.0m was recognised at 25 March 2022, based con Biffa's best estimate of the labilities af that point in
rime, recognising the fact that the Enquiry was of an early stage. This reflected the information that had been shared
with Biffa at that time and the Directors’ expectations of how the matter would be resolved.

Following the receipt of further correspondence and protective assessments from HMRC since then, the provision at 31
March 2023 hos been increased to £64m.

This reflects Biffa's best estimare of the specific amounts asserted by HMRC in their estimetes of liability that have
been notified to Biffo in the context of without prejudice settlement discussions and addresses the range of matters
arising from the protective assessments and the further estimates of liability excluding the element we consider to be o
contingent hability.

The estimate assumes that any possibie penalty thot could be levied would be suspended subject to certain conditions
ond accordingly has not been recognised. A suspended penalty will not need 1o be paid providing we meet the relevant
conditinns during the suspension period and do not incur a further penalty within rhe suspension peried.

Further licbilities could arise in relation to general issues raised by HMRC about Biffa's compliance with the qualifying
fines regime set out in LFTL. These been disclosed as a contingent liability.

The ultimate manner of settlement of the liability remains uncertain but we do not believe payment will be due before 31
March 2024 and accordingly we have disclosed the liability as non-current

Contingent Liability (see Note 27)

A provision has been recagnised in respect of specific amounts asserted by HMRC to date. However, general issues have
also been raised by HMRC about how certain requirements within the qualifying fines regime set out int FT1 were
intended to he appiied in practice, and the extent to which Biffa has complied with these requirements.

Based on advice received to date for these areas. a present obligation does not exist and a licbility is not probable
BWSLU's porential additional liability for landfill tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m based on
information provided by HMRC, plus inferest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

Based on advice received, the Directors do not consider a liabiiity is likely 1o drise in respect of such general 1ssues, nor
can a cost be reliably estimated, and therefore this item 15 treated as o contingent liability and no provision arises for
these general issues

In order fo illustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group’s results and financiat position, further sensitivity
analysis has been included within the Notes.
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2. Segmentat information

The Group v managed by Type of business and is organised info three operating divisions:

- Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industral & Commercial.
- Resources & Energy which consists of Inerts, Orgonics, Recycling and Landfill Gas
. Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group and Industrial Services.

hese operating divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its prirnary segment informetion and are conssient
with the internal reporting provided o the chief operating decision maker. Head office costs are recorded within the Group Business
Funcriorn (*GBF') division, however for operating and business decisions only three divisions are considered. Group Business Function costs
represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, Boord and corporate costs, finance, HR, LT, leqal and insurance,
external affairs and Safery, Health, Envirenment and Quality Management (‘'SHEQ"). The chief operating decision maker, who 1s
responsible for allocoting resources and assessing performance of the operating divisions, has been identified as the Group Execulive
Tearn

The Group’s segmental résults are as follows:

2023 2022

Revenue e EM . Em_
Collections 1,666 1 8/39
Resources & Energy 430 2452
Specidlist Services . 2 A .1
_Yoral _._nes04 L4432

Revenue within divisions js eliminoted upon consohdanhon. Sales between operating divisions are carried out af arm's length. There have
been no material amounts of revenue recognised in the year that relate to performance obligations satistied or partially satisfied s
previous years. Revenue received where the performance obligation will be fulfiled in the future is ¢lassified gs deferred income o
conrract fiabilities and disciosed in Note 14,

Al trading activity and operations are in the United Kingdom and there is therefore na secondary reporting tormat by geographeal
segment There 15 no single customer that accounts tor more that 10% of the Group's revenue (2022: none)

2023 2022
_Operating profit ydossy B EM
Collections 59 b65.6
Resources & Energy 353 175
Specialist Services 127/ (19.9)
proup BusinessFunewon, v o sy
L - A (B2
— 2023 022
Depreciation  Amartisation Total Depreciation Amorfisation Totat
_ Depreciation and Amortisation . Em 3 £m £m £fm Em _  £m
Collectians 63.6 5.2 68.8 55.8 45 60.3
Resources & Energy 323 227 55.0 297 251 54.8
Specialist Services 8.0 04 8.4 6.2 - 6.2
__SGroup Business Function 4.1 -~ LO 5.1 5.7 L1
Toral 1088 __293 1373 507

2022

_Property, plant and equipment - net book value e S m_ e Em
Collections 3193
Resources & Energy 2266
Specialist Services 503
(Group Business Funchon S R 4 L
] 6172
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2. Segmental information continued

2023 2022
Other intangible assets - net book value . £m £m
Collections 4572 213
Resources & Energy 62.6 1218
Specialist Services - 54
Group Business Function 98.8 74.4
Total 2065 222.9

2023 2022
Capital expenditure £m £m
Collecticns 123.4 104.1
Rescurces & Energy 275 96.2
Specialist Services 1.8 16.4
Group Business Function 21.7 71
Total 1744 223.8

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment including leased assets and acquisitions.

3. Finance income and charges
2023 2022
£m £m
Interest an bank overdrafts, bonds and loans (15.8) @7
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 24) (10.3) (98)
Interest unwind on discounted provisions (Note 18) 33 (2.8)
Interest an forward contracts 0.0 0.1
Tetal finunce charges (29.5) 224)
Interest income 19 0.9
Net interest on the net defined benefit surplus (Note 25) 4.8 2.3
Total finance income 6.7 3.2
Net finance charges (22.8) {19.2)
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4, Profit before taxation
The foliowing costs / (income) have been included in arriving at the profit before taxation:
2023 2022
. — — —_—  _MNotes = fm _ . Em
Employee costs 5 430.9 361.0
Cost of inventories recognised in expense 12 87.6 68.3
EVP tax dispute 12 208
Provision for HMRC landfiil tax enquiry 507 17.0
Net defined benefit surplus {income) / expenise 25 (1.3) Q5
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: 1
. Owned assets 522 428
. Right-of-use assefs 558 521
. Arnortisation of intangible assers: 10
. Acquisifion intangibles 252 29.6
. Other intangibles 4.1 11
. Expense / {income) relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets:
. Plant and machinery 258 210
- Other (2.2} 4.5
Impairments 8.9 91 250
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets (3.3 {(3.3)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and eguipment, and intangible assets 2.3 (6.2)
Income from grants (0.2) (0.4)
__Expected credit loss recognised o 0.5 . 1z

During the current financia! period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
fo a £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemeouth site, In the prior period an impairment of £25.0m was recognised in reiation to
the goodwill arising from the CSG acquisition.

Operating costs have been split into administration and distribution ¢osts as detailed below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Distribution costs 292 26.1
Administrative expenses 60.8 489
Operating costs 0.0 75.0

5. Employees and Directors

The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group, by reporting division during the period,
was:

2023 2022

Number Number

Collections 7,391 6,749

Resources & Energy 1,246 1105

Specialist Services 1,709 1,454

Group Business Function 490 436

Total 10,836 9,744

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

023 2022

£m £m

Wages and salaries 3795 3147

Social security costs 373 30.4

Other pension costs 122 13.2
_Redundancy and fermination payments R _ e 27
_Total 4309 3810
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5. Employees and Directors continued

Dircctors’ remuneration
During the year, the emoluments of the 7 {2022 9) Directors of the Group were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Agagregate emaluments 19 2.3
Company confributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.z 0.2
Compensation for lnss of nffica 0.1 -
Total 2.2 2.5
2023 2022

The number of Directors who: Number Number
Are members of g money purchase pensicn scheme 2 2
Exercised options over shares in the Company 2 -
Had owards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 2
2023 2022

Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoluments 11 11
Company confributions 1o meoney purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1
Total 1.2 12

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options In the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

6. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of the Company and Group’s auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s consolidated
annugl financial statements 1.0 1.0
Fees payable 1o the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 05 0.5
Increase in fees paid to the Company’s auditor related to the audit in the prior period 07 -
Total audit fees 22 1.5
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Total audit and non-audit fees 23 1.6

Subsequent to the release of the Annual Report and Accounts 2022, a rermuneration increase of £0.7m was agreed with the auditors for the
audit work performed on the accounts for the year ended 25 March 2022.

The other assurance services provided by the auditor related to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of statutory
requirerments.
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7. Taxation recognised in profit or loss
2023 2622
o - B Em
Current tax
Current period 01 0.2
Adjustments in respect of prior years (1.0) -
0.9 0.2
Deferred tox
Origination ond reversal of temporory differences (29 (9.9)
Adjustment in respect of prior years Q.6 03
Adjustment attributable to changes in rax rates and laws 4.8 2.0
2.5 {11.2)
Total tax charge / (credit) ) 1.6 (11.0)

Corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2022: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the period can be
reconciled to the profit per the consolidated income statement as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m
Loss before taxation (15.1) (28.6)
Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022: 19%) 2.9 (5.4)
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of prior yedrs 3.8 0.3
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 44 (0.2)
Super deduction (4.1) (3.6)
Change in rate 0.6 {2.0)
Non-taxable income {D.2) 0.1
Total tax charge / (credit) 1.6 (11.0)

In addition to the amount charged to the consolidated income statement, the following amounts have been (credited) / charged directly
To eguity:

2023 2022
Deferred tax (credit) / charge arising on: o £m £m
Actuarial gains / losses (20.6) 150
Hedging 2.4) 2.2
Share-based payments (1.5) -
Total deferred tox (credited) / charged directly to equity (24.5) 17.2

The Finance Act 2021, which provides for on increase in the main rote of corporation fax from 19% Yo 25% effective from 1 April 2023, was
enacted on 24 May 2021. As deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the rates that are expected to apply in the periods of
reversal, deferred tax balances at the balance sheet date have been calculated at the rare of which the relevant balance is expected fo be
recovered or settled.

8. Acquisitions

53-week period ended 31 March 2023

DJB Recycling Limited

On 1 July 2022, the Group acquired the trade and assets of DJB Recycling Limited, a waste collection and recycling business for
consideration of £1.7m. The business generated revenue of c.£4.7m in the 12 months prior to acquisition, employed 31 people, had a fieet of
13 vehicles and operated from 2 sites in Sheffield. Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £0.6m.

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year, DIB Recycling has generated revenues of £2.9m and a profit before tax of £0.4m. If the
acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1,684.3m and
operating profit for the year would have been £29.2m.
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8. Acquisitions continued

53-week period ended 31 Mareh 2023 continued

Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited

On 2 November 2022, the Group acguired 100% of the share capital of Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries. Forge

Recycling is o Leeds-based 1&C collections business with 100 employees and 3,800 customers. Upfront net cash consideration was £14.7m,
with a further contingent sum due post year-end, calculated by reference to the performance of the acquired business through ta the end
of March 2023. The final contingent sum payable was £2.3m. Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £12.1m.

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year Forge has generated revenues of £5.9m and a profit before tax of £0.7/m. If the
acquisition had been compieted on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1,694.5m and
operaring profit for the year would have been £30.4m.

As af 31 March 2023, the epening balance sheet for the Forge acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement period post-
acquisition and should therefore be considered provisional.

Total Recycling Services Limited

On 21 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Total Recycling Services Lirmited. Total Recycling is an industnial waste
management business with 3 sites across the North East of England, approximately 100 employees and 200 customers. Upfront net cash

consideration was £17 1m and Goodwill orising on the acquisition was £12.0m.

In addition to net cash consideration paid above, dequired borrowings of £4.0m included within net assets were repaid by the Group.

Given the timing of the acquisition the business’ contribution to the revenue and profit before tax was immaterial. The business generated
revenue of ¢.£15m in the 12 months prior 1o acguisition. If the acquisition had been completed on the first doy of the financial year, Group
revenues for the year would have been £1,695.2m and operating profit for the year would have been £29.8m.

As at 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Total Recycling Services acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement

period post-acguisition and should therefore be considered provisional,

The amounts recognised in respect of the identificble assets acquired and liokilities assumed are set out in the table below:

Total
DIB Forge Recycling
Recycling Recycling Services Totai
. £m £m £m £m
Intangible assets .8 LX) 53 125
Property, plant and equiprment a.8 2.6 8.4 18
Trade and other receivables - 19 2.8 48
Invenrory - - 0.1 01
Cash and cash equivalents - 34 09 43
Deferred tax liobiity {3273 (2.2) (3.2 (56)
Trade and other payobles - (2.0} (3.9) (5.9)
Lease liabllities (0.3) (i.4) (0.5) (2.2)
Borrowings - {0.4) (4.0) {44
Total net assets 1.1 8.3 6.0 15.4
Goodwill 0.6 12.1 12.0 247
Total consideration 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Satisfied by:
Cash 1.4 18.1 18.0 375
Deferred and contingent consideration c3 23 - 26
Total consideration transferred 1.7 204 18.0 40.1
Cash consideration 1.4 18.1 18.0 275
Deferred and confingent consideration paid 0.3 - - 03
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired - 3.4) (0.9 4.3
MNet cash flow arising on acquisition 1.7 14.7 171 335

Acquisition- refated costs included in adjusting items amount to £2.0m (2022: £9.4m}. See the Appendix for further details.
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8, Acquisitions continued

52~-week perind ended 25 March 2022

On 31 August 2021, the Group acguired 100% of the share cupiial of Syracuse waste Limited and its subsidiaries from the Virndor Group
Syracuse waste Limited 1s o specially created entity into which Viridor hived down 1ts collections business and certam recycling assers in
order fo enabie the sale. The deal involved fie franster of approximately 21,000 existing Viridor business waste customers alongsioe a
network of 15 depots across the UK. The acouisition is in line with the Group’s growth strategy ond complements the current operatiuns
across the Collections and Resources & Energy divisions. The accounting on the Virider acguisition, in accordance with [FRS 2, Business
Combinations, involves ¢ number of key judgements. The majority of these judgements were made during the year ending 25 March 2022,
but some additional adjustments have been made in the current period, as set out betow.

The adjustments are grouped as follows:

. £2.1m of assets within Property, plant and equipment have been impaired o £nil

v Expected tfuture capital expenditure obligations an the West Sussex Recycling contract have inCreased, moreasing the IFRIC 12
provistan by £3 8m and reducing the IFRIC 12 intangible gsset by £1.2m

~ Recejvables and Payables have been updated, with a net £0.6my increase to working capital

. Defarred tax calculations have been updated, resulting in a £3.7m reducton in the net deferred tax liability

These adjustrnernts have caused an mcrease of £2.8m to the goodwill arising on acquisition.

On 25 June 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Green Circle (Polymers) Limited in exchange tor cash consideration of £5 ém
ond deferred cash consideration of £3.7m payable over a geriod of 13 years. The deferred consideration had an acquisition dare far vaiue
of £33m. Soodwilt of £6 0m was recogrised on acguisition. During the current period, outstanding deferred cansideration of £0.3m was
setiled.

qg. Goodwill

2022

Cost
As a1 25 March 2022
Additions (Note 8)

_ Adjustmends to prior period gcguisitions (Nate B)
As at 31 March 2023 _

Accumulated impdirment losses
_Asat2bMarch2022

_As af 31 March 2025

Net book vaiue
__As ar 25 March 2022
As at 31 Mareh 2023

Coilactions

Resources & Energy
_specialist Services
_Yotal
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9, Goodwill continued

Operating divisions

At each reporting perfad the Group reviews whether there are any indicators of impairment in accordance with TAS 36: Impairment of
Assefs. An annual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill for each operating division fo its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. If the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying armount of the goodwill and then to
the assets of the operating division.

The key ascumptions wheo waleululing 1he value i use are forecast revenue and costs. Management’s calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared based on past performance and expectations of future performance. The
value in use is also determined after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter,

The pre-tax discount rates used in the value in use calculations at year end are as follows:

. Collections 11.00%
* Resources & Energy  10.00%
«  Specialist Services 10.00% (excluding Company Shop Group, for which see below)

The annual growth rate assumption for the Griin’s operating divisions beyord the five-year pian period, based on market trends, after
adjustment for assumed infiation, is 3.25% (2022: 2.0%). This is considered appropriate due to the long-term nature of the business. No
reasonably foreseeable change in the assumptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an impairment to any of the
operating divisions.

Company Shop Group

Specialist Services goodwill includes £40,6m (2022: £40.6m) attributable to CSG. The valuation of the goodwill allocated to CSG has
headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financial year. The pre-tax discount rate used in the value in use calculotion was 10.75%. An increase
in the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis peints would reduce headroom to nil. The long term compounded annual growth rate used was
3.25%. A reduction of 587 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would reduce headroom to nil. The average gross
profit margin used was 56,2%. A reduction of 210 basis points in gross profit margin would reduce headroom to nil.

10.  Other intangible assets

Service
Landfill IT Customer concession
gas rights  development Brands contracts agreements Total
£m £m £m £Em £m £m

Cost
As at 26 March 2021 120.2 8.3 452 82.4 - 326.1
Acquired through business combingtion - - 0.3 31.2 375 69.0
Additions - 21 - - - 2.1
Disposals - (1.6) - - - (1.6)
As at 25 March 2022 120.2 8.8 45,8 115.6 515 395.6
Acquired through business combination - - - 125 - 125
Adjustments o prior period acquisitions (Note 8) - - - - (1.2) 1.2y
Additions - 1.7 - - - 17
Disposals - {4.0) (1.3) (45.7) - (51.0)
As at 31 March 2023 190.2 6.5 44.2 80.4 56.3 357.6
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (89.8) (3.7 (1.2) (48.9) - (143.6)
Amortisation charge for the pericd (20.1) (D 0.3 7.2 (2.0 (30.7)
Disposals - 1.6 - - - 1.6
As at 25 March 2022 (109.9) (3.2) (1.5) (56.1) (2.0) 172.7)
Amortisation charge for the period (18.8) (1.0) - (6.4) (3.1) (29.3)
Disposals - 4.0 1.3 457 - 510
As at 31 March 2023 {128.7) (0.2) (0.2) (16.8) (5.1) (151.0)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 61.5 6.3 44.0 63,6 312 206.6
As ot 25 March 2022 80.3 5.6 44.0 575 355 222.9
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10. Other intangible assets continued

During the year, the Group undertook a review of our fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposais of intangible cssets in the current year with o gross cost and accumulated amortisation and impairment of £51.0m relate 1o this
review.

The Group holds intangible assets relating 1o the Landfill Gas (‘LFG’) business. The LFG business generates some of its income via the
production of Renewable Obligation Certificates (‘ROCs’). These are “green energy cerfificates” which are issued to operators of
accredited renewable generating stations for the eligible renewable electricity that they generate. ROCs are then sold on to energy
providers for which the Groun recognises revenue on sales. The ROCs scheme lasts for 20 years and the majority of iandfill gas sites will
see their ROCs scheme terminate in financial year 2027. At this point, the revenue and profit profile of the LFG division will change
significontly, The Group recognised amortisation of £18.8m on LFG sites during the financial year (2022: £20.1m).

All amortisation charges are recognised in profit or loss. Included within IT development costs are internally generated assets with a net
book value of £3.2m (2022: £3.4m). The amortisation charge in relation to these assets was £0.6m (2022 £0.6m).

Given the significant investment in technology ond IT development, the Group undertakes o review of the remaining useful lives of assets
each year and impdirs where necessary those that are superseded by new technology. The key estimate underpinning the value in use for
IT projects is forecost costs.

IFRS 3 requires that on acquisition, intangible assets are recorded at fair vafue. The Biffa brand was first created in the early 20th century
and has been used throughout the Group since then. It remains a highly recognisable brand. Given the longevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset 1o have an indefinite life. The Directors reconsider the valuation of the brand at each reporting date, The recognition of
brand and landfill gas rights as intangible assets initially arose during the fair value exercise undertaken following the acquisition of the
Biffa Group by Wasteholdco 1in 2008, The values were subsequently remedsured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013,

11, Property, plant and equipment

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites! equipment constructien Total
~ ~ E£m £m o £m £m £m
Cost - T
As at 26 March 2021 2677 934 418.3 26.2 805.6
Acquired through business combination 19.8 - 292 - 490
Adjustment to prior period acquisitions 1.4 - - - 14
Additions 125 5.1 764 8.3 1023
Disposals (9.5) €0.1) (30.4) - (46.0)
Transferst - 1.1 28.3 (28.3) 11
As at 25 March 2022 291.9 99.5 515.8 6.2 913.4
Acquired through business combination 39 - A - 118
Adjustments to prior period acquisitions (Note 8) - - (21 - (2.1
Additions 175 2.9 £1.1 702 151.7
Disposals (47.5) - (244.3) - (2918)
Tronsfers . s 0 e»n ¥ Gy 000 2hH
As at 31 March 2023 265.2 100.2 375.5 39.9 780.8
I Landfill sites incudes £5 9m (2022 £8.8m) in relation To future economic benefit 10 be derived as a result of actively fu'filing affer-care obliganons That resufts in gas

generation Landhi site transfers include £2.2m (2022, £1 1m) i relation fo the future ecanomic benefit to be derived as a result of actively fulfiling after-care obligations that
results in gas generation. Wwhen the obligation recogniséd as o provision gives access (o future econarye barefits, an asset in praperty, plant and equipment is recogrised.
Changes in the provision arising from revised estirrates that relate to the asser are recorded as adjustments 1o the corrping value of the asset when the carrying value of the
asset is neganve, these are classifred 10 provisions,
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11.  Property, plant and equipment continued

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites? equipment construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 {53.3) (56.3) (132.8) (1.0} (2434
Depreciation charge for the period (20.4) 4.7 (69.8) - (34.9)
Disposals 6.0 - 36.1 - 42.1
As at 25 March 2022 (67.7) (61.0) (166.5) Loy (296.2)
Depreciation charge for the pericd (19.9) (4.5) (83.5) - (108.0)
Impairment charge for the period - - 9.1 - 9.1
Disposals 452 - 2419 - 2871
As at 31 March 2023 (424) (65.6) (17.2) (1.0) {126.2)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 2228 34.6 358.3 38.9 654.6
As ar 25 March 2022 2242 385 3493 5.2 617.2

1 Landfill sites includes £5 9m (2022 £8.8m) in refation 1o future economic benefit to be derived as a result of actively fulfiling af*er-care obliganions thet results in gas

generation. Landfill site transfers include £2.2m (2022; £1.1m) in relation to the future econormic benefit 1o be derived as a result of actively fulfilling after-care obligations that
results In gas generation. When rhe obligation recognised as a provision gives access to future economic benefits, an asset in property, plant and eguipment 1s recognised
Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates that relate to the asset are recorded as adjustments o the carrying volue of the asset. When the carrymng value of the

asset is negative, these are classified 1o provisions.

Assets corresponding to the Poplars Ancerobic Digestion Plant with a total net book value of £9.1m were impaired to £nil during the year

due to its performance being weaker than expected.

During the year, the Group undgertook o review of our fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposals of property, plant and equipment in the current year with ¢ gross cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment of

£281.8m relate 1o this review.

In addition, further assets were disposed of in return for consideration. These consisted of Land and Buikdings with a net book value of
£2.3m and vehicles and equipment with a net book vaiue of £2.4m. Total proceeds of £7.0m were received (2022: £6.9m}, of which £5.2m
was cash, leading o the recegnition of o gain on disposal of fixed assets of £2.3m (2022: £6.2m}.

Land and buildings and landfill sites at net book value comprise:

2023 2022

Land and Landfill Land and Landfill

buildings sites buildings sites

£m £m £m £m

Freehold 42.0 12.5 428 125
Long leasehold 65.2 14.3 587 16.0
Short leaseheld 115.6 78 122.7 2.0
2228 34.6 2242 38.5

As at 31 March 2023 the Groug had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant, property and equipment

amounting to £49.6m (2022: £12.5m).
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11. Property, plant and equipment continued

Right-of-use assets

The Group records its right-of-use assets within property, plkant and equipment. The Group leases assets including buildings and plant and

equipment,

The average lease term is 14.8 years {2022: 12.8 years). The Group has options fo purchase certain plant and equipment for a nominal
ameunt at the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured by the lessors’ title 10 the leased assets for such leases,

The carrying amount of the Group’s total right-of -use assets included within Property, plant and equipment ore as follows:

Plant,
Land and vehicles and
buildings equipment Total
_Carrying amount £m £fm = Em
As at 26 March 2021 172.6 1234 296.0
Acguired through business combination 137 36 173
Additions 8.2 203 28.5
Depreciation charge for the period (17.9) (34.0) 519
Disposals 1.8 0.2 2.0
Lease modifications 0.7 - 0.7
As at 25 March;zozz gA—-qu.l 113:? 292.6
Acquired through business combination a.1 2.1 2.2
Additions 11.0 521 63.1
Depreciation charge for the period (17.6) (38.2) (55.8)
Disposals (0.9 (0.6) (1.5)
Lease modifications 5.6 - 56
Transferred to owned assets (20.7) 36 (17.13
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 1325 289.1
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 132.5 289.1
As at 25 March 2022 179.1 113.5 2926
12.  Inventories
2023 2022
£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 3.2 2.3
Finished goods 403 329
43.5 35.2

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories consumed in the period ended 31 March 2023 were £87.6m
(2022: £68.3m). Inventory written down in the period totalled £nil (2022: £nil). Reversals of inventory previously written down in the period

were £nil (2022: £ni).

At the end of the financial year £3.8m (2022 £4.2m) of inventory held by the Group related 10 CSG.
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13. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022
Amounts falling due within one year £m £m
Trade receivableg 183.5 178.0
Less expected credit loss allowance (6.3) (5.8)
Trade receivabijes - net 177.2 1722
Orher debtors 11.5 5.3
Prepayments 259 30.0
Prepaid landfill provision expenditure 33 0.1

2179 207.6

The Directors consider that the carrying cmount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.

All amounts included within other debtors and prepayments are due within one year. Trade receivables are nen-interest bearing. Due to their short
maturities, the foir value of trade and other receivables approximates to their book value. The average credit period taken on invoices was 38 days
(2022: 35 days).

Included within Qther debtors is £6.1m related to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland. Refer to Note 34 for further information.

Included in the Group's trade receivabies balances are debts with a carrying amount of £32.5m (2022: £16.2m) which are past due at the reporting
date, representing 18% of the totcl balance (2022: 9%).

Credit limits for new customers are assigned based on the customer's credit quality. An external credit scoring system is used before assigning any
credit limit over £500. Management monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularly. The trade receivables balance consists of a large number of
customer balances, in excess of 87,000, represented largely by local account customers, and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there 7s no realistic
prospect af recavery, for example when a customer enters liquidation. The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different ioss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance
based on past due status s not distinguished between type of customer.

2023 2022

Expected Lifetime Expected Lifetime

credit loss expected credit loss expected

rate credit loss rate credit loss

Trade receivables - days past due % £m £m
1 to 30 days 1.0% 54 1.0% 27
31 to 60 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% 05
61 to 90 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% 03
Over 90 days 50.0% 23 50.0% 23
6.3 58

The allowance for expected credit loss CECLY) includes individually impaired frade receivables which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in liquidation
or are the subject of legal action. The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the
present value of any expected recoveries. Expected credit losses are recognised in accordance with the simplitied approach set out in IFRS 9.

2023 2022

Movement in expected credit loss £m £m
Balonce at the beginning of the peried 5.8 4.6
Impairment losses recegnised in the pericd 5.4 14
Amounts recovered during the period 39 1.0
Amounts written off as uncoliectable (L0 (1.2}
Balance at the end of the period 6.3 5.8

Long-term receivables

2023 2022

Amounts fatling due after more than one year £m £m
Funds on long-ferm deposit 2.5 23
2.5 2.3

No expected credit loss has been recognised for long-term receivables on the basis that the counterparties are A-rated financial institutions.
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14, Assets and Liabilities reiated to Contracts with Customers

Contract assets

2023 2022

£m £m

Current contract assets 625 1.8
&2.5 71.8

Contract assets primarily relate 1o the Group’s right to consideration for work completed but not invoiced at the balance sheet date.
Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the amounts are agreed by the customer. On most contracts, certificates and
agreement is by the customer on @ monthly basis. All contract assets held at 31 March 2023 is expected to be invoiced and transferred 10
trade receivables within the next 12 months.

None of the confract assets at the end of the reporting period is past due, and, taking inte account the historical default experience and
the future prospects in the industry, the Directors consider that no contract assets are impaired.

Contract liabilities

2023 2022

£m £m

Current contract liabilities (279 (27.1)
(27.9) (27.1)

The timing of payments receivad from customers, relative to the recording of revenue, can have a significant impact on the liabilities
recorded on the Group's Statement of Financial Position.

Certain cantracts have payment terms based on contractual milestanes, which are not necessarily aligned to when revenue is recognised,
parficutariy for those contracts with revenue recognised over time by reference to the stage of completion. Where cash is received in
advance of work carried out, and therefore the revenue recognised, a contract liability arises.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advonce consideration received from customers in respect of performance obligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revenue has not been recognised. All contract liabilities held ar 31 March 2023 cre expected
ta satisfy performance obligations in the next 12 months.

15. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 41.2 40.2
Short-term deposits 0.1 0.6
413 40.8

Deposits comprise of an insurance deposit of £0.1m (2022: £0.6m) which represents cash held as security for self-insurance obligations.

16. Financial instruments

2023 2022

Assets held at amortised cost £m £m
Liquidity fund! 9.5 10.2
9.5 10.7

1 Current investments held by 8ray Insurance Company Limited, the Group’s caplive insurance company
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16. Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments

The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9. All cash flow hedges were
deemed to be fully effective and therefore movements in fair value were all recognised within the hedge reserve.

The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange rate contracts which all mature within one year; these forwards will be used by the
Group to hedge Euro currency payments for the export of Refuse Derived Fuel (‘RDF’). The forward foreign exchange contracts have
resulted in the recognition of a derivative liability of £nil (2022: £0.2m).

The Group enters into commeodity swaps to hedge cgainst future movernents in fuel prices. At the end of the financial year these hedges

were in an asset position of £0.5m (2022: £11.7m).

The fair value measurements of derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement, as they are derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly {i.e. as

prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

2023 2022
Fair value Notional Fair value Natinnal
£m £m £m fm
Forward foreign exchange contracts - 53 0.2) 6.3
Commedity hedges 0.5 34.8 117 23.9
0.5 40.1 11.5 30.2
The table below represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on the Group’s derivative financial instruments.
Foreign exchange risk Interest rate risk Commodity risk Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £fm
Balance at the beginning of the period 0.2 0.3 - 2.7 (11.79) 0.6 (11.5) 36
Gain / (loss) arising on changes in fair (0.2) (0.1 - 14 (0.2) (16.1) (0.4) (14.8)
valug of hedging instruments during the
period
(Gain) / loss reclassified to profit or loss - - - - 4.1 - - - “.1
forecast transaction no longer expected to
oceur
Cumulative (gainy / loss transferred to - - - - 11.4 38 11.4 38
initial carrying amount of hedged items
Balance at the end of the period - 0.2 - - (0.5) (11.7) {0.5) (11.5)
Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Private placements and bark loans 4185 630.3
EVP preference liability 14.3 143
4328 644.6
2023 2022
Book Average Book Average
value interest rate vilue interest rate
£m % £m %
Current
Private placements and bank loans 345.0 2.6% - -
EVP preference instrument 6.3 ~ - -
3513 -
Non-current
Private placements and bank loans - - 3540 2.8%
Parent company loan 73.5 8.3% - -
EVP preference instrument o 8.0 ~ 14.3 -
81.5 368.3
Total borrowings 432.8 368.3
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16. Financial instruments continued

Borrowings continued

Refer to Note 23 for the cashfiow movement on borrowings during the current and prior financial periods.

The Group repaid its Revolving Credit Facility ('RCF™ during the year, using funds loaned from its parent company, Biffa Bidco Limited.

The private placements have been classified as current because they were rerminated on 23 May 2023,

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IPO lenders were issued with preference share capital in Wasteholdco 1 Limited in exchange
for settiement of amounts due to them. The associafed liability is £14.3m.,

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost and the EVP preference liability is measured at fair value, All financial assets ond financial
ligbilities have been classified as Level 2 in the foir value hierarchy os defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement,

Infterest rates on borrowings

2023 2022
Principal Average Principal Average
damount interesf rate amount interest rate
£m % £m Yo
Term facility - - [.0 3.2%
Parent company loan 73.5 8.3% - -
Private placement - £150.0m 150.0 2.7% 150.0 27%
Privare placement - £195.0m 1950 25% 195.0 2.5%
418.5 354.0
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
2023 2922
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
Notes £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables! 13 1772 177.2 172.2 172.2
Financial asset arising on liquidity fund 95 25 107 107
Financial asset arising from IFRIC 12 29 4.3 4.3 40 4.0
Financial asset arising from capitalisation of bormrowing fees” - - 1.0 1.0
Financial asset arising from investment in Lovejunk Limited 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6
Funds on long-term deposit 13 25 25 23 23
Loans to joint ventures and associates 20.2 20.2 14.3 14.3
Derivative financial instrument 0.9 0.9 117 11.7
Cash and cash equivalents 15 413 41.3 408 40.8
o ) e 2565 _ 256.5 25786 2526
Financial liabilities
Private placements and bark loans® (345.0} (306.0) (354.0) (337.4)
Parent company loan (73.5) (735) - -
Lease liakilities 24 (283.5) (283.5) (276.3) (276.3)
EVP preference liability 29 (14.3) (14.3) (14.3) (14.3)
Trade and other payables® 17 (305.4) (305.6) {286.7) (286.7)
Deferred and comtingent consideration (5.9} (5.9 (7.2} {(7.2)
Derivative financial instrument (0.4) (0.4) (0.2) {0.2)
(1,028.2) (989.2) (938.7) (922.1)
Net financial liabilities (771.7) (732.7) (681.1) {664.5)
1 Trade and other receivables exciudes prepayments and other debtors
2 Trade and other payables excludes contingent liabilithies, geferred income, taxarion ond social secunty and other non-tinonaa! liotilings.
3 Private placements and bank loans includes £195 Om green loan following the launch of its Sustamability-_inked Finance Framework in the year ended 25 March 2022, The funag
15 inked o Ywo key performance targers. reducing scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 50% by 2030; and *ripling Biffa Polymers plashies recycling capacity by 2025.
4 Unamortised fransaction costs of £1.0m incurred in the origination of the private placements hgve been written off during the year.

The fair values of non-derivative financial assets and liokilities are determined based on discounted cash fiow analysis using current

market rates for similar instruments.
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16.  Financial instruments continued

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it 1o @ variety of financial risks: market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Groug’s overall risk management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financiol risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Dirertars

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capita! structure using a number of measures and taking info account its future strategic plans. Such measures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is caiculated as ‘equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as total borrowings {including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position} less cash and cash equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk management
strategy is appropriate and effective.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest ot floating rates. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substentiolly independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings. Berrowings issued at variabie rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain an
cppropriate propartion of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.

The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

2023 2022
Financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Fioating rate - 3.0
Fixed rate 7020 621.3
Non-interest bearing
EVP preference instrument 14.3 14.3
Other financial lichilities 311.5 2939
1,027.8 938.5

Fixed rate financia! liabilities relate ta lease ligbilities, Non-interest bearing financial liabilities comprise trade payables,

2023 2022
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rote — cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Floating rate — other 25 2.3
Fixed rate 202 -
Non-interest bearing
Liguidity fund 9.5 69
Other fingncial ossets 182.1 192.1
255.6 245.9

The interest on fixed rate fingncial instruments is fixed until the maturity of the investment. The interest an floating rate financicl
instruments is reset gt intervals of less than onc year. The other financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not included in the
cbove tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are exposed to fair value interest rate risk and floating rate financial
assets and liabilities to cash flow interest rate risk.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from currency exposures primarily related to the disposal of RDF vig export to Europe. The
Group enfers info forward controcts to purchase Euros based upon expected costs. These derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk, but is exposed to commodity price risks on its outputs. The
commodities that the Group is exposed to are fuel, electricity, paper, glass, cardboard, steel, aluminium and plastics (including HDPE and
PET). The price risk associated with commodities is considered to be in the ordinary course of business for the Group,
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16. Financial instruments continued
Credit risk

Credit risk is mariaged on a Group basjs as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, ds well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A are accepted.

Management does not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Note 13,

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial information, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s
maximum exposure To credit risk. These amounts include receivable balances from local authority clients, hence are not exposed to
significant credit risk. Given the above factors, the Board does not consider it necessary to present a defailed analysis of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan focilities to meet short-term business reguirements, after taking into account

the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents. The expected undiscounted cash flow of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual maturity, at the balance sheet date is shown below:

2023
Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond Total
o i - £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings' {345.0) - - (73.5) (418.5)
Lease liabilities (55.1) (41.6) (749 (1119 (2835)
Trade and cther payables (300.0) (4.1) (1.2) 0.3 (305.6)
Deferred and contingent consideration 3. (0.3) (0.9) {(1.5) 5.9
EVP liability (6.3) B30 - - (14.3)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 413 - - - 41.3
Liquidity fund 9.5 - - - 9.5
Trade and other receivables 1772 - - - 177.2
(481,5) (54.00 (77.0) (182.3) {799.8)
L A restructure of the Group's debt became effective in May 2023, o5 part of which the private placements were refinanced See Note 34 for further details
2022
Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
cne year years years beyond Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings - - (2.0 (345.0) (354.0)
Lease liabilities (53.8) (43.1) (69.4) (110.0) (276.3)
Trade and other payables (2867 - - - (286.7)
Deferred ond contingent consideration {4.2) (0.3 {0.8) (1.9 (72)
EVP liability - - (14.3) - (14.3)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 40.8 - - - 40.8
Liguidity fund 10.7 - - - 107
Trade and other receivables 172.2 - - - 172.2
(121.0) {43.4) {93.5) {456.9) (714.8)
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17.  Trade and other payables

2023 2022
P ] e im £m
Current

Trade payables 221.9 204./
Toxorhinn and social scourty 492 540
Interest payable 15 1.8
Accruals 718 75.6
Other payables 1.8 0.6
o 349.2 340.7

Non-current
Trade and other payables 5.6 6.6
o 5.6 6.6
354.8 347.3

Included within frade and other payables is £2.0m (2022: £2.3m) in relgtion 1o government grants.

The taxation and social security figure of £49.2m (2022: £54.0m) includes £0.1m (2022: £0.3m) in relation to the corporation tax creditor.

18. Provisions

Landfill
restoration HMRC
and after- Onerous IFRIC  Landfill Tax
care Insurance contracts Dilapidations 12 enguiry Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 26 March 2021 1.0 161 2G5 8.8 - - 1.0 117.4
Utilised during the pericd 47) (5.8) (53 0.2) - - {3.5) (20.5)
Acquired through business
combination - - 20 34 127 - 5.0 23.1
Charged to the income
statement during the period 4.8 2.7 a2 1.5 - 17.0 13 31.3
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (0 3) - - - - - - (0.3
Unwind of discount 2.4 - - - 0.4 - - 28
Transfers from fixed assets
(Note 11) 09 - - - - - - 0.9
Transfers from trade and other
payables - - - - - 30 - 30
As at 25 Morch 2022 73.9 13.0 204 13.5 131 20.0 3.8 157.7
Utilised during the periad 4.4y (4 (5.2) {0.2) (1.4) (3.7) (2.2) (18.5)
Adjustments to priar periog
acguisitions (Note 8) - - - - 38 - - 38
Charged to the income
statement during the period 49 19 61 Q1 - 50.7 0.9 640
Impact of real discount rare
changes to profit or (oss (24.8) - - - - - - (24.8)
Unwind of discount 2.9 - - - 0.4 - - 33
Transfers to fixed assets
(Note 113 (2.2) - - - - - - (2.2)
Transfers from traode and other
receivables 33 - - - - - - 33
Transfers from /(to} trade and
other poyables - 03 - - - {3.0) - (2.7)
As at 31 March 2023 53.6 _ 148 20.3 . 134 15.9 64.0 2.5 1845
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18. Provisions continued

Provisions have been analysed between current and non- current as 1ollows:

2023 2022
- e e M
Current 20.0 20.3
_Menewwenr ————— e lb4S5AETA
. 184.5 157.7

Landfill restoration and after-care

As part of 1ts normal activities, the Group undertakes ro resfore its fandfill sites and to maintain the sires and control feachiare and
methane emissions from the sites. A provision s made for these anticipated costs. A number of estimate uncertainties atfect the
calculation, including the impact of reguiation, climate change, accuracy of site surveys, fransportunion costs, and changes in the rea
discount rare The prowision mcerporates our best estimates of the finoncial effecrs ot these uncertginties, but future chonges in gny of
these estimartes could moierially impact rhe calculotion of the provision. Restoration costs are incurred as each site is filled and in the
period immediately after its ciosure. Maintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site is tilled and for a
number of years post closure. Atter-care costs are incurred for & number of years post closure. This period can vary significantly from site
o site, depending upon the types of waste landfilled, the speed at which It decompases, the way the site 15 engineered ond the regularory
requirements specific to the site.

Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that relute fo
property, plant and equipment are recognised within the income statement, The associated cutflows are esfimated 1o arise over a period
of up ro 60 years depending on the date of each site closure In determining the provision, the estimares for future expenditure required 10
settle the obligation are inflated using longar-ferm infiation rates, and discounted using the nominal discount rate as explained in the
‘discounting of provisions’ section below.

Insurance

The ossoeciated outflows are estimated 1o agrise over @ period of up 10 s years from the bolance sheet dare The Insuronce provision incluoes seff-
insurance by the Group on bofh low and high value items

Onerous contracts

The Group recogrises anerous contract provisions for any unavoidable ner lasses arising from contracts. The Group reviews I1s ONerous contruct
provisions at each reporting date and whenever there is a material change 1In management’s expectations of the contract. At the end ot the
tinancial year the Group held onerous contract provisions in relation to the foifowing contracts:

. Epping Forest District Council (<2 years remaining)

N South Oxfordshire & Vale (<2 years remaining)

. Leicester City Counclil (<6 years remaining)

The future cosh inflows from these onerous contracts are relatively predictable os they are fixed ond bosed on the teyms of the conmocs. However,
the costs associated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future cash outflows is considered a significant estimare when
maodelling the furure net cash outflows on onerous contract provisIons.

Cilapidations
Dilopidations arise on leasad items where the Group has an obligation 1o return these items fo their original condifion as ar the lease Incepiion.

TFRIC 12

The TFRIC 12 provision represents the future capital expenditure on reverting assefs on the West Sussex Recycfing confract. This controct was
acquired as part of the Vindor acquisition ond a provision of £12.7m was ininally recoghised on fhe acguisition opening balance sheet in The pnor
pericd A subsequent remeusurement exercise resulted in the provision on the opening balance sheet being increased by £3.8m in the current year
Tne provision is discounted over the durafion of the conirgos rerm.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enguiry

As set out in Note 1, Biffo Waste Services Limited (‘BWSL) is currently the subyject of an enquiry by HMRC regarching certam aspects of s Landfill
Tax compliance {‘the Enquiry’), as part of concerns HMRC has primarily relating 16 the interpretation of the qualifying fines regume set ouf in LRT)
HMRC olso raised concerns, based on its analysis of BwSL's data, over the potential conduct of BWSL and specific customers, which may hove fed
to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid

Inn Biffa's view, and based on advice received fo date, there are a range of possible outcomes 1o the Enquiry and ¢ is difficulr o accurarety
ascerrain the quantum or timing of any potentiol liability with cerfainty or precision. Whilst Biffa believes 1t has a strong case, fhere femains
significant uncertainty in the ultimate outcome and @ provision has been recoganised for £64m, including associated costs and inferest, which
addresses the range of matters arising from the £377m of protective assessments received 1o date and the further estimates of habiliry shared by
HMRC 1 the context of without prejudice seftflement discussions disclosed in Note 1 excluding the element we consider o be a contingent liakyity
disclosed i Noie 27.

The estimare assumes that any possible penalty thar could be levied would be suspended and accordingly has not been recognised Paymant would
not be required ar the ena of the suspension period providing The relevant condimions are met
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18 Provisions continued

Other
Other provisions relate to legal fees and life assurance.

Discounting of provisions
Long-term provisions included in landfill restoration and after-care have been inflated and discounted using the below nominal rates. The

rates reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years.

Long-term provisions included in anerous contracts have Leen discounted using the below nominal rates.

Inflation rate Discount rate
Period of obligation 2023 2022 2023 2022
5 years 2.4% 3.6% 4.9% 2.7%
10 years 29% 3.6% 4.8% 2.8%
20 years 3.3% 3.6% 4.9% 2.9%
30 years 32% 3.4% 4.6% 2.9%
60 years 3.1% 3.3% 4.4% 2.7%

A inurease of 1% in the recl discount rate (at current cost) would result in a decrease of environmental provisions of approximately £8.0m
(2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in cash outflows would result in an increased environmental provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term
after-care provisions included in landfill restoration and after-care provisions have been inflated ot a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase
of 1% in the rate of inflation would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23.1m}.

In arriving at the onerous contfract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group has discounted the
future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In
arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the Group has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rafe
of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £1.5m.
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19. Deferred taxation

The following are the major tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current period:

Temporary
difference
arising on Recognised
property, Share- Retirement Other tax losses
plant and based benefit intangible carried
equipment payments Provisions Hedging surplus Goodwill assets forward Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 256 23 0.8 - (21.3) &.8 (33.1 84 (111
Acquired through business
combingtion {5.5) - - - (0.33 - (3.6) - (15.4)
Credit / (charge) to the
Income statement during
The perod 66 0.4 a5 Gl (4.9) 08 3.5 1.0 1.2
Charge to other
comprehensive income
during the period - - (2.2) (15.03 - - - (17.2)
As a¥ 25 March 2022 2867 27 1.3 {21 (41.5) 786 {46.0) 19.4 (32.5)
Acquired through business
combination (2.5) - - - - - (3.1) - (5.6)
Adjustments to prior period
acquisitions (Note 8) 34 - - - - - 03 - 37
{Charge) / credit to the
ncome statement during
the period (129 4.2 16.2 - 2.9 (1.3) (0.5) 31 (2.5)
Credit 1o other
comprehensive income
during the period - 15 - 24 206 - - 245
As at 31 March 2023 14.7 - 17.5 03 (23.8) 6.3 {49.9) 22.5 (12.4)

A deferred tax liability of £24.5m (2022: £32.5m) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%). Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is o legally enforceable right 1o set off current 1ax assets against current tax liabilities.

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had unused tax losses of £106.9m (2022: £94.6m) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tox
asset has been recognised in respect of £89.7m (2022: £77.4m) of these losses. No deferred taux asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining £17.2m (2022; £17.2m) as it is not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available in the statutory entity in
which these losses are being carried forward,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer

probable that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset 1o be

recovered.

The Group has considered the impact of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxable profits (including loss of revenue
from cessation of ROCs in 2027, the potential Deposit Return Scheme (‘DRSY) in England and increased carbon taxes) in subseguent

reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overail impact from the cessation of RCCs has been considered in forecasts,

however given the low financial impact of the DRS iagisiation and increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it to have a
material impact on the recoverobility of the deferred fax asses.
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20.  Share-based payments

Share-based payments charges of £7.7m (2022: £3.7m) have been charged to administrative expenses. The increased charge during the
year is due to the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP. On acquisition, all schemes either vested early or were cancelled, resulting in an

accelerated charge.

During the year the Group had one conditional share-based payment arrangement granted to Directors and employees. The arrangement
lapsed in full on completion of the ECP acquisition. The fikelihcod of lapse was reflected in the reduced fair value on grant, as detailed in

the foilowing fable.

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price

options  Centractual at date of  Number of Expected Fair value

originally life grant employees  Expected life Risk-free per option

Date of grant granted (years) (pence) at grant volatility (years) rate (pence)
2 July 2018 1,014,880 2.9 251.0 36 24% 293 0.71% 173.2
1 October 2018 218,359 2.9 253.0 2 24% 293 0.89% 1738
11 December 2018 18 819 29 192.2 1 24% 29z 0.90% 114.1
1 July 2019 1,773988 30 211.0 37 25% 30 0.54% 112.8
1 July 2020 2,354,948 3.0 201.0 77 27% 293 (0.0M% 1077
1 June 2021 29792 30 300.5 1 30% 209 0.09% 174 4
14 June 2021 1,855,274 3.0 2335 41 29% 3.01 0.14% 187.6
4 October 2022 1,051 065 3.0 409.2 26 39% 3.0 4.05% 34.5

The Group uses the following fair value models to value its share awards namely stochastic, black-scholes and chaffe model.

The expected volatiiity is & measure of the amount by which a share price is expected to fluctuate during the period. It Is calculated based
on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the length of the award period. A reconciliation of mavements in the number of share

awards can be summarized as follows:

Number of options

Outstanding as at

__Date of grant eriginally granted Vested Lapsed / forfeited 31 March 2023
2 July 2018 1,014,880 (820,319) (194,561) -
1 Octeber 2018 218,359 (218,359) - -
11 December 2018 18,819 (18,819) - -
1 July 2019 1,773,988 (800,561) (973,427) -
1 July 2020 2,354,948 (2,058,878) (296,070) -
1 June 2021 29,792 (29,792) - -
14 June 2021 1,855,274 (1,066,675) (788,599) -
4 October 2022 1,051,065 - (1,051,065} -

The Performance Share Plan ('PSP*) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-cost options. The July
2019, July 2020 and June 2021 gwards vested during the year ended 31 March 2023, with the latter two vesting early due to the sale to ECP.
The 14 June 2021 award was reduced by one third for time pro-ration to reflect the early vest. The October 2022 award lapsed in full on
completion of the sale to ECP. Given the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP and subsequent delisting, there are expected to be no future

PSP awards.

Sharesave Plan

In the financial year 2017 the Biffa Group lgunched the Biffa Sharesuve Plan to all employees with six months or more continuous
employment at the date of the scheme launch. The scheme is subject to HMRC rules which limit the monthly contributions to £500. The
scheme term is for three years and options may be exercised during the six months after completion of the Save As You Earn contract.

Since the launch of the schema new Sharesave Plans have been lounched in subsequent financial years under the same ferms.

There were no new options granted during the year. All Sharesave Plans ended on acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP.
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21, Reserves

Share capital

Number £
As at 25 March 2022 305,908,483 3,059,085
Share issues 3,389,261 33,892
As gt 31 March 2023 309,297,744 3,092,977

Share premium
The share premium represents amounts received in excess of the nominal value of shares issued since IPQ, net of the direct costs
associated with issuing those shares.

f£m
As at 25 March 2022 24756
Share issues 4.6
As ot 31 March 2023 252.2

Merger reserve
The opening merger reserve of £170.3m arose on both the acquisition of Wasteholdeo 1 Limited in 2008 and o Jersey registered ‘cash box’
company that facilitated an equity raise in 2020.

= . o £m
As at 25 March 2022 . 1703
As at 31 March 2023 170.3
Hedging reserve
2023 2022
£m £em
Batance at the beginning of the period 9 {6.4)
Fair value (less) / gain arising on hedging instruments during the period (10.9) 150
Tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 2.4 2.2
Net gain on cash flow hedges in joint venfures and associates (net of tax) 198 35
Balance ot the end of the period 21.2 9.9
22. Retained earnings
2023 2022
£m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 52.4 43.9
Loss for the period (16.7) (17.6)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the period (61.9) 337
Value of employee service in respect of share option schemes (excluding NICs) 4.7 27
Purchase of shares in E8T (1.5} (3.6}
Deferred tax movement in share option schemes 15 -
Dividends paid {14.3) 6.7
Balance at the end of the period {35.8) 52.4
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23. Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt

2023 2022
o £m £m
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 05 10.0
Net increase in private placements and bank lcans (64.5) (156.4)
Net (increase) / decrease in lease liabilities B (7.2 /4
Movement in Group Net Debt in the period (71.2) (139.0)
Group Net Debt at the beginning of the pericd (595.8) (456.8)
Group Net Debt at the end of the period (667.0) (595.8)
Analysis of Group Net Debt
2023 2022
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Lease liabilities (283.5) (2706.3)
Frivate placements and lcans (418.5) (354.0)
EVP preference liability (6.5) (6.3
Group Net Debt (667.0) {595.8)
EVP preference liability 6.3 63
Other finance instruments 9.5 107
Covenant basis Net Debt (651.2) (578.8)

The £6.3m EVP preference liability has been included within Group Net Debt as it is payable to EVP preference shoreholders. The remaining
£8.0m liakility payable to EVP preference sharehclders will be funded by reduced tax payments on future earnings.

The Group’s leverage is calculated on Group Net Debt as follows:

2023 2022
Group leverage ratio (Net Debt: Adjusted EBITDA) 3.0x 3.1x

Adjusted EBITDA is defined and reconciled to Operating Profit in the Appendix to the financial statements,

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

As at As ar

25 March Financing  Acquired Acquisition of New Other 31 March

2022 cash flows loans subsidiary leases  Changes?! 2023

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Lease liabilities (276.3) 722 - (2.2) (68.7) (8.5) (283.5)
Private placements and leans (354.0) 13.4 (72.5) (44) - (1L.0) {418.5)
EVP preference liability (14.3) - - - - - {14.3)
{644.6) 85.6 (72.5) (6.6) (68.7) {9.5) (716.3)

1 Other changes includes interest expense recognrised an lease liabllities, disposals of tease liabilitias; and interast accrued on leans and private placements.
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23. Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt continued

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities continued

As at As at
26 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 25 March
2021 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changes' 2022
£m £Em £Em £m £m £m £m
Lease liabiiities (283.7) 628 - (17.3) (319 6.2} (276.3)
Private placements and loans (197.6) 191.1 (345.0) - - (2.5) (354.0)
EVP preference liability (47.6) - - - - 333 (14.3)
(528.9) 2539 (345.0) (17.3) 31.9) 24.6 (644.6)

1 Grher changes incudas interest expense recognised on lease habilities; disposals of lease liabikhes, and interest accrued on loans ond private piacements

24. Lease liabilities

Lease obligations are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12
months from the reporting date, os follows:

2023 2022

Current 55.1 53.8
Nen-eurrenr 2284 000 2225
- 2835 763
Undiscounted payments Present value

2023 2022 2023 2022

Lease liability maturity analysis £Em £m £m £m
within one year 653 62.2 55.1 53.8
More than cone year but less than two years 55.0 49.0 416 43.1
More than two years but less than five years 100.0 795 749 9.4
After five years 178.6 257.1 119 119.0
3989 4478 2835 276.3

Less future fincnce charges (115.4) {171.5) - -
283.5 276.3 283.5 276.3

The cverage lease term is 14.8 years (2022: 12.8 years). For the period ended 31 March 2023, the effective borrowing rate was 4.0% (2022
3.1%).

Costs / (income) recognised in the income statement relating to leases and right-of-use assets are as follows:

2023 2022

Notes £m £m

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 11 55.8 51.9
Interest expense on lease liakilites 3 103 98
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 4 (3.3) (3.3)
Expense relating to shert-term and low-value assets 4 216 25.5

Cash repayments of £72.2m (2022 £62.8m) on leases have been made in the year.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes
During the period the Group incurred a £13.3m charge (2022: £11.5m) in relation to defined contributions schemes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes: Biffa Pension Scheme (‘BPS"), an Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits
Scherne (UURBS"), the Federated Pension Plan (‘'FPP?), Prudential Platinum (‘Platinum®), the Kent County Council Pension Fund (the "Kent
Fund"), The Citrus Pension Plan- Biffa Waste Services Limited Section (previously named the Virider Somerset Section) (‘Citrus”), the Devon
County Council Pension Fund ('Devon’), the Stattordshire Pension Fund (the ‘Staffordshire Fund’) and the Greater Manchester Pension Fund
('GMPF") (collectively, the ‘Schemes™).

The Group is also admitted in the Cornwall Pension Fund (the ‘Cornwall Fund’) and Norfolk Pension Fund (the ‘Norfolk Fund'). The
contractual terms of the commercial agreements that admit the Group 1o these schemes limit the actuarial risk that the Group is exposed
to; consequently the schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

The Schemes offer both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. All the Schemes are closed to new members. The BPS,
Platinum, Cornwall Fund, Kent Fund and Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual although the BPS is closed for the majority of members
and only o few employees with statutory protections remain in active service, The BPS makes up around 95% of the total liability across
the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group o actuarial risks such as market (investment) risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk, currency risk and
longevity risk.

The Schemes are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that is the Group. The Trustee board of the
Schemes is composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and member nominated Trustees (where the legal minimum
proportion of member nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by low to act in the best interests of the members
of the Scheme Investment policy with regard to the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Scheme” surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group’s Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. The funding position, calculated at the triennial actuarial assessment, is used 1o agree contributions fo the
Schemes. The two measures will vary because they are for different purposes, and are calculated at different rates and in different ways.
The key calculation difference is that the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Scheme”
liability, whereas the accounting position under IAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes have an accounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditionally ovailable
in the form of a reduction in the future cash contributions or as a cash refund. Where a surplus of ¢ defined benefit Scheme arises or there
is potential for a surplus to arise from committed future contributions, the right of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund of
that surplus is considered in determining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 which revealed o funding surplus of £19.3m on the technicai
provisions basis, a deficit of £106.9m against the solvency estimate, and ¢ deficit of £86.2m against the low dependency estimate.

The Group will contribute as follows until the earlier of: i. 30 June 2025; and ii. the date on which Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited ('BCHLY)
and the participating employers are notified by the Trustees that the Scheme has achieved its long-term target of reaching full funding on
the Low Dependency Basis for three consecutive guarter ends;

. the first payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2022 equal to £4.3m;

. the second payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2023 equat to £4.3m;

. the third payment will be made on or before 31 March 2024 equal to £4.3m; and

. thereafter, payments will be made in monthly instalments of £358,333 payable on or before the last day of the month in which they
are due.

The Cornwall Fund, Norfolk Fund, Kent Fund, Staffordshire Fund and GMPF are all Local Government Pension Schemes. when determining

the appropriate accounting treatment for these schemes, the Group considers the extent to which it is exposed to actuarial risk

throughout the term of the commercial contract and also obligated to fund any deficit on exit of the contract.

Investment risk
The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-

quality AA-rated corporate bonds; in other words, from the position of being fully funded then i the return on the Schemes’ assets were
below this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes.

In addition to the natural interest rate hedging provided by its investment in bonds, the Trustees also purchase derivatives to ensure that
the funding position of the Schemes cre, overall, hedged against 85% of movements in long-term risk-free interest rotes and 85% of
movements in inflation expectations. No annuities or specific mortality hedging products have been purchased by the Schemes.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Interest risk

A decrease in the corporate bond yield will increase the Schemes’ liabilitles; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the

Schemes’ corporate bond assets.

Longevity risk

The present values of the Schemes” liakilities are calculated by reference 1o the best estimate of the mortality of the Schemes’ members both during
and after their employment, An increase in the life expectancy of the Schemes’ members will increase the Schemes' liobilities.

Inflation risk

The present vaiues of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in deferment
and pension increases in payment), which will depend on future inflation expectrations. As such, an increase in the expectation of future infiation will

increase the Schemes’ lichilities.

The lump sum death benefits paid to dependents of the Schemes’ members are insured with an external insurance company. The present value of
the obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit methaod.

Actuarial valuation

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 and has been updated to 31 March 2023 by o qualified independent

actuary. The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms) as follows:

o . o 2023 2022
Discount rate 4.9% 2.9%
Rate of salary increase 3.2% 3.9%
Rate of inflation - RPI 31% 4.2%
Rate of inflation - CPI 27% 3.4%
Rate of pension increases' - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 2.5% p.o. {(pensioners / non pensioners) 2.0% 2.2% / 1.9%
Rote of pension increases! - RPT with floor of 0% cop of 5.0% p.a. (pensioners / Non-pensioners) 29% 33% /2.8%
Rate of pension increases! - RP1 with floor of 0% cap of 6,0% p.a. {pensioners / non-pensicners) 30% 35% / 3.0%
Rate of pension increases' - CPI with floor of 0% cap of 3.0% p.a. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 2.7% 23% /21%
Rote of pension incregses' - CPI uncapped (pensioners / non-pensionersy 2.8% 3.3% / 3.0%
Longevity (years)

Expected future lifetime of a male pensioner currently aged 65 208 212
Expected future lifatime of o female pensioner currently aged 65 229 233
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a male member currently aged 45 221 225
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a fernale merber currently aged 45 24.5 24.9
I In excess of any Guaranfeed Mipumum Pension ('GMP™).
The assets in the Schemes were:
2023 2022
£m Yo £m Yo
Equity 82.4 18.5% 1074 17.1%
Bonds 8.0 1.8% 10.8 1.7%
Properties and infrastructure 18,0 4.1% 225 3.6%
Hedge funds 72.1 16.2% 720 11.5%
LDI investments - BPS 164.2 37.0% 3014 47.9%
Other 9.6 22.4% 114.2 18.2%
4443 628.3
_Actual return on plan gssets . {176.3) 9.4

The fair value of the abave asser classes dre determined based o quoted (bidy market prices. Virtually all equity and debt instruments have
guoted prices in active rnarkets. Derivatives are classified as Level 2 instruments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 instruments under IFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement. It is the policy of the Schemes to use hedge funds and liability driven investmenis to hedge some of their exposure to

interest rate and inflation risks. This policy has been implemented during the current and prior years.

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the valuation of the property portfolio, where a valuation is obfained annually from

professionally qualified external valuers. The evidence to support these property valuations is based primarily on recent, comparable market
Transactions om an arm'’s length basis, However the assumiptions applied are inherently subjective and so are subject to a degree of uncerfainty.

An increase in the property valuation of 10% would increase pension assets by £1.8m. An increase in the valuation of traded assets of 10% would

increase pension assets by £16.2m.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Actuarial valuation continued

Reconciliation of movetnents in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2023 2022

£m £m

Benefit obligotion at the beginning of the period 470.6 525.8
Service cost 2.4 25
Interest cost 135 10.4
Contributions by scheme participants 0.4 0.3
Net remeasurement gains - financial (142.2) (56.2)
Net remeasurement gains - demographic (4.2) (4.3)
Net remeasurement losses - experience 176 1.0
Newly recognised schemes - 7.8
Benefits paid (18.2) (16.8)
Past service costs Q.1
Benefit obligation at the end of the period 339.9 470.6

Reconciliation of movements in the fair value of Schemes’ assets

2023 2022

£m £m

Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the beginning of the period 6283 621.6
Interest income on Scheme’s assets 18.1 12.4
Return on assets, exciuding interest income (194.3) (3.00
Cther experience 17 -
Contributions by employers 10.2 57
Contributions by Scheme’s participants 04 03
Newly recognised schemes - 2.3
Benefits paid (18.2) {16.8)
Scheme administrative cost (2.0) (1.2)
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the end of the period 444.2 628.3

Armounts recagnised in comprehensive income in the period

2023 2022

£m £m

Current service cost 2.4 2.6
Past service cost - 0.1
Administrative cost 1.9 1.2
Service cost adjustment in respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund (0.8) (1.1)
Net interest on the defined benefit surplus (4.8) (2.3)
Components of defined benefit (gain) / cost recognised in the income statement .3 0.5
Return on Scheme’s assets (excluding amounts in net inferest expense) 194.2 3.0
Actuarial gain loss from changes in fingncial assumptions (142.2) (56.2)
Actuarial gain from changes in demaographic assumptions (4.2) (4.3)
Actuarial loss from changes in experignce assumptions 159 10
Muvelien inasser celing (0.4} 31
Newly recognised schemes - (1.3)
GMPF Admission agreement 19.2 60
Components of defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in other comprehensive income 82.5 (48.7)
Total defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in total comprehensive income 81.2 (48.2)

The current service cost is included In operating costs in the income statement. The net inferest expense is included within finance charges
in the income statement. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehensive income.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Actuaria! valuation continued
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group's obligation in respect of its defined
benefit Schemes is as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Prasent value of funded defined benefit obligation (339.9) (470.6)
Fair value of funded Scheme’s assets 4442 6283
Adjustment for the restriction in asset benefit 4.0 4.3)
Adjustment in respect of GMPF agreement (52) 127
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation 95.1 166.1

Significant actuorial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligotion ore the discount rote, expected future inflation
and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in the assumptions accurring
ot the end of the reporting period, while holding ol! other assumptions constant,

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022 £104 .6m).
If the inflation assumption increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022; 100.0m).
If the life expectancy increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrease by £9.6m (2022: £14.9m),

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation gs it is uniikely
that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another

Furthermare, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that agpplied in calculating the defined benefit
obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

The Schemes’ participating employers are Biffo Waste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Environmental Municipal Services
Limited, Biffa Leicester Limited and Biffa west Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members’ future accrua!
(fo the extent that any protected members remain working for each of these companies) earned on a yearly basis.

Protected members pay @ range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to 6% of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including past service augmentations) is paid by the
cbove entities of the Group. These contributions are agreed between BCHL (the Principal Employer) and the Trustees of the Schemes
following each triennial valuation of the Schemes.

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes’ liabilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the triennial valuation,
but some asset out performance is allowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions paid for by the participating employers.
Additional liabilities stemming from past service due to qugmentation of benefits are added to the Schemes’ deficit.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March 2023 is approximately 18 years (2022: 19 years).

The Group expects to make o contribution of £6.0m to the Schemes during the financiai year to 29 March 2024,

26. Related party tfransactions

There have been no material related party transactions with any Directors in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil) except for key
management compensation as set out in Note 5.

During the year to 31 March 2023, the Group invested £11.7m (2022: £17.4m) in Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Limited. The Group issued
further loan notes of £4.7m (2022: £7.5m) during the period and accrued unpaid interest income of £1.2m (2022: £0.8m). As at 31 March
2023 the Group recognised outstanding loan receivable balances due from Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Ltd of £20.2m (2022:
£14.3m). Both parties can redeem the notes at any time. The annual rate of interest on the notes is 8%. This whole balance remained
outstanding at year end. None of the amount is deemed 1o be uncollectable and no expenses have been recognised during the period in
respect of bad or doubtful debts in this regard.

Na Directors held any material interest in any contract with the Company or the Group in the year to 31 March 2023 or subsequent period.,
The Group has made £10.2m (2022: £5.7m) of contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes.

During the year to 31 March 2023, the Group received loans of £73.5m from ifs parent company, Biffa Bidco Limited. The loan proceeds
ware usad to repay the Group RCF. Interest accrues on the outstanding loan balance at 8.3%.

There are no additional related party transactions to disclose.
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27. Contingent liabilities

Bonds

The Group must satisfy environmental agency financial security requirements in order to ensure that it is able to discharge the obligations
in landfill site licences and permits. The Group meets these financial security requirements by providing financial security bonds. The
amount of financial security which is required is determined in conjunction with the regulatory agencies, as is the method by which
assurance is provided. The Group has outstanding bond arrangements in England and wales of approximately £96.3m (2022: £86.7m;) for
permitted waste activities where the Group has obligations under the Environment Agency’s fit and proper person fest to make adequate
financigl provision Additinnntly, the Group has bonds to u vulue ol £18.51 (2U42: £16.1m) tor performance of local authority and other
contracts. No liability is expected to arise in respect of these bonds. The Group also has three letters of credit in relation to the deferred
equity contributions on Newhurst Efw and Protos Efw amounting to £17.2m (2022: £32.2m).

Hazardous soils

The Group is engaged in & dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of sub-scils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outcome is not certain, however the Group has received a protective assessment of
£8.5m, which has been paid and is included in prepayments as the Group is disputing this assessment.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquity

As set out in Nale 1, Biffa waste services Limited (“BWSL”) is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of
its Landfill Tax complicnce (‘the Enquiry), as part of concerns HMRC has primarily relating to the interpreftation of the qualifying fines
regime set out in LFTL HMRC olso raised concerns, based on its analysis of BwWSLU's dota, over the potential conduct of BWSL and
specific customers, which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

A provision has been recognised for £64.0m {2022: £20.0m) including associated costs and interest based on specific amounts asserted
by HMRC to date. In addition, HMRC hes raised general issues about Biffa's compliance with the qualifying fines regime set out in LFTL.
The Directors do not consider that a liabitity is likely to arise for those general matters, and therefore this is freated as a contingent
liability.

BWSL's potential additional liakility for Landfill Tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m, based on information
provided by HMRC, pius interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

For further information, please refer to the key source of estimation uncertainty disclosure relating to this matter in Note 1 and the
related provision disclosure in Note 18.

28. Investments in joint ventures and associates
Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures and associates at the end of the reporting period are os follows:

Name of joint venture or Place of incorporation and Proportion of ownership
associate Principal activity principal place of business interest and voting rights held
Protos Holding Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 25%
Protos ERF Limited Energy from waste Engiand and wWales 25%
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%

Summarised financial information for each of the Group’s joint ventures and associates is set out below. Amounts presented are prepared
in accordance with IFRS Standards.

2023 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
Statement of Financial Position ) £m £m £m £m
Current assets 19.8 1021 70 ) 529
Non-current gssets 338.1 263.3 255.3 185.8
Current liabilities (9.7) (8.4) 7.4 (22.1)
Non-current liakilities (254.3) (297.1) (197.7) (213.1)
Net assets 93.9 59.9 57.2 3.5
Net assets includes:
Cash and cash equivalents 9.2 93.0 5.1 50.0
Current fingncial liabilities’ [CA)] (79 (5.7 (14.8)
Non-current financial liobilities! (254.3) (297.1) (197.7) (213.1)

Financial liabilihes excludes trade and other payables and provisions
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28. Investments in joint ventures and asscciates continued

2023 2022

Newhurst Protes Newhurst Protos

_Statement of Comprehensive Income . . 3 fm = £m £m __Em
Revenue 6.6 - - -
Profit / {loss) for the period 26 (1.1 (1.8 1.z
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period 25.2 289 14.1 (14.4)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) 34.4 272.8 12.3 (15.8)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying armount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture or
associate:

2023 2022

Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

£m £m £Em £m

Net assets 939 599 57.2 35
Group percentage ownership interest § 50% _25% ) 50% 25%
_Carrying amount of the Group’s interest ) 47.0 _ 150 28.6 0.8
Interest in joint venture or associate ot the start of the period 28.6 0.8 11.5 [¢ )]
Additions 4.4 73 10.8 6.6
Share of post-tax resulrs 13 {0.3) (0.8) (0.3
Share of net gain / (loss) on cash flow hedge 12.6 7.2 7.1 (3.6)
Interest in joint venture or associate at the end of the period 46.9 15.0 28.6 0.8

29. EVP-related items

The Group has been engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning histarical Landfill Tax,

HMRC claimed that the Group wos liable for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain woste matericls deposited in Biffa's londfill sites
from 2009 to 2012 (‘EVF’). Biffa contested that the materia! was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and was not therefore subject
to Landfill Tox. Notwithstanding the Group's opinion on the tax treatment of this material, since 2012 oll materials of this nature have been
subjected to Landfill Tax.

The matter was heard by the First Tier Tax Tribunal which found in HMRC’s favour, before Biffa won the Upper Tax Tribunal for the EVP
case, HMRC however requested a further hearing from the Court of Appeal which took place in March 2021. Biffa was unsuccessful in the
hearing with the Court of Appeal and the Directors sought leave to appeal the decision to the Supreme Court. In May 2022 the Group’s
request of leave to appeal was refused by the Supreme Court.

The contested amount was paid 1o HMRC following the refinancing of the Group upon its IPO in October 2016, In addition to the payment
of £61.9m, the Group paid £1.7m in interest in the period ended 24 March 2017. The Directors, having taken appropriate advice, did not
believe that a liability to tax exists and accordingly trected the payment of the tax and associated interest as a prepayment.

As part of the IPQ of the Group, arrangements were put in place to make certain payments to the shareholders and certain members of
employee incentive schemes of the Group immediately prior to its Listing, subject to and in respect of the outcome of the dispute. A
financial liability of £47.6m was recognised in borrowings and an accrual of £13.0m was recognised in non-current liabilities.

With the negative outcome confirmed, in the year ended 25 March 2022; the £63.6m prepayment was impaired to £nil and o corresponding
deferred tax asset of £15.5m was recagnised; the £47.6m financial liability was reduced to £14.3m; and the accrual was reduced to £3.5m.
These autstanding balances reflect the amounts payable te the shareholders and certain members of employee incentive schemes of the
Group respectively, immediately prior to its Listing. The net impact of these transactions is a ioss after tax of £5.4m in the prior period.

No payments were made in the year ended 31 March 2023. Subsequent to the year end date, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference
shareholders and ex-management as explained in Note 34,

Of the outstanding liability at the year end date of £17.8m, £6.3m has been included within Group Net Debt, as explained in Note 23.
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30. Service concession arrangements

The Group has two infegrated waste management contracts thot ore considered to fall within the scope of IFRIC 12: Service Concession
Arrangements. These are the West Sussex County Council recycling contract (length of 29 years - awarded in 2004 and ccquired by the
Group as part of the Viridor acquisition in the year ended 25 March 2022) and the Leicester City Council contract (25 years - awarded in
2003).

The concessions vary as to the extent of their obligations, but typically require the construction and operation of an asset during the
concession perind including scheduled maintenance und cupital expenditure. The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste
management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically at the end of concession periods the assets are returned to the
concession owner. There have not been any significant changes to these arrangements in the period.

The West Sussex County Council recycling contract involves the construction and maintenance of recycling assets that wili be returned to
the council at the end of the contract. This arrangement is therefore considered to be within the scope of IFRIC12. An intangible asset of
£31.2m is held ot the year end date (2022: £35.5m) and is being amortised over the remaining life of the contract. A provision for future

caopital expenditure on reverting assets of £15.9m (2022; £13.1m) has been recognised in relation to this contract as described in Note 18,

The Leicester City Council contract also falls within the scope of IFRIC 12, and a financial asset of £4.3m (2022: £4.0m) has been
recognised. The contract is loss making and a return to profitability s nat expected, and as such an onerous contract provision has been
recognised as described in Note 18.

These contracts generated revenue of £56.7m in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £21.9m).

31 Subsidiary undertakings

The following entities are 100% owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023, All subsidicry undertakings have a financial year
end coterminous with Biffa Limited unless otherwise noted.

Place of Principal Place of Principal
Nome of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Amber Englineering Limiteq? England and Wales waste Biffa Group Holdings (UK) Limited'  England and Wales Holding company
managerment
Barge waste Management England and Wales waste Biffa Group Hoidings Limited” Jarsey Holding company
Limited' management
Biffa (Corby) Limited’ Engiand and Wales Dermant Biffa Group Limited! England and Wales Holding comparry
Biffa (Earls Barfon) Limited! England and Wales Dormant Biffa GS (FC) Limited! England and Wales waste
management
Biffa (Jersey) Limited? Jersey Halding company | Biffa GS (LPP) Limited' Englond and Wales waste
managerment
Biffa (Land) Limited® Guernsey woste Biffa GS (M&B) Limited’ England and wales waste
managemnent managerment
Biffa (Roxby} Limited’ Englond and Wales Dartaint Biffc GS Environmental Limited* England and Wales Waste
management
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited' England and wales Dormant Biffa GS Environmental Recycling England and Wales Waste
Limited' management
Biffo (WES) Limited’ England anc Wales Dormant Biffa GS Holdings Limited! England and wWales Holding company
Biffo (west Sussex) Recycling England and Wales waste Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited' England and Wales Helding company
Lirmnirted' management
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited! England and Wales Holding company | Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited? Jersey Dormarnt
Biffo Corporate Services Limited! England and Wales Dormant Biffa Holdings Limited' England and Wales Holding company
Biffa Environmental Municipal England and Wales waste Biffa Leicester Limited' England and wales Waste
Services Limnited’ management management

L. Registered at Coronation Road, Crassex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire HPLZ 372

2 Registered af 44 Esplanade, St Hener, Jersey, JE4 WG,
3 Registered af PO Box 119, Martello Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3H.
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31. Subsidiary undertakings continued
Place of Principal Place of Principal
_Name of subsidiary . _incorporation activity | Nome of subsidiary incorporation octivity
Biffa Municipal Limited' England and wWaoles waste Marterial Recovery Nominees England and Wales Dormant
management Limited!
Biffor Netherlands BMY Netherlands Holding company | New Stor Environmenta! Limitec! England ond wales Waoste
management
Biffa Pansion Scherne Trustees England and Woles Dormant Norwaste Limited' England ond wales Dormant
Limited"
Biffa UK Group Limited! England and wWales Dormant ('Brien Woste Recycling Solutions England ond wales Dormant
Haoldings Limited'
Biffo UK Limited' Englond and waoles Dorrcint OBrien Waoste Recydling Salutions Englond and Waoles Darmany
Limited’
Biffa Waste Limiteg! Englond and Wales Dormont Poplars Resource Management Englond and Woles Woste
Company Limited*! management
Biffo waste Managemeny Limited! England and Wales waoste Reclamation & Disposal Limited? Englond and Woles Dormant
management
Biffa waste Services Limited' England and Wales Wwostre Richard Biffa {Reclamation) England and Wales Dormant
management Limired!
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Limited! England and Wales Dormant RUR3 Environmental Lirmited'’ England and Wales waste
management
Biffa West Sussex Limited' England and Wales waste Simply Waste Solutions Limited' England and Wales Dormant
management
Bray Insurance Company Limited®  Gilkraltar Insurance Specialist Waste Recycling Scotland Waste
services Limited® management
CAMO Limited' England and Wales Dormant SWR Smash & Grab Limited! England and Wales waste
management
Cornmunity Shop C.I.C™ England and Wales Other retail non- SWRNewstar Limited' England and Wales Dormant
specialist
Company Shop Holdco Limited' England and Wales Waste Syracuse Waste Limited! England and Wales Waste
mMainagerment managerent
Company Shop Limited* England and Wales Other retail non- The withnell Brick and Terra Cotta England and Wales Dormant
specialist Company (1912} Lid'
Cressex Insurance Services England and Wales Dormant Total Recycling Services Englond and Wales wasie
Limited’ Limited***! management
Forge Recycling (Holdings) England and Wales Helding cormpany | UK Waste Management Holdings England and wales Dormant
Limited*' Limited’
Ferge Recycling (UK) Limited*™ England and Wales Waste UK waste Management Limited! Engfland and Wales Waste
management management
Faorge Waste Limited! England cnd Wales Dormant Wastedrive (Manchester) Limited' England and Wales waste
management
GS Acquisitions Limited' England and Wales Holding company | wastedrive Limited' England and Wales Dormant
GS Equity Co’ Cayman Iskands Holding company | Wasteholdco L Limitedt” Jersey Holding company
Island wWaste Services Limited' England and Wcles Waste wasteholdeo 2 Limited’ Jersey Holding campany
management
Lavelle & Sons Limited" England and Wales Bormant weir Recycling Services Limited! England and wales Dormant
Loristan Services Limited! England and Wales Dormant Weir waste Services Limited Englond and Wales Dormant
M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) England and Wales Dormant white Cross Limited' England and Waies Dormant
Limited*

* Financial year ended 2 Apri 2023

* Directty held by Biffa Limited

Financial year ended 27 March 2023

Registered ar Coronanon Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghomshire HP12 3TZ.
Registered gt 44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 WG,
Registered at PO Box 119, Martelio Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Bort, Guernsey, GY1 3H.

Registered at Jupiter Building, 2nd Floor, Herikerbergweq B8, 1101 CM Amsterdom, The Netherlands
Regisrered at Fiduciary Management Limited, Suite 23 Portland House, Glacis Road, Gibraitar, GX11 L1AA.
Registered at Wentworth Waoy, Tankersley, Barnsley, South Yorkshire, 575 3DH

= Financial yeor ended 31 October 2022

Registered at Infer-rust Corporatre Services (Cayman) Limited, 140 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY19005
Registered ot Annan Suire, 10 York Place, Edinburgh, Scotland EH1 3EP,

L T

Subsequent 1o the reporting date, Loristan Services Limited was dissolved on 18 April 2023 and Esterpet Limited was acquired on 25 April as disclosed in Note
24,
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32. Controlling party

Biffa Limited 15 a 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bideo Limited (formerly Bears Bideco Limited), o Company incorporated in the United Kingdom, whose
registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3TZ. Biffa Limited is the parent company of the smallest and largest group in which
the Company's resillts are consolidated.

On 10 July 2023, Bears Bidco Limited changed its name 1o Biffa Bidco Limited.

The ultimate controlling party is ECP ContfrelCa, LLC, registered in Delaware, United States,

33, Dividends

The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 Morch 2023 (2022: 6.89p) A final dividend of 4.69 pence per share for the year
ended 25 March 2022 was paid during the year.

34, Post balance sheet events

Acquisitions

©On 25 April 2023 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited (‘Esterpet?), o recycler of Polyethylene Terephthalate ('PET) plastic, for
consideration of £0.7m. From its state of-the-ort recycling facility in North Yorkshire, Esterpet converts 25,000 tonnes of plastic flakes each year, generated
from recycled bottles, info high-purity plastic pellets. These pellets are made into new plastic bottles for beverages, cosmetics and household goods, with the

company’s customers including some aof the largest brands in the UK and Europe.

Alongside the acquisition of Esterpet, the Group acquired 49.9% of the issued shore capital of its sister company Esterform Packaging Limited, a leading
manufacturer of plastic bottles and Esterper's largest customer, for a consideration of £5.5m. Both investments will form part of the Polymers business in the

Resources & Energy division.

Debt Restructure
On 23 May 2023, the Group restructured its existing debt as follows:

- The Group repaid Its private plkacements of £345.0m. These were reploced by £260.0m of private plocements held within Biffa Limited.

. The new notes are o mixture of 5- and 7-year notes with a weighted average barrowing rate of 6.2%.

. Term loans and RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limited, to which The Group has aoccess, were increased Term loans of £100.0m were increased to £235.0m and
RCF of £225.0m wds increased to £325.0m. Interest is charged at a floating rate and other terms remain unchonged.

EVP Payments
Tn Mcy and June 2023, £7.8m was poid 1o EVP preference sharehaolders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in Note 29. At 31 March

2023, the total liability wos £17.8m. The remaining £10.0m is expected 1o be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025,

DRS

On 7 June 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it would be delayed uniil
October 2025 at the earliest. An announcement had been made previousty on 18 April 2023 that the start date of the scheme wouid be delayed from August
20723 10 March 2024, Circularity Scotland Limited ('C5L7), the scheme administrator, entered administration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and
was therefare unabie ro meet its contractual obligations to Biffa and other parties. The Joint Administrators’ Proposals were released on 28 July 2023,
indicating that ar best Biffa would receive an immaterial portion of the total amount due from C5L.

In the year ended 31 March 2023 the scheme made na contribution 1o operating profit but the following materiat amounts were held on the balance sheet ot
the year end date:

. Accrued income - £6.1m

. Property, Plant and Equipment - £6.8m

- Right-of-use assets - £8.1m

. Lease liabkilities - £8.5m

In addition to the amounts recorded at 31 March 2023 the Group had further capital commitments of approximately £39m, of which a proportion are expected
to be feased. I1 is likely that impairments will be recognised on a number of assets, with the impact en FY24 Operating Profit within the range £nil fo £64m.
The Group has various options available to mitigate the committed cash outflows and latest estimates indicate that up to £40m con be recovered.

The announcement on 7 June 2023 is judged 1o be a non-adjusting event in accordance with IAS 10: Events after the Reporting Period because it is not
considered to provide evidence of conditions that existed at 31 March 2023. In other words there were no reliable indications before 31 March 2023 that this
postponement would occur. Therefare no adjustments corresponding to this announcement have been made to the 31 March 2023 financial statements and
instead the appropriote accounting entries will be posted in the year ending 29 March 2024 once mitigation plans are finalised and enacted.
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Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent company statements are prepared under FRS 101 and relate 1o the Company and not to the Group. The tinancial statements
are prepared under the historical cost convention.

As at As aft
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
. MNotes EMm . _fm
Non-current assets
Investmenis 3
_[radeand other recefvables 4

Current assets

__Financial assets - I - e 5 i 1)
. U SOV 217
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 7 (1.5) (1.8}
Borrowings L . S - R . :-2L)
L _Bd65) U8
_Net current liahilities (3465 0§
Non-current liabilities
_Borrowings . .- O SR =20
L #as0)
_Metassets 32863961
Equity
Called up share capital 2 3.1 51
Share premium G 2522 2476
Metger reserve 95.8 95.8
Retained earnings I o 22 (04
| equity attributable 1o shareholders _ 3286 . sAel

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or statement ot
comprehensive income. The loss of the Company for the year attributable to shareholders was £11.0m (2022: £8.9n joss).

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed on 1ts
behalf by

Michael Topham
Director
Company no: 10336040
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Parent Company Financial Statements

Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up
share Share Hedging Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
L N £m £m em_ £m £m £m
As ot 26 March 2021 - 31 247.0 (2.9} 95.8 16.1 359.1
Loss for the period - - - - (8.9) (8.9)
Other comprehensive income - - 2.9 - - 2.9
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - 2.9 - (8.9) (6.0)
Exercise of share options - 0.6 - - - (3.6)
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (3.6) 2.7
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 2.7 0.6
Dividends puid - - - - (6.7) (5.7)
As at 25 March 2022 31 247.6 - 5.8 0.4 ~346.1
Loss for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Cther comprehensive income / (loss) - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Exercise of share opfions - 4.6 - - . 4.6
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (1.5) (1.5)
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 4.7 47
Dividends paid L - - - - (14.3) (14.3)
As at 31 March 2023 3.1 252.2 - 95.8 {22.5) 328.6

In May 2020, the Company incorporated a Jersey registered “cash box” company in order to facilitate an equity raise. The fransaction
satisfied all required conditions to obtain merger relief in accordance with section 612 of the UK Companies Act 2006. The amount within
the merger reserve relating to this equity raise is now a distributable reserve.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Accounting pelicies

General Information

The Company is 6 private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and is the parent company of the Group. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ. The principal
activity of the Company is as holding company for the Group. The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste management
services in the United Kingdom,

The Company was a public company limited by shares until 26 January 2023 when its entire share capital was acquired by Bears Bidco
Limited, a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK. The Company name changed from Biffa plc to Biffa
Limited upon delisting from the London Stock Exchange on 27 January 2023.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepared on the going concern basis, in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (‘FRS 101°) and the Companies Act 2006.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporting Requirements issued by the
FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements are prepared in accordance with FRS 101. The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting policies set out below, which have been consistently applied to ol the years presented except where the
Company has elected to take the following exemptions as allowed under FRS 101

- The requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’.
. The regquirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disciosures’ in respect of key management personnel.
. Requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose transactions between wholly owned members of the Group.

- The requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures', as equivalent disclosures are provided in the consclidated financial statements
of the Group 1o which the Company belengs.

. The reguirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’,

. The reguirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurements’, as equivalent disclosures are presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

These financial statements ore presented in Pound Sterling (‘GBP’) and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m.

The Company participates in the Group's centralised treasury and banking arrangements. The Company is expected to generate positive
cash flows to continue to operate in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of comprehensive income as permitted by section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Company does not consider there to be any there to be any critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty.

Investments
Investments are initially stated at cost, Investments are tested for impairment when an event that might affect asset value has occurred.

An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying amounts cannot be recovered either by selling the asset or by the
discounted future cash flows from the invastment.

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution 1o the Company's shareholders is recognised as ¢ liakility in the Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends ore approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Other receivables
Gther receivables are recognised initially at fair value less any provision for expected credit loss. They are subsequently held ot amortised
cost less any provision for expected credit loss.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Finuncial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the confractual terms expire. The financial
instruments recognised by the Company are set out below.

Trade receivables
Trode receivables are recognised initially ct fair value and subsequently ot amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
expected credit losses.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised inifially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equiry instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractuat

arrangements,

Borrowings dre recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, Any difference between the amount initially recognised and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement aver the period of the boriowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are clossified as non-current liabilities where the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised ot fair value on the date a derivative contfract is enfered into and subsequently remeasured af fair value
at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Company designates certain derivatives as either o) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities); or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction); or ¢)
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Company documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At inception and
Gt each reporting date the Company assesses whether the derivatives used have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Nofe 5. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Share capitai
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's management owards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
cendifions. The economic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee berefit expense in the income
statement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing model.
The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

2. Employees and Directors

Biffa Limited had 2 employees during the year (2022: 2), being the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Their emoluments
were as foliows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 13 18
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.2 0.2
Total 17 2.0
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

2, Employees and Directors continued

2023 2022

_The number of Directors who: - __MNumber  Number

Are members of a money purchase pension scherne 2 2
Exercised options over shares in the Company 2 -
Had gwerds receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme Z 2

2023 2022
Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoluments 11 11
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1
Total 1.2 12

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the yeor and hag shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

3. Investments
e A,
As af 26 March 2021 256.4
Movements relating to share options granteg on behalf of subsidiary employees 1.5
As at 25 March 2022 257.9
Movements relating to share options gronted on behalf of subsidiory employees (2.8)
_Asat 31 March 2025 — 2851

There have been no indicators of impairment during the year and no requirement for impairment. The Directors befieve that the carrying
value of the investments is supported by their underlying net ussets.

Disclosure of the Company's joint ventures and associotes and subsidiaries is given in Nofes 28 and 30 of the Group financial statements.

4, Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
Armounts due from subsidiary undertakings 4200 434.0
420.0 434.0

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value. The balance due from subsidiary
undertakings is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. An expected credit loss provision of £4.2m has been
recognised as ot the close of the current period (2022: £4.4m) in relation to the balance due from subsidiary undertakings.

5. Financial assets
2023 2022
£m £m
Financial assets = 1.0

During the previous financiol pericd the Company undertook two private placements and capitalised associcted borrowing costs of £1.0m,
The private placements were refinanced in May 2023 and the capitalised costs have therefore been written off during the year ended 31
March 2023.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

6. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
2023 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 4200 420.0 4340 434.0
Financial assels - - 1.0 1.0
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (1.5) 1.5 (1.8) (1.8)
Private placements {345.0) (345.0) (345.0) (345.0)
Total financial assets and liabilities 73.5 73.5 88.2 88.2
7. Trade and other payables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due in under one year £m £m
Other creditors - 0.5
Interest payable 15 1.3
1.5 1.8
All creditors are unsecured,
8. Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Amounts falling due in under one year
Private placements 345.0 -
345.0 -
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Private placements - 345.0
- 345.0

The £345m private placements were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt restructure. They were replaced with £260m of private
placement notes held by Bears Bidco Limited, maturing in May 2028.

9. Reserves

Refer o Note 21 of the Group financial statements for details.

10. Related party transactions

There have been no material related party transactions in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022; £ril) except for key management
compensation as set out in Note 5 of the Group financial statements.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

11. UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

Biffa Limited is the parent company of the Group, The foliowing UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within

Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the period ended 31 March 2023. The undertakings listed below are 100% indirectly owned by '
Biffa Limited. In accordance with Section 479C of the Companies Act, the Company will guarantee the debts and liahkilities of the below UK

subsidiary undertakings.

Company Company
Name Number Name Number
Amber Engineering Limited 1067283 Forge Recycling (MHoldings) Ltd 11062914
Barge Waste Management Limited 2849409 Forge Recycling (UK) Litd 07383076
Biffa (Corby) Limited 3216850 Forge waste Limited 4594882
Biffa (Earls Barton) Limited 748129 GS Acquisitions Limited 7255980 '
Biffa (Roxby) Limited 2031961 Island Waste Services Limited 1552791 ,
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited 3249158 tavelle & Sons Limited 1312867
Biffa (WES) Limited 2729607 M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) Limited 440100 '
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited 5656364 Marerial Recovery Nominees Limited 5186581
Biffa Corporate Services Limited 7155949 New Star Environmental Limited 7306131
Biffa Environmental Municipal Services Limited 905800 Norwaste Limited 1041912
Biffa Group Hoidings (UK) Limited 4081301 O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited 9560589
Biffa GS (FC) Limited 4800628 O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Limited Q362987
Biffa GS (LPP) Limited 2276396 Poplars Resource Management Company Limited 2630491
Biffa GS (M&B) Limited 1173504 Reclamation & Disposal Limited 879315
Biffa GS Environmental Limited 3446693 Richard Biffa {Reciamation) Limited Q929000
Biffa GS Environmental Recycling Limited 4786413 RUR3 Environmental Limited 6304761
Biffa GS Holdings Limited 4602885 Simply Waste Solutions Limited 12155099
Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited 4631832 Speciaiist Waste Recycling Limited SC324466
Biffa Haldings Limited 1032104 SWR Smash & Grab Limited 5667032
Biffa Pension Scheme Trustees Limited 2694166 SWRNewstcr Limited 11098385
Biffa UK Group Limited 3650457 Syracuse Waste Limited 13269384
Biffa UK Limited 3650459 UK Waste Management Hoidings Limited 2536345
Biffa Waste Limited 4084432 UK Waste Management Limited 1362615
Biffa Waste Management Limited 1138022 wastedrive (Manchester) Limited 1517244
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Limited 7001231 wastedrive Limited 1396771
CAMO Limited 6524298 weir Recycling Services Limited 9390664
Coempany Shop Haldco timited 12215502 weir waste Services Limited 3777183
Company Shop Limited 192743 white Cross Limited 1537610
Cressex Insurance Services Limited 6848093

12.  Controlling party
Biffa Limited is a 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears Bidco Limited), a compeny incorporated in the United

Kingdom, whose registered office is Coronation Road, Crassex, High Wycombe, Bucks, HP1Z 3TZ. Biffa Limited is the parent comparny of
the smallest and largest group in which the Company's results are consolidated. '

On 10 July 2023, Bears Bidco Limited changed its name to Biffa Bidco Limited.

The ultimate controlling party is ECP ControlCo, LLC, registered in Delaware, United States.
13. Post balance sheet events

On 23 May 2023, the Company regaid £345.0m of privafte placements. Refer to Note 34 of the Group financial statements for details.
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The Group’s financial performance is analysed into threc components: “Statutory Parformance’, ‘Adjusted Performance’ and ‘Adjusting
Items’. Adjusted performance is used as it aids comparability of the reported financial performance year to year and between divisions.
Management identify o number of Alternative Performance Measures ('APMs’) in order 1o separately disclose an adjusted performance for
the Group. The Directors believe that the presentation of the resul's in this way, which is not meant 1o be a substitute for or superior to
IFRS measures, is relevant fo an understanding of the Group’s performance trends, financial performance and position. Our APMs and
KPIs are aligned to our strategy and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are
consistent with how the performance is planned and reported internally to the Board ond QOperating Committees to aid their decision
making.

APMs have been presented in this Appendix to provide a useful tool in understanding the performance of the business. It should be noted,
however, that these APMs may not be comparable with similarly fitled measures presented by other companies. It is recommended that
APMs are viewed as supplementary information alongside the equivalent statutory measures.

This Appendix has been presented to help users of the financial statements understand the rationale behind our use of APMs, our
methodology for identifying adjusting items and the impact of these adjusting items on the APMs. The Group income statement does nof
disclose any adjusting items and has been presented as a singie column showing the statutory results only. The same approach has been
adopted for the Group statement of cash flows,

Depreciction and amortisation relates to the write-down of both intangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles is disclosed separately in line with divisional Adjusted Operating Profit,

The Group’s policy is to exclude iterns that are considered significant in nature and/or value, not in the narmal course of business or are
consistent with items that were separately disclosed in prior periods. Management utilises an exceptional item fremework that has been
approved by the Board. This follows a three-step process which considers the nature of the event, the financial materiality involved and the
particular facts and circumstances. Items of income and expense that are considered for designation as adjusting items include
significant acquisition-related costs, write-downs or impairments of non-current assets, movements on onerous contract provisions and
strategy-related and restructuring costs.

Closest equivalent
APM statutory measure  Definition

Net revenue Revenue Statutory revenue excluding landfill tax. Unless stated otherwise, ‘revenue’ refers to statutory revenue.
Landfill tax is excluded as the rate is outside the Group’s control.

See table below for reconciliation

Crganic Net Revenue The increose/(decrease) in Net Revenue in the period excluding Net Revenue from acquisitions completed

revenue growth in the period and Net Revenue from acquisitions completed in the prior period up to the anniversary of the
relevant acquisition date, fo the extent such Net Revenue fadlls in the current period. where comparative
periods differ in duration, the KPI is adjusted on a pro-rata basis.

Organic Net Revenue Growth can be expressed both as an absolute financial value and as a percentage of
prior period revenue.

Organic Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate to users of the financial statements the growth
attributed to organic growth rather than as a result of acquisitions.

See table below for reconciliation

Acquisition Net  Revenue Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period represents the Net Revenue Growth in the relevant period

revenue growth from (i) ccquisitions completed in the relevant period and (i) any acquisitions completed n the 12 months
prior to the relevant period up to the 12-month anniversary of the relevant acquisition date (to the extent
such Net Revenue falls in the current period). Acquisition Revenue Growth is calculated on the same basis,
using revenue in place of Net Revenue,

Acquisition Net Revenue Growth is presentaed to demonstrate the level of growth achieved as a direct result
of the Group’s ccquisition strategy.
See fable below for reconciliation

EBITDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation, amortisation, net finance costs and taxation.

Adjusted EBITDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, changes to landfill provisions, net finance
costs and taxation.
Adjusted Divisional EBITDA is stated after allocation of shared service costs.

Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is widely used by analysts and investors to evaluate the
profitability of companies. EBITDA eliminates potential differences in performance caused by variations

in capital structures, tax positions, the cost and age of tangible assets and the extent to which intangible
assets are identifiable.

See table below for reconciliation
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Medasures (‘APMs’) continued

APM
Adjusted
Operating profit

Adjusted Profit
before tax
Adjusted Profit
for the period
Adjusted Free
cash flow

Adjusted Return
on operating
assers

Adjusted Refurn
on Capital
Employed
(‘ROCE"

Group

Net Debt

Covenant Basis
Net Debr

Group
Leverage Ratio

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to

Closest equivalent
statutory measure

Definition

Operating profit

Profit before tax
Profit for the period

Net cosh from
operating activities

n/a

n/a

Bank and Cther
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Profit before adjusting items, amortization of aequisition intangibles, impact of real discount rate
changes fo landfill provisions, net finance costs and taxation.

Adjusted divisional operating profit is stated after ailocation of shared service costs.

See rabie betow for reconciliation.

Profit before tax excluding adjusting items, armortisation of acguisition intangibles and the impoct of
real discount rate changes to landfill provisions.

Profit affter rax excluding adjusting items, amortisation of acquisition intongibles and the impact af real
discount rate changes o landfill provisions.

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivaiens excluding dividends, restructuring costs, adjusting
itfems, acguisitions, movement in finoncial assets and maovements in borrowings or share capital (but
including finonce lease principal payments).

This measure reflects the cash generated in the period excluding adjusting items and forms port of
management incentives,

Adjusted Qperating Profit divided by the sum of average of opening and closing Property, Plant &
Eguipment, plus average of opening and closing net working capital.

See table below for reconciligtion,

Adjusted Operating Profit less amartisation of acquisition intongibles divided by the average of opening
and closing shareholders’ equity, Net Debt (including lease liabilities), pensions and environmental
provisions.

See table below for reconciliation.

Bank and other borrowings plus lease liabilities and EVP preference liabiiity, less cosh and cash
equivalents.

See Note 253 1o the consolidated financial statements for a reconciliotion.

Bank and other barrowings plus lease liobilities, less relevant financial assets and cash and cash
equivalents. This is the measurement that our lenders use when assessing covenant complionce.

See table below for reconciliation.
Ratio of Group Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA.
See Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation.

Statutory profit measures by adjusting item

Share of Landfiil
results in Asset provisions
joint impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real

ventures and related and Landfill of discount
53 weeks and Acquisition onerous restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate
ended Adjusted associates costs contracts costs dispute enquiry 12 intangil utory
31 March 2023 £m £m £Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,680.2 - - - - - - a2 - - 1,680.4
Costa {14560y - 24 ¢y - (180) [¢Wr] 507y 4y - 248 {15273y
Share of results -
in joInt ventures
and associates 13 (13 - - - - - - -
EBITDA 2255 (1.3) 248 - (18.0) 2 (50D an - 248 1531
Depreciation (L7 - - - - - - 37 - - (1080
Amartisation 1.3y - - - - - - 31 2B - (3
Imparments - - - (2.1) - - - ~ - - (21)
Operating
prafit 1128 (1.3 (24.8) Q.1 {18.9) a2 Gon £0.8) (25.2) 248 87
Finance income 67 - - - - - - - - - 6.7
Finance costs (292) - - - - - - (0.3) - - (28.5)
Share of results
1N oint ventures
dnd assooiates (0.3) 13 - - - - - - - R _lo
Profity (foss)
before
taxation 3.0 - (24.8}) 2.1y {18.0) [t ) GoT {9.9) 5.2 248 (T2
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item continued

Landfill
Asset provisions
impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation reai
ond related and Landfilt of discount Exceptional
52 weeks Acquisition onerous  restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate net interest
ended Adjusted costs contracts costs dispute enquiry 12 intangibles changes income Statutory
25 March 2022 £m £m £m im £m £m £m £m £m £em £m
Revenue 1,443.2 - - - - - - - - - 14432
Costs (1,248 2 {9.4) - (4.8 (20.8) 74, 1.0) - a3 - (1,3009)
EBITDA 195.0 (F.4) bl (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) {1.0) - 0.3 - 1423
Depreciation R7.3) - - - - - 24 - - - (943
Amortisation (11 - - - - - (29.6) - - 30.7
Impairments - - (25.03 - - - - - - - {2509
Operating
profit / (loss) Q6.4 (LX) {25.0) (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 14 (29.4) 0.3 -~ 8.3y
Finance Income 2.1 - - L1 3.2
Finance costs (220) - - - - - 04 - - (22,43
Share of resyits
i joInt ventyres
and associgtes £1.1) - - - - - - - - — an
Profit / (loys)
before
taxation 75.6 (9.4) (25.0} (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 10 (29.86) 0.3 11 (28.6)
Adjusted profit measures by division
2023 2022
Adjusted Operating profit £Em £m
Collections 825 750
Resources & Energy 423 411
Specialist Services 13.8 5.4
Group Business Function (25.8) (24.9)
Total 1128 26.6
2023 2022
Adjusted EBITDA £fm Em
Collections 146.1 130.7
Rescurces & Energy 783 73.4
Specialist Services 21.6 116
Group Business Function (20.5) (20.7)
Total 2255 195.0

Adjusting items

Group Business Function costs represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, Board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) remaining after allocation to operating divisions. Adjusted EBITDA represents the
profit earned by each division without allocation of depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, finance costs, material impacts of
changes in real discount rate applied to the Group’s long-term provisions and income tax expense. Adjusted Operating Profit recognises
the impact of depreciation and amortisation exciuding the amortisation of acquisition intfangibies. These measures are both reported 10
the Group Executive Team for the purpose of rescurce allocation and assessment of divisicnal performance.

Share of results of joint ventures

In a joint venture with Encyclis, the Group has invested in the construction of two energy recovery facilities (ERFSs’): Newhurst and Protos.
The Newhurst ERF entered commercial operation during the year to 31 March 2023. The Group’s share of the results of this joint venture
have therefore been recognised in Adjusted Operating Profit (£2.3m).
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Acquisition-related costs

Delivery of the Group’s strategy includes investment in acquisitions that enhance the quality of its operations. The exclusion of significant
items arising from M&A activity is designed by the Board to align short-term operational decisions with this longer-term strategy.
Accordingly, amounts arising on acquisitions are excliuded from adiusted performance. The £2.0m (2022: £9.4m) of acquisition-reloted
expenditure in the 33-week period ended 31 March 2023 reiatas to professional fees and other costs which are directly attributable to
acquisitions.

Also included in Acguisition-related costs are £22.8m of costs relating to the acquisition of the Group by ECP in January 2023.

Asset impairments

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation 10 the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
1o o £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site. The prior financial period scw o £25.0m one-off cost for the impairment of
the goodwill that had been recognised on CSG, which was acquired in February 2021,

Strategy-related and restructuring costs

Strotegy-refated costs of £18.0m (2022 £4.8m) arise from Group-wide initiatives fo reduce the ongoing cost base and improve efficiency
in the business, These costs are substantial in scope and impact, and do not form part of our operotionol performance. Adjusting for these
charges provides a measure of operating profitability that is comparable over time. Within the strategy-related costs is £16.2m relating 1o
the Transformation Project which does not qualify for capitalisation (2022: £4.6m).

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

This charge of £25.2m (2022: £29.6m) represents the amounts amortised by the Group in each period in respect of intangibles from prior
acguisitions, which are reported separately from the Group’s depreciation and amartisation charges. The performance of the acquired
business is assessed as part of the Group's adjusted operational results. The Group uses this adjusting item fo improve the comparability
of information between reporting periods and divisions.

Impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions

The impact of reaf discount rate changes on fandfill provisions reflects the provision movement which arises wholly due fo the change in
discount rate. Within the current financial period a credit of £24.8m was recognised (2022: £0.3m credir). This is not reflective of
operational performance.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As set out in Note 27, BWSL is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of its Landfill Tax compliance.

A provision of £20.0m was recognised in the prior year. In the current year, the provision has been increased to £64.0m with a charge of
£50.7m recognised within adjusting items. Further information is provided in Note 18,

IFRIC 12 adjustments

The gdoption of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements, results in large accounting adjustments that are not reflective of the

operationa! performance of the underlying contracts. The purpose of these odjustments is to reverse the impact of IFRIC 12 in Adjusted
Performance.

Under IFRIC 12 depreciation on reverting PPE items is reversed out. The IFRIC 12 adjustment reinstates this depreciation,

Also under IFRIC 12 the cost of future capital expenditure that must be incurred in order to fulfil the contract is captured upfront and
recognised as a pravision, with the corresponding discaunt unwind being recagnised within net finance costs. The IFRIC 12 adjustment
reverses this charge from the Adjusted Performance,

The net impact of these IFRIC 12 adjustments is a £0.3m credit to the Income Statement, which is treated as an adjusting item.

Onerous contracts
Onerous contract provisions reflect the future unovoidable losses expected on the Group's existing contract portfolio. At the year end date

the Group held onerous contract provisions for the Leicester City Council, Epping Forest District Council and South Oxfordshire & Vale
contracts.

When onerous contract provisions are recognisad or increased, the corresponding P&L charge is treated as an adjusting item because
recognising multiple years of losses in one financial year skews the financial performance in that year. Onerous contract provision releases
are also treated as adjusting items because the inflated profit they cause does not represent the in-year performance of the business. This
approach ensures that Adjusted Operating Profit for any given peried presents the contract losses incurred in that period,
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Recenciliation of adjusting items to profit after tax

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusting items
HMRC Londfill Tax enquiry 50.7 17.0
Share of results of joint ventures 13 -
Acguisition related costs 24.8 9.4
Strategy related and resfructuring costs 18.0 4.8
Asset impairments 9.1 250
EVP dispute 1.2 208
IFRIC 12 depreciation adjustment 0.6 (1.4)
105.7 75.6
Other adjusting items
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 252 29.6
Impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions (24.8) (0.3}
Impoct on Operating profit 106.1 104.9
Finance income adjusting items
Exceptional net interest income - (1.1}
Unwind of discounting on IFRIC 12 provision o3 0.4
03 0.7
Share of results of joint ventures (1.3) -
Impact on Profit before tax 105.1 104.2
Taxation on adjusting items (7.4) (26.4)
__Impact on Loss for the period 97.7 77.8
2023 2022
Adjusting items impacting Operating profit by division £m £m
Collections 6.6 9.4
Resources & Energy 70 23.6
Specialist Services 11 253
Group Business Function 914 46.6
Total 106.1 104.9
Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue
2023 2022
£m £m
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 1,433.2
Landfill Tax (75.7) {79.3)
Net Revenue 1,604.7 1,363.9
2023 2022
Net Revenue by division £m £fm
Collections 1,006.1 8739
Resources & Energy 3639 3159
Specialist Services 234.7 1741
Total 1,604.7 1,363.9
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue continued

N = E 2022
Growth Growth
Revenue growth £m factor £m factor
Net revenue for the prior period 1,363.9 988.1
Acquisition revenue growth 83.6 6% 1799 18%
Organic revenue growth 1572 12% 1959 20%
Net revenue for the current period 1,604.7 1,363.9

Other performance measures

In addition to the adjusting items disclosed above, the Group uses Adjusted Return on Operating Assets and Adjusted Return on Capital

Employed as performance medsures. These are aligned to the strategy and are reported internally to the Boord and Qperating

Committees to aid their decision making. These are calculated as below:

2023 2022

£m . _Em

Adjusted Operating profit! 112.8 96.6

Average of property, plant and equipment? 634.3 589.7

Avergge net working capital® (12.9) (58.2)

621.4 531.5

Adjusted Return on Operating Assets? 18.2% 18.2%
4 setattan e

! = 0lus e Wl
2023 2022
_ ___£m £m

Adjusted Operating profit 1i2.8 6.6

Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles (25.2) (29.6)

Adjusted Operating profit fess Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles 876 67.G

Average of sharehclders equity' 406.2 470.6

Average Net Debt? 6314 547.0

Average retirement benefirs? (130.6) (139.0)

Average envircnmental provisicns? 63.7 725

1,030.7 951.0

_Adjusted Return on Capital Employed® 8.5% 7.0%

Average of opening and closing shareholders’ equity in 2023 and 2022

Average of opening and clesing Net Debt in 2023 and 2022

Average of opening and ciosing retirement benefits in 2023 and 2022 (Note 25}
Average of opering and closing environmental provisions In 2023 and 2022 (Note 18).

[ ST

pensions and environmental provisions.
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Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements made in this Annual Report are forward-looking
and are based on current expectations. The statements are subject
to assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Company’s control and which could cause actual results
to differ significantly from those expected. Unless required by law,
regulations or accounting standards, the Company does not
undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information or future developments. Any
forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Group
speak only as of the date that they are made and are based on
knowledge and information available to the Directors on the date of
this Annual Report.

website

The Company's website www.biffa.co.uk gives additional
information on the business. Notwithstanding the references made
in the Annual Report to the website, none of the information made
on the website constitutes part of this Annual Report or is deemed
1o be incorporated by reference herein.
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